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CHAPTER .
MONTREAL UNDER FRENCH RULE

dRIOR to the year 1535 the history of Montreal is but largely
conjecture. The chief cause of its first settlement was, no doubt,
the wonderful fertility of the island, together with its position as
regards the waterways of the country ; to the east being a broad,
safe river leading to the great gulf; while to the west, there was
spread out like a fan thousands of miles of more or less navigable water-courses
that permitted the canoes of the Indians to penetrate into the interior in all
directions.

The discovery of Newfoundland by Cabot, in 1497, was the first of a series
of explorations that finally brought Jacques Cartier up the St. Lawrence. A
native of St. Malo, he had been for some time engaged in the cod fisheries of
Newfoundland, and had taken the lead in exploring the coasts of the then
mysterious continent of the western hemisphere. Having received a commission
from Francis I, of France, in 1534, he
sailed up the St. Lawrence as far as
Gaspé, but returned to France
the same year. The following
vear, however, a better equipped
expedition took him to Quebec,
then called Stadacona, where he
left his ships and proceeded up
the river in smaller boats, and
arrived off Hochelaga (as Mont-
real was then called) on the 3rd
October, 1535.

The reports that he had
heard at Quebec of a large In-

Early Indian Life.
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dian town up the river Cartier
now found to be true. The vil-
lage lay on a plateau, well back
from the river, and was encom-
passed by three separate Tows of
palisades, one within the other.
There was but one single en-
trance, and that was well guard-
ed with pikes and stakes. In-
side this defence were about fifty
cabins or lodges, constructed in
the form of a tunnel, each being
fifty feet long and fifteen feet broad. These were built of wood, covered with
bark, and contained several chambers. For further defence a gallery was erected
above the doors and along the outer row of palisades, on which there was stores
of stones and pieces of rock ready to hurl down at any attacking parties. The
village contained over a thousand people, and Cartier was received with every
sign of welcome. It was an incident of this visit that eventually gave Montreal
its name. Cartier was conducted by his Indian hosts to the top of the mountain
that rose up behind the village, and so impressed was he by the magnificent view
that he named the height Mont Royal. This, with a slight corruption, gives us
the Montreal of to-day.

Five years later Jacques Cartier again visited the locality, leaving his fort at
Quebec for the purpose of gathering information of the country above the rapids
at Lachine. Nothing much is to be learned from this visit, however, and after-
wards, for nearly one hundred years—a blank. It is easy to imagine an incursion
of the savage Iroquois sweeping down on the Algonquin village, massacring the
inhabitants and giving the whole place to the flames ; then, laden with their spoil,
returning to their own land, leaving black, silent ruins to mark the site of our

Monument to Jacques Cartier in Saint-Henri,

present city.

The next landmark in the
early history of Montreal is
the visit of Samuel de Cham-
plain in 1611. Champlain,
who was a distinguished
French naval officer, had been
for some time engaged in
trading expeditions along the
Gulf, where there were several
posts around which a prosper-
ous trade in furs was carried
on. After founding Quebec

An Early Settler’s Clearing.
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and fortifying the settlement made there, he started
on the expedition up the Richelieu river that led to
the great lake now bearing his name. T‘hen, two
years later, he determined to found a trading-post
on the island of Montreal, where he anticipated
establishing a trade with the Indian tribes as they
descended from the interior by the Ottawa river.

When he arrived at Montreal there was neither
town nor friendly Indian tribe to welcome him, as
on the occasion of Cartier’s visit ; the only evidence
of the old settlement being deserted meadow-lands,
that showed signs of having been cultivated in years
gone by. At that time a small stream flowed into
the St. Lawrence at a point near where the Lachine Canal now starts. a branch
of which ran along Craig street. It was on the corner of the little peninsula
made by this stream and the St. Lawrence that Champlain selected the site for
his trading-post, naming it Place Royale. The Custom House now occupies the
spot. Champlain relates that, after clearing the land, he utilized the clay, which
existed in large quantities around, to build a wall four feet thick and three to
four feet high, in order to keep out the water when the ice came down in the
spring.

Nearly thirty years after, the Company of Notre Dame of Montreal was
formed in France, and a large sum of money contributed in order to establish a
religious settlement in place of a mere trading-post. The idea arose simultane-
ously in the minds of a tax-collector in Anjou, named de la Dauversiére, and one
Jean Jacques Olier, a young priest, afterwards known as founder of the Seminary
of St. Sulpice. The story of how these two men found each other out and together
developed the plan is surrounded by the semi-mysterious, semi-miraculous
details peculiar to the times. “T‘heir plans, however, matured sufficiently to send
out to Canada an expedition of some forty
men and four women, including amongst
them that devout young nun Jeanne
Mance, referred to hereafter.
‘T'he expedition was placed under
the command of Paul de Chom-
edey, Sieur de Maisonneuve, and
arrived at Quebecin 1641. Mont-
real at this time belonged to Lau-
zon, one of the Company of the
Hundred Associates (chartered ——
in 1627 for the colonization of e — :_;:;—::"w
Canada), who had been induced

The Landing-place of Maisonneuve.

Seminary of St. Sulpice.
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to transfer his title to the new
Company, subject to certain
conditions anent the fur trade.
The little band was received
at Quebec with a studious
courtesy that barely covered,
however, a persistent antagon-
ism on the part of the Jesuits,
who had no desire to see the
foundation of another order
in the country of which they
had grown to consider them-
selves the spiritual guardians.
In spite of opposition from
both the Church and the
Governor, Montmagny, who
looked on Maisonneuve as a rival, Maisonneuve and his followers started up the
river on May 8th, and on the 18th landed on the triangle of land formed by the
junction of the small stream with the St. Lawrence, before described. 'There
after landing stores, baggage and arms, an altar was raised and worship made,
concluding with this prophetic address of the Jesuit priest Father Vimont : ** You
are a grain of mustard-seed that shall rise and grow till its branches overshadow
the earth. You are few, but your work is the work of God. His smile is on
you, and your children shall fill the land.”

: The essentials of the proposed establishment
were to be a seminary of priests, a nuns’
hospital and a school, the settlement
that was to be formed around being

Nunnery of the Congrégation de Notre Dame.

Fort de la Montagne
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simply for their defence and maintenance. This was in part accomplished,
Marguerite Bourgeois joining the band of pioneers, somewhat later, to found
the teaching order of the Congrégation de Notre Dame. A year after the land-
ing, a reinforcement arrived that brought news of the magnificent gift of 42,000
livres from Madame de Bullion (a wealthy French lady), for the erection and
maintenance of a hospital. All work on clearing and tilling the land was
neglected until this hospital was built, and, although apparently unneeded: at
the time, it proved more than useful during long years of struggles with the

i

)
w

.- Rt
WL N

Old Notre Dame Church on Place d’Armes,

Indians. Jeanne Mance took charge of it, and devoted her life, not only to
nursing the sick Frenchmen, but also to nursing and converting the sick Indians.

In 1657 the Seminary of St. Sulpice was founded, and six years later became
virtual proprietors of the island, the remnant of the Company of Nétre Dame de
Montréal being so reduced in both zeal and purse that they begged the priests of
the Seminary to take their charge off their hands. So valuable did this charge
become in after years that to-day the Seminary is the wealthiest religious institu-
tion on the continent. ‘Their home, erected in 1710, still remains on Place
d’Armes Square. The Seminary also owned a fortified Indian mission post built
in 1694, which was situated beyond the walls of the town and known as the Fort
de la Montagne. Around it was the village of the Indian converts, but all that
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now remains of this historic place are the two quaint and massive
towers in the grounds of the Montreal College on Sherbrooke street.
In one of those towers the sisters of the Con-
grégation de Notre Dame spent their days in
teaching the Catholic faith to the more friendly
Indians.

About 1660 the colony, which then
consisted of one hundred and sixty men,
with some women and children, was rein-
forced by about one hundred more immi-
grants from France, who found the set-
tlement to consist of some forty small houses
parallel to the river (along what is now St. oA Towats, R
Paul street), a fort and a massive stone wind-

mill. In 1672 the original Notre Dame Church was built, replacing the first
temporary parish church (situated a little to the east), and for the better
defence of the town against the Indians, a palisade was built in 1685.

Now come those weary years of warfare, during which the colony had to
contend with incessant attacks by the Indians; the savage Iroquois waging a
merciless war, with brief intervals of a deceitful peace, granted but to further
their own ends in other quarters. At night skulking among the houses,
by day lying in ambush outside the walls, they were ever on the lookout
to murder or mutilate the settlers, and that ofttimes within sight of the very
windows of the town. The loss amongst the French was of such extent that, in
1661, Maisonneuve resolved to form a military fraternity for defensive pur-
poses. His proclamation reads : ‘We, Paul de Chomedey, governor
1 of the Island of Montreal and lands thereon dependent, on informa-
J\) tion given us from divers quarters that the Iroquois have formed
. : the design of seizing upon the settlement by surprise and
force,"have thought it our duty, seeing the island is
the property of the Holy Virgin, to invite and ex-

.,/ hort those zealous for

&3 her service to unite
together by squads,
each of seven
"’//,persons, and,
7~ after choosing a
corporal by plu-
rality of voices,
to report them-
selves to us for
enrolment in our gar-

01d Farm Houses, outside the Town
Limits, on the COte des Neiges
Road, dating back to 1692.
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rison, and, in this capacity, to obey our orders, to the end that the country mayv
be saved.”” 'Twenty squads, numbering in all one hundred and fm'l\'- mcn-.
answered this appeal, and were known as ‘‘Soldiers of the Holy Fn;nil\' of
Jesus, Mary and Joseph.’’ The settlement reached a state of rcligi(){xs cxnlt:{lion
over waging war against the ‘‘myrmidons of Satan,”’ as the Indians were regarded,
and those who died fighting felt sure of paradise as the reward of their martyrdom.
What alone saved the colony from total destruction at this time were thc:- inter-
tribal hostilities of the In-

dians themselves. 'The Iro-
quois were ever at war with
either the Hurons, Algon- A
quins or the Mohawks, and, [ : B
with one or two exceptions, ' z
were never really resolved on | /7 I\
the total destruction of the e s
French. 'The various settle- Gela 1 :
ments, on the other hand, ko o . — e’
being more or less grouped b e

around three fortified posts— R NAT
Montreal, Three Rivers and . 8
Quebec—invariably united 3
forces ; the outlying settlers
taking refuge in the towns
in times of danger, and thus ¢
strengthening the defending & PR
force of the points attacked. =t
On one occasion, when the
savages had made elaborate
plans for a combined effort to sweep down and totally destroy the white popula-
tion, the bravery of a few devoted Montreal men, under 'Dollard, saved the
country, although at the cost of all their lives.

Adam Daulac, or Dollard, was a young French officer, aged twenty-five
who had left France to redeem some act of dishonour. Anxious for a noteworth\:
exploit to do so, he invited some sixteen young men to join him for an attaci:
on the Indians, regardless of their numbers, as they descended the Ottawa : it
being known that a large number of the Iroquois had wintered in the forests‘ of
the Ottawa valley. These seventeen youths, after receiving the last rites of ‘the
Church, embarked, with plenty of arms and ammunition, and slowly made their
way up the Ottawa river, past Carillon, until they reached the foot of the Long
Sault Rapids. Here a ruined palisade-fort was occupied, and a wait of some
days ensued. In the meantime, they were joined by some forty friendly Indians
who, however, deserted later on. ‘The first canoe party that 'appeared was sur:

H

Arrival ofa King's Ship.
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prised and killed, this act bringing down the whole body of two hundred Iroquois,
mad for revenge. ‘Three times was the rude fort rushed, and three times were
the invaders beaten off. Then they sent for the aid of their Mohawk allies,
stationed at the mouth of the Richelieu, six hundred in all, whom they had been
on their way to join for
the purpose of a com-
bined attack on the
French settlements. It
was at this critical mo-
ment that the friendly
Indians deserted and the
weakness of the defend-
ing force became known.
But still the defenders
fought doggedly on, al-
most dead from exhaus-
tion and thirst, but still
repulsing attack after at-
tack. ’T'he end came at
last, a concentrated at-
tack bringing the sav-
ages hewing and cutting

at the palisades. Even
o o B i s Seteet: Bant v thent the end might not
have been, had not a
roughly-manufactured bomb— meant for hurling amongst the foe — exploded
inside the fort, killing and wounding many of the French, and creating -a con-
fusion which enabled the Iroquois to make a breach in the palisade. One after
another, the little band of heroes was shot down, until only four were left, barely
alive, to meet death by torture later. But their work was well done. The
Iroquois did not need much imagination to foresee the result of an attack against
a people, seventeen of whom had inflicted such punishment on eight hundred of
their best warriors, and kept them at bay for so long.

In spite of the knowledge of this heroic deed, Dollard’s name has only been
thought worthy of bestowal on a short, narrow lane running off St. James street,
which not one person in a hundred is even aware has a name. But yet there is
erected a monument in a public square to Chenier—a rebel against his Queen and
his country !

To return to Montreal. Several streets were now being laid out and sub-
stantial stone houses erected, the town proper lying between the river and what
is now Notre Dame street. The character of the town was rapidly changing,
and, later on, when Maisonneuve was removed by Mézy (the governor-general
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of New France) and immediately reappointed, the autocracy of the Seminary was
largely curtailed, as by this step the governor of Montreal took his appointment
from the State instead of the seigneurs. About this time, a council was formed for
the government of the colony, which consisted of the governor-general, the Bishop
of Quebec (Laval), five councillors and a’secretary. This possessed absolute
legislative, executive and judicial powers, as in 1663 all government was vested
therein by a decree of the French crown. It has already been stated that the
original idea in founding Montreal was to have a settlement around a seminary,
hospital and school, but the settlement was to be a necessary detail only. ‘This
new form of government, however, brought a very different future into sight.
The colonists were now entering with keenness into the fur trade : and Louis the
Fourteenth, commencing to show some of the remarkable interest that he took in
his North American colony, was sending over soldiers, settlers, farming stock,
and a number of young women as wives for the settlers. In 1665 over two thou-
sand were sent out, and, with hardy fighters to subdue the Indians and the influx
of fresh blood and stock into the country, Montreal shared with Quebec a new
lease of life, and one the more bene-
ficial owing to the long spell of
peace conferred on the country by
the expedition under Tracy against
the Iroquois, that destroyed all their
strongholds up the Richelieu.
Talon, the Intendent of New
France at this time, was a vigorous
and zealous administrator, who, by
force of example, did his best to
further the development of the
country. Searching for minerals,
developing manufactories and fish-
eries, and everywhere enqu.ir'ing R
where there were wrongs or injus- o
tices to redress, he did much to ¥jns Truea
help the prosperity of the country, "™
Louis the Fourteenth, for his part, saw to
the population question, sending over large
numbers of people each year (especially
marriageable women), and inducing his dis-
charged soldiers to marry and settle in the
country. Most of the villages around Mont-
real and Quebec were thus founded, the
early settlement taking its name from the
officer of the regiment, who became the seig- ° - !

Corner House, on St. Vincent Street, erected in 1676
by Paul Agnier,
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neur and subdivided the track of land, granted by the King, amongst his soldiers,
after reserving sufficient for himself. This plan had a great advantage, as it
created a line of sentinels ready to give the alarm when the enemy approached.
Berthierville, Sorel, Varennes, Verchéres, etc., are examples of this protective
colonization.

The population of Montreal had now grown to about eight hundred, and was
already showing signs of that deterioration of character that led up to such ter-
rible scenes of debauchery and
vice in later years. The seig-
neurs and traders, who were
for the most part of humble de-
gree in the social scale, became
deeply imbued with a mania for
becoming noblesse. Patents of
nobility were issued by influ-
ence or bribery, an example of
the latter being the case of
Jacques LeBer (owner of the
historic mill at St. Anne de
Bellevue), who paid six thou-
sand livres to be made a ' gen-
tleman.”” ‘The evil of this sys-
tem soon became evident. The
““gentilhomme’’ would not
work in the usual way and the
way his country would benefit
by, but would depart for the
woods and engage with the In-
dians in the fur trade, the ex-
citement and adventure of
which were more congenial than

st. Amable Street. the dull life of a town trader
(A fashionable quarter during the French régime.)

or an agriculturist. The savage
freedom of the woods destroyed their usefulness as colonists, deprived the country
of effective men, and left the cultivation of the ground neglected. Good came
out of the evil in some instances, such men as DuLhut, Iberville, La Salle, Saint-
Castin, etc., being the pioneers of the first western American civilization that
led to the discovery of the Ohio and the Rocky Mountains, the exploration of the
Mississippi to its mouth, and the founding of Detroit, St. Louis and New Orleans.
Early in the eighteenth century the manufacture of coarse wool and linen was
started, and cloth for the priests and pupils was woven fully equal to the French
goods. A certain quantity of timber and wheat was exported, but the staple
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trade was in fur. A great annual fair was established in Montreal, partly to
prevent that wholesale taking to the woods by the young men, just now men-
tioned. In the market-place, between St. Paul street and the river, booths were
set up, and merchants from Quebec and the whole of Montreal would turn out to
get a share of the profits that were to be made. Naked painted Indians, French
bush-rangers, merchants, habitants and priests made a weirdly picturesque scene,
but one that was invariably accompanied by such wholesale absortion of brandy
that the fair would close amidst a pandemonium of drunken devilinent.

Several causes were now at work that were conspiring to impair Montreal’s
prosperity. Louis the Fourteenth, in his prodigal generosity to his colony,
would never refuse a request for help, and, in addition to giving money to
churches, missions, hospitals, etc., he established funds for helping poor people
and subsidized nearly every branch of trade. In consequence, the colonists,
instead of depending on themselves, looked to him for support on every occasion.
The fisheries—at which the New England colonies were coining money-—were
neglected, and the population, from the Intendant downward, developed into a
class of deceitful mendicants. Then the Church festivals were so numerous that
less than ninety working-days were left during the entire season, and, as a climax,
a paper currency was put into circulation by successive governors and intendants
that proved valueless. In 1714 over two million livres of paper was on the coun-
try, which the government redeemed at half face value ; but a worthless re-issue
was afterwards made and the people had to stand the loss. (It was this fact
that had much to do with the willing
submission to the British in 1760, as
the people knew they were practically
ruined under the old régime, and any
conditions under the new rule could not
possibly be worse than the old and
might be much better.) Another
grievance the merchants had, and that
was the prohibition of meeting together
for discussing their affairs. ‘The first
bourse or exchange was only permitted
in Montreal in 1717. 'The beaver trade
helped along the ruin, the wholesale
slaughter of the animal so glutting the
market that the skins were unsaleable
to the dealers in France ; consequently,
bills of exchange given in Montreal for
the purchases were unpaid, with attend-
ant loss and confusion throughout the

town. St. Vincent Street. Iaid out in 1689,
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Social life in Montreal at this period was far
from pleasant, one young
officer writing at the time as
follows: ‘‘ During a part of
the winter I was hunting with
the Algonquins ; the rest of it
I spent here very disagreeably.
One can go to neither a plea-
sure party, nor play a game of
.ards, nor visit the ladies,
without the curé knowing it
and preaching abouf it pub-
licly from his pulpit. The
priests refuse communion to
masqueraders, and even go in
search of them to pull off
their masks and overwhelm
them with abuse. They watch

The Chapel of Notre Dame des Victoires. Erected 1718,

more closely over the women and girls than do their husbands and fathers.
They prohibit and burn all books but books of devotion, [ cannot think of this
tyranny without cursing the indiscreet seal of the curé of this town. He came
into the house where I lived, and finding some books on my table, presently
pounced on the romance of ‘Pretonius,” which I valued more than my life,
because it was not mutilated. He tore out almost all the leaves, so that if my
host had not restrained me when I came in and saw the miserable wreck, I
should have run after this rampant shepherd and torn every hair of his beard.”

Although the above extract was probably written whilst smarting under a
personal grievance at the
destruction of a valued
book, the writer only de-
scribes (though somewhat
vividly) the rigorous con-
duct of the Sulpicians to-
wards all sorts of amuse-
ments they disapproved of.
This excess of zeal on the
part of the priests was no
doubt caused by the evil
ways of the people, to-
gether with the knowledge
that the community, over
which they had at first The Old Grey Nunnery on McGill Street.
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complete religious control, was now no longer content to conduct their lives and
habits entirely under the influence of the Church. Protestants were rigorously
debarred from the colony.

The inflexible severity of the clerical seigneurs was in strong contrast to the
wild viciousness of the lawless bands that were continually passing through
Montreal. If
hard pushed
by justice, they
had only to

=T o TR

cross the river
to be beyond
the jurisdiction

of the island
authorities. A

large trade was
carried on in
brandy, the
liquor being
taken to vari

g e ous posts fur
st. Gabriel Farm-house on the river bank, Point St Charles (owned by the

Congrégation de Notre Dame). Erected 1662, ther up the is-

land, or on the lower shores of the Ottawa, to entice the Indians bringing down
their furs to barter them at prices much below their value in Montreal. Drunken-
ness prevailed throughout the colony, and only abated as the population increased
and the curés grew more numerous, the Church doing great work in educating the
people to more orderly lives. The women were extravagant to a degree in per-
sonal adornment, and, in the words of the writer of the day, ‘“many are discreet
and a good number are lazy. They are fond of dress and show, and each tries
to outdo the rest in the art of

catching a husband.’”” There
was much jealousy of the Que-
bec ladies because of the
great chances they had of get-
ting husbands, as a large num-
ber of ‘‘ young gentlemen '’
came over in the ships to Que-
bec, but never proceeded as
far as Montreal.

One section of the com-
munity in those days stands
out prominently for purity of
life and the exercise of Chris- Nunnery on St. Paul’s Island |

Congrégation de Notre
Dame). Erected 1764.
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tian charity. The hospital nuns, usually ladies of gentle birth and bringing up,
gave their whole lives to the attention of the sick and the wounded, who had to
rely almost entirely on the nuns' skill for relief, owing to the absence of proper
doctors. The emigrant ships from France would always bring over infection of
some sort, whilst incessant wars and quarrels turned in a never-failing supply of
wounded men. Many dying in carrying out their duty, never complaining, suf-
fering hardships unspeakable, and yet ever exercising that tender kindness which
is so immeasurably comforting to the suffering, their lives are in vivid contrast to
the viciousness of the people and the bigotry of the priesthood. One woman,
however, of this period has been held up for special veneration to whom no ven-
eration can be accorded here.
: This woman, Jeanne ILeBer,
was the daughter of a leading
merchant of Montreal, and,
being of a very susceptible na-
ture, became at last completely
imbued with the idea that she
was specially consecrated to hea-
ven. After giving up her suitors
and her family (the younger
members of which, being moth-
erless, greatly needed her help),
she wished to renounce her in-
heritance, which was consider-
able. This was forbidden, how-
ever, by her spiritual adviser !
7 "a‘:;:gé)ﬂmrs:};‘ylgf 15}‘3{'? s were: ‘pe“r;g:raot‘gf‘ - For ten years she immured
ey e herself in her room, and then
had a cell built behind the altar in the church of the Congrégation, where she
would lie, in an old, coarse, tattered and unwashed garment, on a bed of straw.
Here she lived for twenty years, not even the prayers of her dying father being
able to draw her from her cell. A reputation for miracles, of course, soon became
hers : and after her death, in 1714, at the age of fifty-two, the image of the Vir-
gin, in the church in which she had her cell, was reputed to heal the lame and
cure the sick.

Here again, what strong contrast between the two types. The hospital nun
devoting her life to helping the sick and needy, risking health and life itself in
her noble work of charity. The other secluding herself from the world, in which
we are all sent by our Creator to do our work—one for the other—wasting her
life in a wrapt idolatry of her own untried virtues.

The corruption among the government officials, which had been rife for
some time, reached its limit some ten years before the English took possession of
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Montreal. The intendant at that time was a man named Bigot, and he stands
out as the worst of the crowd of scoundrels who were doing their best to ruin the
colony. The intendant was practically civil governor, being supervisor of trade,
finance, justice, etc. As though scenting the destruction that was shortly to
overtake the French cause, and wishing to make all they could while their time
lasted, Bigot and his subordinates exercised every kind of fraud and peculation
that their positions made so easy for them to do. Goods were sent him from
France (escaping duty), and resold to the King as being colonial manufacture,
at huge advance in price. No one was allowed to sell goods to the King except
themselves, and they made use of this monopoly to charge fourfold for every-
thing. Large quantities of goods were sold out of the King's stores as being
valueless, and then bought back again at an advance of over a million francs.
An order was issued by which the inhabitants had to sell their grain at a fixed
low price, and, after the Intendant had bought it all up and a famine ensued, it
was sold back again at a great profit. So on ad infinitum. But the day of
reckoning came at last, and when Bigot returned to France, after the English
conquest, he was thrown into the Bastille, and in 1763 sentenced to banishment
for life, confiscation of all his property and a fine of one and a half million francs.

Social life during these last years of French rule was brilliant in the extreme,
the balls, dinners and receptions being equal to those in France itself. T‘he town
consisted of a number of good stone and timber houses, and was of a narrow
oblong form, surrounded by a bastioned stone wall. The Seminary, three
churches and the fort showed up prominently above the houses. A dry ditch
eight feet deep surrounded the walls, but the town, although capable of defence
against the Indians, could not have withstood an attack from cannon for an hour.
The constant wars with the English kept the population in a flutter of excite-
ment, and large bodies of Indian allies, ever waiting for a chance of booty and
massacre by accompanying the French expeditions, were generally encamped
near the walls. Amidst all the licentiousness, gambling, peculation and drunken-
ness at this time, Montcalm alone stands apart as a true, courageous gentleman,
fighting against the corruption of the Intendant and the insane jealousy of the
Governor, Vaudreuil. In 1758 came the news of the departure from England of
a great expedition for the conquest of Canada. Then came the siege and capture
of Quebec, the death of Montcalm, and the falling of one post after another,
until Montreal was alone left to France out of her once great North American
colony. On the fall of Quebec, Vaudreuil and Lévis moved their headquarters
to Montreal, and, after making a futile attempt to retake Quebec in the following
year, resolved to make their final stand on the island. The city, however,
was spared, the horrors of a siege or attack. A force under Colonel Haviland
advanced to Longueuil, opposite the town on the south. General Murray, with
fifty-one vessels, came up to within two miles of the city on the east ; whilst
- General Amherst advanced from the west, camping on a height overlooking the
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town and known now as Cote des Neiges. There was no option for the French
but to surrender, and the next morning, September 8th, without a shot being
fired, Vaudreuil signed the capitulation by which Canada and all its dependencies
passed to the British. Fifty-five articles covered the terms of surrender, the most
important being that the French military were to be sent home, free exercise of
religion was to be assured, religious communities were to retain all their property
and privileges, and the people were to continue in the free enjoyment of all their
property. One clause of the capitulation Amherst absolutely refused, and that
was permission for the French troops to march out with their arms and the
honours of war. In his own words : *‘ I am fully resolved, for the infamous part
the troops have acted in exciting the savages to perpetrate the most horrid and
unheard of barbarities in the whole progress of the war, and for other open
treacheries and flagrant breaches of faith, to manifest to all the world by this
capitulation my detestation of such practices.”’

The same evening, a British force under Colonel Haldimand entered the town
by the Recollet Gate and occupied the Recollet Quarter, which was then a large
open space and chiefly covered by the monastery gardens ; while the French
withdrew to their camp by the citadel at the eastern end of the town. The fol-
lowing morning, a British detachment of artillery was drawn up on the Place
d’Armes, and there the French army marched to lay down their arms. The
British flag floated over the town, and French rule in Canada was over.

Here Montreal made a fresh start; with new blood, with the Anglo-Saxon
tenacity of purpose, with honest government, with enlarged and popular liberties,
and with the newly-awakened knowledge that her destiny was her own, to make
or to mar.

Montreal at the date of the British Conquest.
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The illustrations adjoining show some
typical dwellings of the period just de-
scribed, and are respectively as follows :—
No. 1. ‘This house is on Notre

Dame street, a little east of the
City Hall, and was the residence
of Colonel John Campbell. It
hardly belongs to this period, hav-
ing only been builtin 1773, but
it has been a fine old place,and
is soon to be pulled down.
No. 2. De Catalogne
House. This was erected. in
1693, and consists of two
stories and attic. Gédéon de
Catalogne was the engineer of
the first Lachine Canal, and
was 'also responsible for the

L)
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plans of the early stone forti-
fication walls.

No. 3. 'This old house is
situated on the east side of
Vaudreuil street, and was built
about 1687. The walls are now
showing signs of bulging, although
no doubt good for many years to
come. In the vaults of this build-
ing was stored the specie of
the Bank of Montreal in olden
days.

No. 4. On the west side
of St. Gabriel street, just be-
low St. Thérése, is a quaint
old sloping-roofed building
dating back to 1687. The
cellars and next floor are very
heavily vaulted, and were no
doubt used for the storage of
furs, etc. This street was laid
out in 1680—one of the earliest
in Montreal—the population
at that time being about 1000.

some Ancient Buildings
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CHAPTER II.
MONTREAIL UNDER EARLY BRITISH RULE

[FE&—=9|T has been seen how the religious settlement of Maisonneuve
d Rl developed into a trading town, and how that town reached the
verge of commercial ruin through the destructive colonial policy
of the French crown, the corruption of its officials and the degen-
- eracy of the inhabitants. It now remains to be shown how the
city of to-day, with its three hundred and fifty thousand people, came to
att;airl its present position.

After the capitulation by Vaudreuil, General Ambherst, as commander-in-
chief, appointed General Thomas Gage first Governor of the district of Montreal.
Although it would have been difficult to find a more arduous position, he appears
to have given satisfaction to all sections of the population ; and a significant sign of
the change of feeling already in existence was afforded at the death of George I1.,
in the October following, when an extensively signed address was presented to
the Governor, mourning the demise of a ‘“sovereign so magnanimous to a van-
quished people.” The
following year saw the
final deportation of the
French military, ac-
companied by many of
the Canadian noblesse
and merchants, who
refused to swear alle-
giance to King George.
The population at this
time was about five
thousand, and the peo-
ple quickly realized
that the exchange of
the ruling power was

Old St. James Street in 1830.
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all to their advantage. The Church was glad to welcome any change by which
order was enforced and the old system of corruption abolished ; their religious
hold on the colony being too strong to occasion any anxiety from an influx of
Protestants. (In 1765 the
Protestants in Montreal only
numbered one hundred and
thirty-six.)

In 1765 a very serious
fire broke out in the city, and
in a few hours destroyed one
hundred and eight houses,
thereby reducing two hun-
dred and fifteen families to
the greatest distress. The

damage amounted to £88,000,

which was, however, partially
relieved by subscriptions
raised in England, headed
by five hundred pounds from
Forrétier House, corner of St. Peter and Notre Dame Streets. King George I1IL. Nearly a
Yrected 1767. Residence of Montgomery, 1775. quarter of the city was burnt
out, and the people were just beginning to recover from their difficulties three
years later, when another conflagration occurred. By this, ninety houses,
two churches and a large charity school were consumed, and great misery resulted.
The turmoil of war was not yet over for the town. The revolt of the
New England colonies against King George met with little sympathy in Canada,
and General Montgomery led an expedition
against his northern kinsmen. When he ap-
peared at Montreal, General Sir Guy Car-
leton (afterwards Lord Dorchester) had
too small a force to defend the town, and
so withdrew toQuebec, leaving Montgom-
ery to take possession. On the 13th of
November, 1775, the Americans entered
the town, and Montgomery made it his
headquarters during the following win-
ter. By the death of Montgomery and
the defeat of the Americans at Quebec,
on New Year’s Eve, 1775, their cause
became hopeless in Canada, and in the ‘- Maison de Maricour,” Coté Street.
following June, under General Benedict e Moyne de Maricour was celebrated in the canty waliiard

..., enterprises of the colony, and died here in 1704. Now th
Arnold, they retreated from the City. mother house of the Brothers of the Christian Schools,
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Two years after the American occupation, King William
IV, *“the Sailor King,” visited Canada, and made a
short stay at Montreal, where he was received and

entertained with much honour,

In 1778 the rapid enlightenment of the people
was enhanced by the advent of the printing press.
‘“ The Gazette'’ was first started by Fleury Mes
plet in the old Chateau de Ramezay, and has had
an uninterrupted existence to the present day.
An advertisement in the first number makes inter-
esting reading now.—** Six dollars reward. Ran
away on the 14th instant, a slave belonging to

Widow Dufy Desaulniers, aged about thirty-five
years, dressed in striped calico of the ordinary cut, of
tolerable stoutness. Whosoever will bring her back
will receive a reward of six dollars, and will be repaid
any costs that may be proved to have been incurred in
finding her.”” (Slavery in Canada was forbidden in 1793.)

The close of the eighteenth century found Montreal growing
apace, with a population now amounting to nine thousand; and law
and order enforced, and consequently respected. A good
example of the care taken for the protection of the people is
to be noticed in an order issued by the justices of the peace of
the town in 1789, by which the price and size of

Windmill Point,

The Champ de Mars, 1830.
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bread loaves for the month is fixed at ‘‘ thirteen
pence, or thirty sous, for a four-pound loaf of
white bread . . .,”’ the bakers of the city and
suburbs being ordered to conform thereto and
mark their bread with their initials. The town
was gradually extending northwards, Notre
Dame and St. James streets becoming the more
fashionable resorts, with many handsome resi-
dences situated on the hill now occupied by St.
Catherine and Sherbrooke streets. In 1801 the
walls were removed, and a water supply system
was instituted.

The first mention of an English church comes
here, the Episcopalians being now in sufficient
numbers to require a place of worship of their
own. Owing to lack of funds, they could not at first
afford to build a church for themselves, and so
obtained the use of the Recollet Church at such
hours as it was not required. ‘Then they were allowed the use of the church
formerly belonging to the Jesuits’ College, only to be deprived thereof by fire in
1803. The requisite money being then forthcoming, Christ Church, known as the
English Cathedral, was commenced in 1805, not being completed, however, till 1814.-
It occupied the site of the old French prison on Notre Dame street, a little east
of the Place d’ Armes, and its spire rose to the height of 204 feet from the ground.

About this
time a start was

01d Christ Church Cathedral.

made on the de-
velopment of the
St. Lawrence water-
way, locks being
placed at Coteau,
The Cascades and
the Long Sault.
The Lachine Canal
was completed in
1825. In the year
1809 the first steam-
boat appeared on
the St. Lawrence,
bearing the name
““ Accommodation,”

havmg been built The Bank of Montreal and Place d’Armes.
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Notre Dame Church (old and new), 1830.

T A T e se——. . g

Notre Dame Church and old Belfry Tower, 1840.
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by John Molson to run between Montreal and Quebec. The boat was eighty-five
feet long with engines of six horse power, and although taking thirty-six hours for
the trip, even this was a very great improvement on the time of passage of sailing
vessels, which usually averaged sixteen days. Navigation of the river then was
very different to now, the channel of Lake St. Peter only having a depth of about
ten feet, and St. Mary’s Current being so swift that horses or oxen were often
required to tow vessels up against the stream.
In 1817, the Bank of Montreal was founded with a capital of £87,000, by
a number of merchants, and the first year’s business gave eight per cent. divi-
dend to the stockholders. Excepting
1827 and 1828, this percentage has
never been reduced, on some occa-
sions even rising as high as sixteen
per cent. The original capital has
been increased from time to time,
until it now stands at $12,000,000,
while the Reserve Fund, which was
created in 1819 by the undivided
balance of $4,168, now amounts to
$8,400,000. ‘The first premises,
situated on St. Paul street, were
burnt in 1830 ; and, on the ground
subsequently occupied by the post
office, another building was erected,
only to be discarded later on for
one a little to the east, on the site
of the present stately structure.
An institution that has grown
The first Methodist Church (afterwards used as a to be almost of a national character
news-room). was established in 1821. Eight years
previous to that date there died in Montreal an old Scotch fur-trader—James
McGill. By his will he bequeathed, in trust, sixty-four acres of land and ten
thousand pounds to the Royal Institution for the Advancement of Learning. The
famous McGill University was the result, and will be described later on.
iducation was far from being properly cared for at this time. There were
two public schools (English), various religious institutions (French), and several
private academies. But, in spite of this, the French parents seemed to care but
little about procuring instruction for their children, and, although a certain
degree of interest was evinced by the British population, there was a general dis-
regard among the elders of the advantages their children would derive from
education. A news-room on St. Joseph street—containing papers from all over
the world—was, however, well patronized by the merchants and public, and a
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library of eight thousand books was open daily in the building of the Natural
History Society, at that time situated on St. James street.

In 1829 the new parish church of Montreal was opened. The original church
(see page 9) stood across Notre Dame street, and the new one was built a
little to the south. The picturesque belfry-tower of the
old building remained standing
alone on the corner of the
square until 1840.

The spirit of local
improvement was also in
active operation, streets
being laid out in every
quarter and handsome
stone houses and blocks
of stores erected thereon.
The creek, or rather
ditch, that ran along
Craig street was covered
over, McGill street was
levelled, and the swampy
ground in the western
suburbs (late Griffin- The old Harbour Front.
town) was drained and made ready for building. T'he hill. on which stood the old
useless citadel, had been levelled, leaving the Dalhousie Square of to-day, and in 1836
the city purchased the Place d’ Armes from the Seminary and made it a public square,

A growl was to be heard in those days with which people of to-day can heart-
ily sympathize. It arose from the filthy and neglected state of the streets. that
was such as to choke
everyone with dust in
dry weather and ren-
der them nearly im-
passable through deep
mud when it rained;
while at night the un-
evenness of the roads
not being noticeable
in the dark, made
walking a somewhat
dangerous and risky
proceeding.

Civic government

Montreal from St. Helen’s Island, 1830, was administered I)."
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justices of the peace, appointed by the Governor, who had all the powers of a muni-
cipal council ; but when the city was incorporated in 1832 (Jacques Viger being
the first mayor) their authority was transferred to the corporation. Montreal
was now attaining considerable importance, but its advantages as a port had been
sadly neglected. According to the description given of the river-front by a writer
of the day: ‘‘’T'he approach to the city conveys no prepossessing idea of the
enterprise of the municipality. Ships, brigs and steamboats lay on the margin of
the river at the foot of a hill. No line of wharf (although there is plenty of
stone everywhere around) affords security to vessels and owners, and the com-
mercial haven looks ragged and muddy, the boats lying quietly in pretty deep
water, close to the clayey and generally filthy banks of the river.”

This reproach was soon to be unmerited. In 1832 Montreal was made a port
of entry, and a start was made on a line of substantial wharves terminating at
the Lachine Canal. From
this time forward the ma-
rine commerce increased by
leaps and bounds, and the
trade of the city benefited
much by the opening of the
railway from Laprairie to
St. Johns, making ashort cut
to the waterways leading to
New York and the south.

Inland transportation
consisted of lines of stages
running between Montreal
and Prescott, Montreal and

Custom House Square in 1830. Quebec, Montreal and By-
town (Ottawa), and Montreal and Albany. The two first mentioned had a
daily service ; the others, two or three times a week.

That terrible scourge, Asiatic cholera, appeared in the Province in 1832,
nineteen hundred deaths being reported in Montreal and thirty-three hundred in
Quebec. On the whole, Montreal had been very lucky in escaping severe epi-
demics, the only other two being the ship-fever outbreak in 1847, when six thou-
sand Irish emigrants died, and the smallpox in 1885, which occurred through the
people’s ignorance of the safeguard of vaccination—a lack of precaution that cost
three thousand one hundred and sixty-four lives.

The year of Queen Victoria’s accession to the throne was marked by a rebel-
lion of a section of the people, which at one time threatened to become serious.
For twenty-two years previous, a great change had been taking place in the con-
stitution of the colony, the power and privileges of the British Crown being
curtailed to a very great extent and transferred to the House of Assembly of
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Canada. A man named Papineau had taken an active part in the series of events
that had brought about this change, and when the British Parliament would give
in no further, intense irritation developed amongst the ** French Party,”” which
culminated in the formation of a society (calling themselves ** Sons of Liberty ')
pledged to obtain its demands by force of arms. But the movement did not meet
with the support that had been expected ; and the prompt action of the authori
ties led to the capture and surrender of the rebels in large numbers. A Doctor
Chenier, an active leader in the rebellion, was surrounded. with twelve hundred
followers, at St. FKustache (eighteen miles north of Montreal ), where, with two
hundred and fifty men, the rest of his band having dwindled away, he took final

refuge in the

church, and died
fightingdesperately
to escape the doom
he had brought
upon himself.
Reverting once
more to the com
mercial progress of
the city, we read of

i
|
k:
b
1

a meeting of two
thousand people on
the Champ de Mars
on the roth August,
1846, resolving to
have direct railway
communication
with the seaboard.

A few years later,
The old North-West Company’s House on Vaudreuil Street, where G
John Jacob Astor lived about 1790, the Grand Trunk

Railway, by acquisition, connection and extension of some existing roads, and the
spanning of the St. Lawrence by the Victoria Bridge, opened communication with
Portland, and gave the people their wish. This company also benefited the city
in another way by opening a direct road to Toronto in 1856. This same year the
ocean steamship trade may be said to have begun, as Hugh and Andrew Allan
established the * Montreal Ocean Steamship Company,” with four steamers fort-
nightly. The system of keeping accounts, etc.. was changed in 1854, the use
being authorized in that year of either ‘‘pounds, shillings and pence’’ or ‘‘dollars
and cents ;"’ butafter four years of this dual method, currency alone became legal.

The commercial development of Montreal has been more amply described
than the social condition of its inhabitants, but it must not be imagined that
the town was altogether imbued with the idea of setting up public buildings
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and pushing trade. The huge fortunes made in the fur trade by members of the
North-West Company, who, by their activity and enterprise, had greatly extended
the range of territory hitherto explored, were spent with lavishness in the towns,
and a style of magnificence was kept up that made these traders the cynosure of
the whole continent. Society was, indeed, as gay and brilliant as in the palmy
days of Vaudreuil and Bigot, but infinitely more honorable. The Chiteau de
Ramezay, as residence of the British governors, was the centre of court life
until 1850, and the ever-increasing prosperity of the town gave opportunity for
unstinted entertainment and amusement. The British garrison included, from
time to time, many of the crack English regiments, and their prodigal hospitality,
fashionable in those days, kept the town animated to a degree. When the Rebel-
lion Losses Bill was passed, in 1849, by which those who had taken part in the
rebellion of '37 were to be compensated for the losses they had sustained, the
more loyal citizens were so enraged that they arose in a mob and burnt the Par-
liament House (situated where there is now the open space opposite the new
Grand Trunk Railway offices). Some lives were lost, and the removal of the
seat of government from Montreal followed. In 1860 the Prince of Wales (now
King Edward VII) visited Montreal ; and at this date, well within the memory
of many, a chapter on Early British Rule in Montreal may appropriately close.

P—

Notre Dame Street Fast in 1830.
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J VENTS that are described, or depicted, in this chapter, are of such
4 proximate happening that a strict following in chronological order
is hardly necessary. A start may be made, however, with the
opening of the Victoria Tubular Bridge across the St. Lawrence
on August 25th, 1860. The bridge held first place amongst the
engineering works of the world for many vears, and w

as the admiration of, not
only the Canadian people, but every railway company in the two hemispheres.
It was designed by the great English engineer, Robert Stephenson, and publicly
opened by the Prince of Wales during his visit to Montreal. A description of the
structure, as inscribed on a commemorative medal struck at the time, is as fol-
lows : ‘‘ It consists of 23 spans, 242 feet each, and one in the centre 330 feet, with
a long abutment on each bank of the river. The tubes are 182 to 22 feet high,
16 feet wide, and weigh 9,044 tons, sup-
ported on 24 piers containing 223,000
tons of stone. Extreme length two
miles. Cost $7,000,000.”" ‘The iron
came from England and the stone from
Pointe Claire.

As traffic increased and new dis-
tricts were opened up, the single track
that crossed the river proved insufficient
for the demands made upon it, and, in
1898, the old tube was replaced by a
modern open-work steel bridge, with
double tracks and roadways. The work
of replacement was carried on without
interrupting the traffic for more than a
few hours, the illustration showing the

The old Wharves on the River-front,
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method in which this was done. ‘The dimensions of the new bridge are as follows :

Width. 66 feet 8 inches: height, 40 to 60 feet; length, including approaches,

9,144 feet. Allowance for expansion and contraction through difference in sum-

mer and winter temperature is calculated to a

nicety, and the bridge will ever serve as

a monument to the enterprise of

the Grand Trunk Railway System,
whose property it is.

It would be difficult to imagine

a more exquisite view than is to be

R

Ay

obtained from the car-window, as
the train approaches Montreal over
this bridge on a summer evening
about sunset. ’Then, the stately moun-
tain that rises behind the city is draped in that purple haze
that only the shadow of departing day can produce, and the
eye can just grasp the dim suggestion of luxuriant verdure
on the heights that stand in such relief against the rosy tint
of the heavens. Nestling at the foot lies the city, the harsh
outline of factories, chimneys and houses now being softened
and blended into an harmonious mass ; relieved, here and
there, by the graceful steeples or stately towers of the churches. In the fore-
ground, a forest of masts rises up from the scintillating waters of the St. Law-
rence : and, immediately behind, the tall massive towers of Notre Dame are
silhouetted against the sky. ILingering here for a little while longer, the scene
changes ; detail is lost in shadow ; lights appear, one by one, until the city and
the long line of water-front is ablaze with thousands of glittering lamps ; Mount
Royal being alone in gloom, keeping dark and shadowy vigil over all.

The harbour of Montreal is now rapidly becoming worthy of the city and
the noble river to which it owes its existence. At the beginning of the century,
only small vessels could ascend the river, owing to the PR, LY
shoals in Lake St. Peter, but the Government,. for 2
some years past, has been spending enormous sums o

Victoria Tubular Bridge, showing
construction of present Bridge.

in dredging the
channel right up
from Quebec, un-
til a thirty-foot
draft is possible
for vessels com-
ing to the city.
Not only this,
but the old, low, Victoria Bridge, from St. Helen’s Island.
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muddy beach has been changed into lines of substantial
wharves and piers, with elevator and railway tracks for
the quick despatch of freight. Other highly important
works are the guard-pier and the revetment-wall. The
former consists of a huge embankment rising out of the
river from a point near the Victoria Bridge and extend
ing to nearly opposite the Custom House. It was con
structed to protect the harbour from *‘ice-shoves’’ in the
spring. These ice-shoves, though now a thing of the
past, are well within the memory of most people in the
city, it being a never-failing source of interest to watch
the huge ice-floes (borne down by the St. Lawrence
when the thaw sets in) pile up to a height of over
thirty feet in a glittering mass. The embankment now
keeps the ice well into St. Mary’s Current. the rapidity
of which carries it right past the city, and at times in
the early spring there may be even now seen on Ile
Ronde an example of what was a yearly occurrence on
the harbour-front. ‘T'his packing of the ice was largely
responsible for the serious floods that inundated the
lower parts of Montreal from time to time. Away
back in 1861 a great flood took place, and one occurred
more or less regularly every spring until a year or two
ago. In 1886 all the lower town was under water, and a
; five-cent ferry took people from the foot of Beaver Hall
ngg‘;dicgflf}?edg{;ﬁige Hill to St. James street. From Craig street to the har-
bour, boats were the only means of transit, and some idea of the Venetian aspect
of the city may be gathered from the illustrations.
T'he revetment-wall has made serious floods a mat-
ter of impossibity, and the saving to property has
been enormous.

In the latter part of 1864 Montreal was greatly
interested in the trial of the St. Albans raiders. A
certain Bennet H. Young, who had come to Canada
as a political refugee from the States, where he had
taken active part in the civil war between the Con-
federate States and the North, organized a band of
men, and, on the 1g9th October, raided the town of
St. Albans, Vermont. There he stated that the
band were Confederate soldiers taking reprisals for
raids committed by the Northern army in the South,.
and proceeded to hold up the town in general

“ Relics of Antiquity.”
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and the banks in particular. After * commandeering '’ over two hundred thou-
sand dollars from the latter and firing a number of shots in the streets, the band
took horses and rode for the Canadian frontier again. Their arrest followed, and
extradition was demanded by the United States, for robbery, etc. After long
arguments, the raiders were discharged, it being decided that they had acted as
belligerents in a foreign state, and consequently the laws of a neutral country had
no jurisdiction to order their extradition. Much bitter feeling was shown against
Canada at the time by the people of the Northern States for the harboring of, and
sympathy towards the
raiders; and, for a
period, threats were
indulged in that repri-
sals would be taken
on Canadian frontier
towns.

This same year
the first street car ap-
peared in Montreal,
the City Passenger
Railway instituting a
service of cars over
about ten miles of
track. Horse traction
was the motive power,
and the company con-
tinued operations un-
til 1892, when it was
taken over by the
Montreal Street Rail-
way, who, after ob-
taining a thirty years’
franchise from the
city, inaugurated the

The St Albans Raiders at Montreal Jail.

electric trolley system. This company gives a splendid service all over the city,
and is also largely responsible for keeping the main thoroughfares clear of snow
in the winter.

In 1867, St. Patrick’s Hall, a large, handsome building, on the east side of
Victoria Square, was commenced ; but its existence was very brief, for in 1872
it was totally destroyed by fire, and to-day the very memory of the hall is a thing
of the past, the site being now occupied by a large dry goods establishment.

1869 saw the commencement of the Intercolonial Railway, and the follow-
ing the wonderful history of the Canadian Pacific began. Luckily for Canada,
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the doubt, and even ridicule, that greeted the scheme had no deterrent effect on
the great men who were resolved to see the Pacific and Atlantic Oceans linked by
an all-British iron road : and, although Canada has naturally reaped the most
benefit from the opening of the West,
yvet the entire Empire must join with

the Canadians in respecting and giving
honour to two such men as Lord Mount
Stephen and Lord Strathcona and
Mount Royal, whose indomitable pluck

and energy did so much to carry
through the scheme which has con
verted the uncultivated fertility of the
western prairies into the inexhaustible
granary of the British Empire,

In 1884 the first winter carnival
was held in Montreal, and an ice pal
ace built on Dominion Square. These

carnivals were repeated in several suc
St. Patrick’s Hall, (‘L‘L'(]ill,‘; winters, and the i(‘k"]':l];l(‘(' wis
always a strong feature. Although very magnificent to look at, with their glist
ening walls and turretted roofs, they proved a very bad advertisement for the city,
as pictures of them appearing in the European and American papers, with exag
gerated reports of the cold and snow, gave abroad the idea that Montreal was an
arctic city in a land of perpetual snow. It is remarkable how people, and even
well educated people,
jump at totally errone-
ous conclusions from a
casual glimpse at a
picture. A minute’s
thought should surely
prove to any one, that
if the people of a city
containing a popula-
tion of a quarter of a
million can erect, for
a few weeks’ amuse-
ment only, an ice-pal-
ace costing many thou-
sands of dollars; that
city must be rea-
sonably prosperous;
and the natural corol-

One of the Ice Palaces
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lary must be, that the
city being prosperous,
must have a thriving
trade and commerce.
Now, how can a pros-
perous trading city be
reconciled with an arc-
tic city in a land of per-
petual snow? In the
words of old friend
Fuclid, ‘‘Quod est
absurdum.’’

The trade, com-
merce, government
and character of the

fore erection of ‘‘Canada Life’’ and city at the present day
lemple Buildings. v ’ : .
may now be briefly re-

St. James Street be

viewed before proceeding to describe the various places of interest in detail.

Montreal is situated at the foot of the royal mountain from which it takes its
name, upon a large island thirty miles long by ten wide (considered to be the
garden of Fastern Canada), at the confluence of the Ottawa and St. Lawrence
rivers. ‘T'he main branch of the Ottawa passes north of the island in two
branches, and joins the St. Lawrence about fifteen miles below the city. One-
third of its volume is, however, discharged into Lake St. Louis, above the city,
where it joins, but does not unite with, the St. Lawrence ; the two streams flow-
ing quite separately, side by side, for miles, as can be noticed by the different
colours of the water. ‘The natural advantages that Montreal has always enjoyed,
by reason of her geographical position, have already been remarked upon, but it
was not until the advent of the large ocean
steamer that their full benefits were appre-
ciated. Situated at the head of a navig-
able waterway, six hundred miles from

the océan, it is seldom realized that
Montreal is, in truth, a seaport;
and that vessels from all over the
world can discharge cargoes at her

wharves, on which one freight only
is payable. During the year 1902
there were seven hundred and fifty-
seven arrivals of ocean-going vessels, with
a tonnage of over one million and a half ;

while from the interior, thanks to the splendid
The O1d Harbour, looking East.
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system of canals, the arrivals numbered over eight thousand, and this in spite of
the great coal strike and a wet, cold summer. The passenger traffic, »id ‘thc St
Lawrence, is showing a marked increase from year to year, the delightful \"lii
down the gulf robbing a vVoyage across the Atlantic of 'much of its nunu)tn;;v
and the distance from England being over two hundred miles less than from \'c.\\"
York. In the winter the shipping is diverted to Halifax and St. John, .
The export trade of the country, of which Montreal is the chief outlet, has
grown by leaps and bounds : and during the last six years the aggregate t‘r;ul;-
has shown an increase that exceeds the growth shown in a similar period by any
other country in the world. A lot of figures are but confusing, and to lh“"’l\‘wj-
age individual quite
unconvincing, until
personally verified ;
but one single in-
stance is worth re-
cording, 7.e., the fig-
ures relating to the
exports, which for the
yearended June, 1902,
exceeded those of 1896
by wninety million dol-
Jars. 'Thisin six years

1

only.

A very great deal,
however, requires to
be done to the port of
Montreal, if trade is
not to be turned away.
A prominent Cana-
dian railway man St. Catherine Street, near Peel. (530 a.m)
remarked but a short time back, *“ We have constructed a hopper too big for the
spout ;”’ and a glance at the congested state of the wharf terminals proves this
statement to be well founded. Steamers deposit their imported Cargon:\‘ on whl'lr\'c;‘
already crowded with freight that the railways and canals have br;)u"ht i;l fo‘r
export, and the railways have not free enough access to the “'har\’es'hto ehable
them to gather up the imported freight, bound for the interior. In Co‘n\.e( uc;]cc
Western traders are growing more and more inclined to pay for cxtr:x rl,m“.,u'_
haulage, and have their goods shipped 2ié the United States'portu ;\'lléxlc; th;;'
can get prompt delivery. Although two new elevators are undét“ construction
(1903), and the four miles of docks are being greatly improved, this will‘ but ful-
fil present requirements ; whereas the position of the city, as the Sational tert of
the Dominion, makes it necessary to provide, not onl_\f for the requiréméntg Zp




40 MODERN MONTREAL

to-day, but for that predestined future which is even now almost in sight,
i.e., Montreal, the chief seaport of North America.

Business in the city itself is remarkably good, with the possible exception of
cotton, and the banking companies are amongst the best in the world. 'There can
be no doubt of the fact that the advent of the Americans into the business com-
munity has done much to enliven and sharpen the Canadians ; and, however
patriotic the cry Canada for the Canadians,” the country is greatly indebted to
American brains and capital for the exploitation and development of many hitherto
neglected sources of national wealth.

No one walking through the city can fail to be struck by the innumerable
signs everywhere displayed of \Notaire,”” ‘‘Avocat,’”’ ‘‘Barrister,” ‘‘Advocate.”
Montreal has long been known for the large number of ‘‘legal gentlemen’’ therein,
and to find a reasonable explanation of such extraordinary prolificacy in this direc-
tion: it is necessary to go back to the days of the French régime. When the

The Board of Trade Building after the Great Fire of 1901,

settlers obtained their grants of land, in many cases the title-deeds were most
imperfectly drawn up, and in others the boundary-lines were not clearly defined.
During the long winters the litigious disposition of the Norman blood found this
an incessant cause for quarrel and dispute, and few families were without some
kind of legal action pending. To keep the money in the family as much as pos-
sible, therefore, they made their sons lawyers. ‘Then, again, the well-to-do trader
liked to think of his son as a ** professional man,”’ and so sent him to study law.

By degrees the people actually grew to believe that lawyers were the best men to.

send to Parliament, and an analysis of the Legislature at the present day would
show to what an extent they still practice this belief. ‘The latter fact has caused
certain cynical individuals to remark that the legal members purposely make laws
that only lawyers can understand—hence their number in Montreal.

T'wo forces that are directly under the control of the city are now to be men-
tioned—the police and the fire brigade. The former have the making of a splen-
did force, and will, no doubt, become so when somewhat stricter discipline be
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exercised. The fire brigade are a fine lot of fellows, and have, without excep
tion, the hardest work to do in the city. “The task of fighting a fierce fire in the
depth of winter is no easy one ; and a constitution of iron, with nerves to match,
are absolutely essential qualities in a Montreal fireman. It will be many vears
before the memory of the great fire in January, 1gor, fades from the minds of
those who fought it or looked on. The damage amounted to nearly five million
dollars, and included the total destruction of the Board of T'rade building and
several blocks of offices and warehouses.

The government of the city is vested in a mayor and thirty-five aldermen, the
latter being elected every two years. The mayor also holds office for two years,
and it is an unwritten law that he shall be alternately French or English. 'This
pernicious system of differentiating between the two races is fortunately not
followed by the people generally, although to read the speeches at election

Arches Erected in Honour of the Visit of the Duke and Dnchess of York, September, 1901.
time in Montreal one would imagine the French and the English sections of
the population to be on the verge of a civil war. In reality they are the best of
friends, united by the strongest of all ties, 7.e., self-interest : while, as Canadians,
all alike look for the future welfare of their city and country. OQutside of poli-
tics, therefore, Montreal can show a very striking example of how two extremely
dissimilar races can live side by side in perfect harmony and camaraderie.

To sum up very briefly the characteristics of the people generally, one would
say they were a conservative, level-headed, hardworking community ; rather too
prone to let abuses exist which do not touch them personally ; proud of their
country, with a supreme belief in its future ; patriotic to the mother country, but
at the same time showing a sort of patronizing pity for her supposcd- want
of enlightenment and progress; keen on outdoor sports and amusements,
courteous and obliging, and above all things Canadians,




HOAMAHD ANV AULON 40 HOITHALIN]

==

TSN SRR IR 41




@
%
3
\ 7 A0 ele I ||
B, T2 A F s - i
VL 00T AR 7, Bedh 4 PN | a
DS 3 Ly e s 4
Z 9{}9@"\2,&%& >4 ==l
R (&h« ),v/ &C:’ﬁ o <
: P > B
- - = )
BB P W NN WP B B BB %2 T50)5.6)
P P NS » T

~.§\4‘ A

Y

CuarrER IV.

CATHOLIC INSTITUTIONS

in 1642, to the present day; and it now remains to describe, in
detail, the chief points of interest and attractions to be found in
| and around the city.

The religious and educational institutions will be taken first.
both by reason of their number and importance, and also because the history of
Montreal has always been so closely identified with the Church. The Catholic
institutions, being the oldest, have priority.

The various religious orders have invariably been large holders of real estate,
and their property has become so valuable during the past hundred years, that
they are now remarkably wealthy bodies. ‘Their money has been freely spent on
their churches, which consequently
are, as a rule, extremely fine, with
very rich interiors. The most import-
ant’ church in Montreal is, without
doubt, the parish church of Notre
Dame, the towers of which are shown
on the cover of this book. The pre-
sent church replaces the original par-
ish church, built in 1672, that stood
across Notre Dame street (see illus-
tration on page 27). The building
was commenced in 1824, and ranks
as the second largest church on the
American continent. ‘The towers are
two hundred and twenty-seven feet
high, and contain a magnificent set of
bells, including ‘‘le Gros Bourdon,’’

Notre Dame Church from the Seminary Garden.
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m»’ e the largest bell in

America, weighing
twenty-four thou-
sand seven hundred
and eighty pounds.
The interior of the
church is most gor-
geous, and contains
many interesting
objects ; amongst
which can be no-
ticed the Baptistery,
with its exquisite
stained glass win-
dows, a picture of
the Virgin, said to
be the work of St.
Luke ; the bronze
St. Peter, whose
foot is kissed by

St. James Cathedral.
thousands of devout visitors; and the chapel of the Sacred Heart, in the rear of
the grand altar. ‘T'he wood-carving and painting in the latter are superb, and a

wonderful effect on the senses is experienced after stepping
from the traffic and bustle of Notre Dame street into this
still and dimly-lighted temple of Catholic worship.

The Cathedral of the Catholic Church, situated on
Dominion Square, is dedicated to St. James, and is
quite a modern building, having been commenced in
1870. It is a fine example of church architecture
externally, but the interior is at present very bare,
and has not the same interest as the older churches,
around which lingers so much history. Its most
striking characteristic is the huge ball and cross
that surmount the dome, rising to a height of two
hundred and fifty feet from the ground, and form-
ing a landmark that can be seen from all over the
city. 'The Cathedral was built to replace the one
on St. Denis street destroyed by fire, and was de-
signed on the model of St. Peter’s at Rome. It is
built in the shape of a cross, the dimensions being
three hundred and thirty feet long by two hundred and
twenty-two wide. The facade stone-work is very hand-

Old Bonsecours Chypeh



The ** Restored ' Bonsecours Church,

twentieth-century steeple a-
bomination on a quaint, old-
fashioned French church,
and then grumbles that the
old church spoils the look
of his new steeple! 'The
church obtained its name on
account of the escapes of
the colony from the Iro-
quois. On the roof, facing
the river, stands a colossal
statue of the Virgin, who,
being supposed to have
miraculous powers for the
aid of seafarers, has been
the patron saint of the
French sailors for nearly
two hundred and fifty years.
The interior is handsome,
and there are some remark-
able paintings to be seen
on the walls. Built right
up in the steeple, and
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some, and is surmounted by thirteen statues,
representing Christ and twelve of the saints.

The next church to be mentioned, from
point of interest, is Notre Dame de Bon
secours. In 1657 a wooden chapel was
first erected (on the same stone foundation
as the present church stands), Marie Bour
geoys being the patroness, and Maisonneuve
himself felling the first trees used in its con
struction. In 1675 the chapel was rebuilt and
increased to the size of the present church.
It was not until 1771 that a fire necessitated
the erection of the present building, or
rather what would have been the present
building had it not been ‘* restored '’ a few
vears ago. 'That hateful word ** restored '
1S now, unfortunately, synonymous with
“spoilt.”” The present-day architect puts a

The '* Santa Cassa’ in the Aerial Chapel of Bonsecours Church.
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reached by a winding stairway from the vestry, is the
aerial chapel. This is quite unique in its position, and
contains the Santa Cassa, or fac-simile of the house of the
Holy Virgin, which is believed to have been carried by
angels from Nazareth to Loreto in Italy. It is a very
interesting piece of work, even apart from its religious
association, and contains a very highly-prized relic in
the shape of a small painting by St. Luke. This can
be seen on the right-hand outer wall of the house.
A comparatively small church
near the corner of St. Catherine
and St. Denis streets has the
honour of having the most beau-
Bk Jatias Cuthedrat, fron: tiful interior of any church in
“down-town."” Montreal. It is known as Notre
Dame de Lourdes, and the illustration opposite will give
some faint idea of its beauty. No picture, however, can
do justice to the exquisite colouring of the arabesque
decorations, nor to the panel paintings in colour and gold
on the dome. What most impresses the beholder is the
ctatue of the Virgin above the altar. The Virgin
is seen standing on a bank of clouds, with her
hands crossed on the breast, and bathed in a pale
rose-coloured light that comes from an unseen

source above. It gives a most spiritual effect,
with nothing about it incongruous or in bad
taste, as in so many churches, where a religious
subject is treated more like a theatrical tableau in a circus. The whole interioz
has been adorned with the idea of illustrating the doctrine of the Immaculate
Conception of the Virgin Mary, and is the only church of its kind in all America.
It was built in 1874. In the basement is a chapel containing a representation of
the grotto at Lourdes, in which can be
seen the altar, with the reproduc-
tion of the apparition of the
Virgin to the little maid
Bernadette.

The crucifix shown here
is to be found outside the
Franciscan Church on Dor-
chester street, a little west of
Guy, and is a celebrated shrine
for Catholics on certain fes-

Crucifix outside Franciscans' Churca.,

Grey Nunnery.



INTERIOR OF NOTRE DAME DE LOURDES,



43 CATHOLIC INSTITUTIONS

tivals of their church.
Crowds of people await their
turn to kneel and kiss the
foot of the Christ, this being
the only open-air shrine in
the city proper.

A few hundred yards
east of this, on the other side
of the street, is the Grey
Nunnery, an immense build-
ing in extensive grounds.
This order takes its name
from the costume of the
nuns, and was founded in
1747 by Madame d’ Youville,
who took over the old Gen-
eral Hospital, which had
fallen on very bad times. The original nunnery was situated on McGill street
(see illustration on page 16), but it had to make way before the modern demand
of the warehouse : and, in 1870, the present structure was built, which contains
over three hundred rooms, and is used as an asylum for deserted infants, and the
sick, infirm and destitute of all sects. The nuns are glad to receive visitors at
noonday, and have an old-fashioned formal reception every New Year’s Day. The
sisters, novices and auxiliary sisters aumber nine hundred and twelve, and do an
immense amount of good in the city, having no less than sixteen different institu-
tions under their charge. The red cross to be noticed in the corner of the grounds
marks the grave of a murderer, who, many years ago, under the old French law, was
broken alive and left to die in the open, his mutilated remains being buried here.

Other orders having their homes in the city are the Sisters of Notre Dame
de la Congrégation (referred to, with illustration, on page 8) ; the Sisters of St.
Joseph, known as the ‘* Black Nuns’’® of the Hotel Dieu; the Sisters of Provi-
dence, ““les Sceurs de Charité de la Providence’’ (an order founded in 1843 by
the late Bishop Bourget, which now numbers one thousand four hundred and
thirty-five sisters), who have charge of thirteen institutions in different parts of
the city, mostly connected with the care of the sick and aged poor ; the Sisters of
of the Sacred Heart, with headquarters at Sault aux Recollets ; and the Sisters of
the Order of the Holy Name of Jesus and Mary, whose convent is at Hochelaga.
The nunnery of the Congrégation de Notre Dame can be reached through a gate-
way on Notre Dame street, opposite St. Tambert hill, and the three wings com-
prising the building surround a most charming old-fashioned garden. The order
is the largest teaching order in America, the nuns numbering one thousand two
hundred and thirty-four. The little church alongside the garden entrance

Entrance to Laval University.



CATHOLIC INSTITUTIONS 49

occupies the site of the one built by Marguerite Bourgeoys (the founder of the
order) in 1693. The Hotel Dieu is described later on, with the hospitals ; the
others call for no special remark.

Turning now to the educational institutions, the most important is Laval
University, on St. Denis street. This is a severe-looking building, relieved only
by the whiteness of its walls and an extremely handsome entrance. ‘I'he univer-
sity proper was founded at Quebec in 1852, but in 1878 the Archbishop of Mont-
real obtained the establishment of a branch in this city. It has four faculties —
Law, Theology, Medicine and Arts, with an affiliated school of Comparative
Medicine and Veterinary Science. It is entirely French, and theological students
attend for study from all parts of the Dominion.

The Montreal College is an offshoot of the Seminary of St. Sulpice, the
original building, near McGill street, being erected by that body. Although the
old college was a large and handsome building, in every way suitable, and sur-
rounded by handsome grounds, it had, like the Grey Nunnery, to make way for the
requirements of commercial progress, and, consequently, the ‘‘ Petit Séminaire,’’
as it was called, moved into their present home on Sherbrooke street. It now
occupies one of the most historic sites in Montreal, 7.e., the site of the old ** Fort
de la Montagne”’ (see page 8), and two of the original four corner-towers still
remain in the grounds. The pupils number four hundred and fifty, some being
trained for the priesthood, others for various professions. The other large build-
ing situated higher up the hillside is a new institution for the headquarters of
the Order. In the days when this spot was occupied by the Indian Mission
Station, the two towers were used, respectively, as a chapel and a school. On
the chapel tower is a French inscription which, translated, reads : ** Here rest the
mortal remains of Frangois Thoronhiongo, Huron. Baptized by the Reverend
Pere de Brébceuf. He was, by his piety and his probity, the example of the
Christians and the admiration of the unbelievers. He died, aged about one hun-
dred years, the 21st April, 1690.”” On the other tower is a memorial to one of the
nuns of the Congrégation de Notre Dame who taught the Indians Christianity.

Montreal College.
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A little to the east of the college there is placed, on the wall on Sherbrooke street,
a tablet to mark the camping-place of the British army under Ambherst, at the
time of the capitulation of the city by Vaudreuil.

Another large educational institution is St. Mary’s College for boys, on
Bleury street, conducted by the Jesuit Fathers, who also have the direction of
Loyola College, on Drummond street. It is one of the few remaining institu-
tions owned by the once powerful Jesuit order, whose first home in Montreal, on
Notre Dame street, occupied the site on which the Court House and City Hall
now stand. ‘T'he order was suppressed in Canada in 1772, and became extinct
in Montreal in 1800, on the death of the last surviving member. In 1839 they

were permitted to return, but have never

got back their original power and

position. The college con-

tains a first-rate library and

a very rare collection of

early historical documents

and relics pertaining

to Canadian history.

The Reverend Father

Jones has been chiefly

instrumental in get-

ting this collection

together, having a

strong love for every-

thing relating to the history

of his country, of which no

man is better informed.

Adjoining the college is the Church

of the Gesu, opened in 1865, but as

yet unfinished, the intention being

to continue the present stunted towers into spires. The interior is beautifully

decorated and contains some magnificent frescoes and oil paintings. This church

is specially noted for its exceptionally fine music, the Sunday evening service
being the best time to hear it.

It must not be thought that the above exhaust all the interesting places owned
by the Roman Catholics, as besides the ones mentioned and illustrated, time spent
on visiting any of the following will be well repaid : St. Patrick’s Church, on
Alexander street ; St. Jacques, at the corner of St. Denis and St. Catherine streets,
with the highest spire in the city ; St. Henri Parish Church ; and Notre Dame de
Nazareth, on St. Catherine street, between St. Lawrence and Bleury, which has a
most lovely interior. ‘Two other important institutions are the Catholic High
School, on Lagauchetiére street, and Mont St. Louis Institute, on Sherbrooke street.

St. Mary’s College.
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CHAPTER V.
PROTESTANT INSTITUTIONS

ROTESTANT churches of various denominations are extremely
numerous in Montreal, and the number of spires everywhere to
be seen (both Roman Catholic and Protestant) has given the city
a reputation for more sanctity than, perhaps, it deserves. Amongst
them all, Christ Church Cathedral has first place, as it is the Eng-

ish cathedral, and also the most perfect church, architecturally, in Canada. The

original Christ Church has already been referred to on page 26, but that church
being burned in 1856, a new one became necessary, and, following the example of
moving ‘‘up town,” set by so many institutions, the present site was selected,
and the Cathedral opened for worship in 1859. The credit for such an architec-
tural gem is due to the late Bishop Fulford, the founder of the Art

Association, and a spired monument of extremely graceful appearance,

in the eastern side of the churchyard, perpetuates his memory. ‘The

exterior of the Cathedral is ornamented with mediaeval
gargoyles, pinacles and corbels, and the spire is two hun
dred and eleven feet high. ‘The interior is well worthy
of the building, and the beautiful stone font should
not be overlooked. In the northwest corner of the
churchyard is the Chapter-house, a very artistic build-
ing of octagonal shape. The Archbishop’s palace is
situated in the rear of the grounds.

What is generally known as the Scotch Cathe-
dral, or, properly speaking, St. Andrew’s Church,
is located half-way down Beaver Hall Hill, on the
right. Its spire, one hundred and eighty feet high,
is second only to Christ Church for grace and beauty
of proportion, and the church is a very fine speci-

men of Scottish Gothic architecture. It dates back Christ Church Cathedral,
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to the seventies, taking the place of the original St. Andrew’s,
on St. Peter street (which was founded in 1804), and claims
to be the only Canadian Presbyterian Church that has never
left the Kirk of Scotland.
Another Presbyterian Church (which ought properly to
be included among the old landmarks of Montreal)
is also illustrated. ‘T'his is old St. Gabriel’s,
adjoining the Court House, onSt. James
street, and was the first Protestant church
to sound a call to worship in Canada.
It was built in 1792, and remains the
same to-day, excepting for the loss of
a small spire. Prior to its erection,
the Protestants used to to hold their
cervices in the Recollet Church, on
Notre Dame street. A special part of
the interior was assigned to the use of the
St. Andrew’s Church. troops when any Scottish regiment was quar-
tered in the town, and for some years it was the only house of worship for those
who were not of the Catholic faith. In 1886 the congregation moved to a new
church on St. Catherine street, near Phillips Square,
and the decree has now gone forth for the demoli-
tion of this old relic of byegone days, in
order to make room for the extension of 1 i
the Court House. ; j
In very strong contrast to this little
church is the big Methodist Chapel on
St. Catherine street, which is situated in
an open space well calculated to show off
its proportions. Built of red and yel-
low stone, with an immense Catherine-
wheel over the main doorway and
ornamented pinacles surmounting
the towers and windows, it is one
of the handsomest churches in the
city, and cost in the neighborhood
of three hundred thousand dollars.
Phe first chapel was built in 1821
and occupied a very vaiuable site
on St. James street, on which the
present Temple Building mnow
stands. It seated about one

St. James
Methodist
Church.
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thousand people, and was considered
at the time to be the most beautiful
edifice in the ¢ity : but demand for
space in the business part of
the town made the site too
valuable to justify its occupa-
tion, and now suites of offices
occupy the position of the old
church, (See illustration on
page 38.)

The number of Presby-
terian churches in Montreal is
remarkable, when one consid-
ers the relative numbers of
the various sects in the city, According
to the 1901 census, the inhabitants of
Montreal were known as follows : Catho-
lics, 245,967 ; Anglican, 28,756; Presby-
terian, 22,980 ; Methodist, 10,275 ; Jews, 6,861 : other sects, 10,336—making a
total of 325,175; yet the Presbyterian churches number almost as many as
the Catholic, the Scotchman being as much to the fore in religion as he is in
business. The American Presbyterian Church, on the south side of Dorchester
street, a little to the west of the Windsor Hotel, is of an unusual style of architec-
ture—not altogether to be admired—and was opened
in June, 1866, costing in all $68,000. It possesses
the best organ of any Protestant church in Mont-
real, and some magnificent stained glass windows -
and always numbers amongst its congregation a
large proportion of the American visitors to
the city. The first organization of American
Presbyterians in Montreal took place in
1822, an aggrieved minority of the old St.
Andrew’s Church congregation seceding
therefrom, to form a congregation of
their own. After being for some time
without a proper place of meeting, they
finally built their first house of worship
on the corner of McGill and St. James
streets, which was opened in 1826,

The Erskine Church, on Sherbrooke
street, at the corner of Ontario avenue,
is a modern Presbyterian church, which was

Old St. Gabriel Church,

Jewish Synagogue, Stanley Street.
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first opened for worship in September, 1894. The
congregation was first organized in 1833, and met
at Bruce's school-room, on McGill street. This
was too small, and temporary use was obtained of
the American Presbyterian Church, on St. James
street. The congregation belonged to the
geotch Secession Church, and the first building
(opened 1835) was on Lagaucheti¢re street—
a site that, at the time, was considered un-
favourable as being at too great a distance
from the city. In 1866 the congregation
moved to a new building at the corner of
Peel and St. Catherine streets (now occupied
by Hamilton’s store), finally occupying the
present handsome edifice on Sherbrooke street

Returning once more to the Episcopalians,
there has been chosen from a number of
equally fine buildings the Church of St.
' George, which is situated on the western
side of Dominion Square, opposite
Windsor Street Station. T'his church,
which is said to have the largest Pro-
testant congregation in Montreal, has
some very fine stained glass in its win-
dows, and possesses an excellent male
choir. It is one of the few churches
in Montreal that has a clock in the
tower (Christ Church Cathedral has
one also). The lack of clocks on the
public buildings and churches is very
noticeable in Montreal, especially to English
people.

Other churches worthy of mention are
St. James the Apostle, at the corner of St.
Catherine and Bishop streets, of which Canon
Ellegood is rector, and which is celebrated for
its fine singing; St. Paul’s, on Dorchester
street, with a beautiful pair of pinnacled tow-
ers resembling those of Magdalen College,
Oxford ; St. John the Evangelist (extreme
Ritualist), at the corner of Ontario and St.
Urbain streets ; the Unitarian Church, on American Presbyterian Church,

St. George’s Church.
The Erskine Presbyterian Church

PRS-
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Beaver Hall Hill, built on the site of ‘¢ Beaver Hall”’ (the residence of a famous
old Northwest Company trader) : and the Crescent Street Church, with its
beautiful steeple.

One more religious house is to be mentioned before going on to the educa-
tional institutions, and, being neither Protestant nor Catholic, it has been left to
the last. The Jewish Synagogue, on Stanley street, is referred to, a fine build
ing, with four magnificent stone columns supporting the portico—almost of
Egyptian appearance. The Jews, of whom Montreal has a considerable number,
built their first house of worship on Notre Dame street in 1777, and now have
five synagogues; also a splendid new school on Bleury street, opened in 1go2.

The Protestant educational insti-
tutions in Montreal can 'be divided

Redpath Library,

into three groups, z.e., McGill University,
the High Schools and the ordinary schools,
the two latter being under the charge of the
Protestant School Commissioners, and supported by a tax of one-fifth per cent.
on real estate in the city (religious or educational property excepted) and one-
third per cent. of the tax on companies, etc. As regards the real estate tax. only
that collected on the property of Protestants goes to the Protestant Commission-
ers ; the levy on Catholic property going to support the Catholic schools, as does
also the two-thirds per cent. of the tax on companies, etc,

McGill University derives a splendid revenue from the many munificent gifts
and bequests that have, from time to time, supplemented the original legacy of
James McGill.  Although the charter was granted in 1821, it was not until 1829
that the university was formally opened. For some years it was in a very pre-
carious position financially, and had to dispose of the greater part of its land
(originally extending to Dorchester street). In 1852 the charter was advantage-
dusly amended, and, with the late Sir William Dawson as Principal, and the

Redpath Museum,
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monetary aid of several Montreal citizens, the future of the university at last
became assured. It is now one of the best universities on the continent, and, for
scientific equipment, far excels any other university in the world, thanks to the
unstinted generosity of Sir William McDonald, Lasting monuments to the
memory of generous benefactors exist in the various buildings themselves, the
William Molson Hall, Peter Redpath Museum, Peter Redpath Library, McDonald
Physics and Engineering Buildings, and the Thomas Workman Department of
Mechanical Engineering, all recalling the names of famous Montreal philanthrop-
ists. The various buildings are grouped in large, and beautifully wooded grounds
between Sherbrooke street and Mount Royal, and are of very diverse forms of
architecture. The different faculties of the University are as follows : Medicine,
the oldest and most celebrated (with which is affiliated a School of Veterinary
Science) ; Arts; Law; Applied Science, including Practical Chemistry, Civil,
Mechanical, Mining and Electrical Engineering ; and Comparative Anatomy,
The Diocesan, Wesleyan, Presbyterian
and Congregational Theologi-
cal Colleges are affiliated with
McGill, as is also the Royal
Victoria College for Women.
Two splendid institutions
in close connection with
McGill are the Redpath
Library and Redpath Museum.
The former, although quite a
recent gift, already contains a
very large number of volumes,
It is a very picturesque build-
ing, overlooking the McGill
campus, and is especially rich in scientific works and historical literature relating
to Canada. It also possesses a fac-simile of the Doomsday Book—that first char-
ter of English liberty. The Redpath Museum lies to the left of the main avenue,
and calls to mind the pictures of the ancient Greek temples, being by far the
most perfect of all the McGill buildings. The great hall is beautifully finished
in Grecian character, and amongst the many interesting things that the museum
contains may be mentioned the following : A magnificent geological collection ;
the late Dr. Carpenter’s unique collection of shells ; many remarkable specimens
of natural history ; a most curious lot of wood-carvings by the Indians of the
coast ; and a large number of aboriginal relics discovered around Montreal and
other places. Both these buildings were the gift of the late Peter Redpath, and
are proving of exceptional value to the university.
The Royal Victoria College is situated on Sherbrooke street, a little to the
east of the McGill grounds, and was erected and endowed by that beneficent

The Royal Victoria College,
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millionaire, Donald Smith, TLord Strathcona and Mount Royal. It was opened
in 1899, under the direction of Miss Oakley, a lady of exceptional ability, who
has gathered around her a most brilliant staff of assistants. The building cost
three hundred thousand dollars (with an endowment of one million dollars in
addition), and is a handsome structure of grey limestone, with one absolutely
unique feature at its main entrance—a statue carved by one of the English royal
family. ‘This represents the late Queen Victoria, seated on the throne, with
sceptre in hand, and was the work of the Princess Louise, Duchess of Argyle,

being a worthy companion to
her statue of the late Queen in
Kensington Gardens, Iondon.
By the opening of this institu-
tion the opportunity of resi-
dence and college life was

given to women students of

Peel Street High School.
McGill University, of which
the college is a part (develop-
ing from the old ““ Donalda
Department’’ of the Arts
Faculty). It has provision
for resident students, of whom
there are now (January, 1903)
thirty-one, and is also used as

Aberdeen School. a day college by the non-
resident students, who have here a common-room, library and gymnasium, as well
as lecture-rooms for the first and second years of their course. The undergraduate
students, resident and non-resident, number one hundred and sixty-six, and the
courses of study are identical with those of men in the Arts Faculty of McGill,
leading to the degrees of B.A. and B.Sc.; the only subject special to women
being that of music.

The High School, on Peel street, ranks next to the colleges mentioned above,
and is a large square building of red brick, with separate divisions for boys and
girls. It was founded in 1843, and, in 1846, took over the privileges and duties
of the old Royal Grammar School (established in 1816). It was united with
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McGill University in 1853, and placed under the direction of the Protestant
School Commissioners in 1870. The present building was completed in 1892,
taking the place of a fine stone building between Metcalfe and Peel streets,
destroyed by fire the year previous. The average daily attendance is about
eleven hundred and fifty, and the course of instruction covers from the kinder-
garten to the matriculation standard of McGill University.

The other building illustrated is the Aberdeen School for boys and girls, on
St. Denis street, opposite St. Louis Square; and it may be taken as a good
example of the ordinary schools of the city. 'The school building originally con-
sisted of two very handsome houses, which were adapted and extended in 1895,
at a cost of forty thousand dollars. Here the daily average attendance of pupils
numbers seven hundred and fifty. There are altogether fifteen schools under the
direct control of the Protestant Commissioners, having a daily attendance of over
eight thousand pupils, and there are also a number of private schools and busi-
ness colleges. The Catholic schools number over seventy, of which the nuns of
the Congrégation de Notre Dame direct twenty-eight, attended by some ten
thousand pupils ; and the Brothers of the Christian Schools (whose mother-house
was illustrated on page 24) have control of eight, with six thousand pupils.
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THE CHIEF BUILDINGS

occupies first place amongst the public buildings of the city. Itis
a long, low, old-fashioned-looking building, facing the City Hall,
being erected in 1705 by Claude de Ramezay, Governor of Mont-
real; and occupied by him as his official residence for nearly twenty
years, during which time he directed the military operations against the Indians
and the English colonies. After his death, in 1724, his widow retained posses-
sion of the chiteau until it became the property of ¢ La Compagnie des Indes,”’
in 1745. For some years it was the headquarters of this great fur company, and
hither came, twice a year, large crowds of coureurs des bois and Indians to
exchange their products for other merchandise. After the conquest it came into
the hands of a Mr. William Grant, who leased it to the British Government, by
whom it was used once more as the residence of the governors. When the
American revolutionary army occupied Montreal, in 1775, Montgomery made
the chAteau his headquar-
ters, and from here were
ijssued manifestoes and ad-
dresses to the Canadian
people calling upon them
to cast off their allegiance
to Great Britain. Commis-
sioners were appointed by
the American Congress to
persuade the Canadians to
join the thirteen colonies in
their revolt, and Benjamin
Franklin, Samuel Chase
and Charles Carroll (one of

Garden of the Chateau de Ramezay.
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the signatories of the Declaration of Independence) held many futile conferences
here, especially with the Roman Catholic clergy. Franklin brought with him a
printing-press, which was set up in the vaults of the chiteau by a French
printer named Mesplet (see page 25). When the Americans retired, the Gov-
ment once more took over the chiteau, finally purchasing it for the official residence
of the governors, For many years it was known as ‘‘ Government House,”’ and
after the union of Upper and Lower Canada, in 1841, when Montreal became the
political capital, it was used as departmental offices. In 1849 the Rebellion
Losses Bill was passed, by which those who had taken part in the rebellion of ’37
were to be compensated for the losses they had sustained. This so enraged the
more loyal citizens that they arose in a mob and burned the Parliament House
(situated where there is
now the open space op-
posite the new Grand
Trunk Railway offices).
The bill was saved and
taken to the chiteau by
the Earl of Elgin, who
was mobbed on his en-
trance and exit from the
building. This rising
caused the removal of the
seat of government from
Montreal, and the vacated
chiteau was utilized as
a court house, and con-
tinued as such until the

completion of the present

Rear View of the Chiteau de Ramezay. Court House. It wasthen
used as the headquarters of the Superintendent of Public Instruction for Lower
Canada, and, afterwards, the Jacques Cartier Normal School had possession until
1872, when they moved out to the building on Parc Lafontaine. When a branch
of Laval University was opened in Montreal, it took up its quarters here, only to
give place to a magistrate’s court, a little later, which continued its tenancy
until 1893, in which year it was transferred to the present Court House. The
Government having resolved to sell the property, the Numismatic and Anti-
quarian Society took steps to acquire it for the people, and, thanks to their
endeavours, the buildings and land were purchased by the city in 1893. It is
to-day one of the most interesting and instructive places in Montreal, containing
a unique collection of old prints, pictures, coins, arms, and relics of every descrip-
tion. ‘The old council-chamber, kitchen and massive vaults can still be seen, the
latter being as perfect as when first built. The chateau lies back a little from
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Notre Dame street, with a garden in front, in which there is placed an old cannon
found by a wrecking-vessel when working on a sunken coal-steamer in Louisbourg
harbour, some years ago. Itis believed to have been part of the armament of the
French frigate ‘‘ La Prudente,”’ that went down, after burning to the water’s-
edge, during the siege of Louisbourg in 1758. The Numismatic and Antiquarian
Society now have charge of the museum.

Almost opposite the chiteau are two large stone buildings, the one to the
east being the City Hall, and the other the Court House. The only distinguish-
ing features about them are the clock-tower and corner-turrets of the City Hall,
and the Ionic portico of the Court House. They both have frontage on Notre
Dame street, and overlook the Champ de Mars in the rear, the picture below
showing the latter view. The civic meetings in the City Hall are conducted in
both the French and English languages, making it practically essential that the
aldermen should speak both tongues fluently. The officials are mostly French,
and, like all civil servants, have a delightfully easy time. 'The vaults underneath
the Court House contain many historical records of the city. The Court House
was erected in 1856, on the site of the old Jesuit monastery, and a tablet on the
walls records the history as follows: ‘‘ Here stood the church, chapel and resi-
dence of the Jesuit Fathers. Built 1692. Occupied as military headquarters
1800. Burnt 1803.”” Charlevoix and Lafitau, amongst others, sojourned here.
On the square in front four Iroquois suffered death by fire, in reprisal, by order
of Frontenac, 1696.

The next public building to be described is the Post Office, on St. James
street, adjoining the Bank of Montreal. This was finished in 1876, and is a
handsome building in the French Renaissance style, surmounted by a clock-
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City Hall and Court House.
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tower. ‘The sorting and delivery of the mails is handled very expeditiously, but
the interior arrangements for selling stamps, money-orders, etc., and the parcels
customs department are more suitable for a town of twenty thousand people than
a city with over three hundred thousand.

The Bank of Montreal, shown next the Post Office and also opposite, has
already been referred to, with a short history of its growth, so that it may be
passed by now with but a few words. It takes high rank amongst the banking
institutions of the world, coming close after the ‘“Old Lady of Threadneedle
Street,” better known in this country, perhaps, as the Bank of England. Its
directors have invariably been men of such high character and proved ability as
to make the soundness of their banking policy a foregone conclusion. This,
indeed, applies to the Canadian banks in general, institutions
such as the Bank of British North America, Molsons Bank,
Canadian Bank of Commerce, etc., having
a reputation that extends far beyond
Canadian commercial circles. There
are thirty-four chartered banks in
Canada, with an authorized capital
of $76,000,000 and a paid-up capi-
tal of $68,000,000. Montreal being
the great commercial centre of the
Dominion, contains the head-offices
of a number of the banks, and
branches of all the most important,
The latest to open business here is the
Sovereign Bank of Canada, which com-
menced business on the 1st of May, 1902.

Bank of Montreal and Post Office. The Government issues $1, $2 and $4 bills,
and also one or two of high denomination, but the bulk of the currency is issued
by the various banks in $5, $10, $20, $50 and $100 bills. This note circulation
is guaranteed by a deposit made with the Dominion Government by each one,
which is drawn upon, if necessary, to redeem the notes of any bank that should
go into liquidation—an eventuality that has not yet come to pass.

The growth of the city westwards is now making it necessary for the various
banks to follow their clients; and, consequently, branches are being opened up
in the western part of the city, where, a year or two ago, a bank building was
unknown. On several choice corner sites building operations are already under
way, and, if the finished buildings come up to the plans, Montreal will soon
become as celebrated for her banks as for her churches.

The illustrations on page 65 show some typical bank buildings in the
city. ‘The Bank of British North America ranks next to the Bank of Mont-
real as regards age, being opened in 1837. It is a building that few people
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notice, owing to its frontage being flush with the neighbouring offices. It is,
however, well worthy of attention. Molsons Bank, on the same side of St.
James street, but a little further west, is a massive building’of dark stone, with
pillars of polished Scotch granite, and dates back to 1855. The Bafik of Toronto
has a commanding position facing Victoria Square, and, being built of red sand-
stone, is one of the most conspicuous buildings down-town. The American flag,
flying here, marks the United States Consulate, located above the bank. ILa
Banque Nationale is one of the leading French banks, and occupies modern
premises at the top of
Place d’Armes Hill.
¢ Other important
buildings (which, un-
fortunately, do not
lend themselves to il-
illustration) are the
Canadian Bank of
Commerce and the
Merchants Bank of
Canada, on the north
side of St. James
street (two of Mont-
real's “sky-scrapers”),
the Royal Bank of
Canada, on Notre
Dame street, and the
Bank of Hochelaga, on
St. James street, east of
the Place d’Armes.

The two buildings next illustrated
are, respectively, the Drill-Hall, on
Craig street, opposite the Champ de
Mars, and the ‘‘ Vies’’ Armoury, on
: Cathcart street. 'The first mentioned

Drill-Hall and Victoria Rifles’ Armoury. covers an immense piece of ground,
and contains a main hall capable of holding fifteen thousand people, with quarters
for the different volunteer regiments represented in Montreal, 7.e., 1st Prince of
Wales Fusiliers, 3rd Victoria Rifles, 5th Royal Scots, the 65th, Garrison Artillery,
Montreal Field Battery, Duke of Connaught’s Hussars, Army Medical Corps, and
the Army Transport. The only regiment that has a home of its own is the 3rd
Victoria Rifles, popularly known as ‘‘ The Vics.”” This regiment was organized
in 1862, and the Armoury opened in 1887, being built and fitted up by subscrip-
tions raised amongst the members and the leading business houses and citizens of

PRI
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the city ; the members devoting their yearly grant from the Government to main
tainin;; it. 'The building contains mess-rooms, officers’ quarters, bowling-alleys,
Morris-tube rifle-ranges, billiard-rooms, etc., and a splendid drill-hall, fitted with
a fine stage at one end, for use in theatrical
entertainments and concerts. ‘The regiment
is authorized to bear the word ‘‘Eccles Hill, "’
in recognition of services rendered by
the corps in that engagement during
the Fenian raid of 1870.

The Inland Revenue Office is
an old square building, situated in

a little square on the river-front,
near the Custom House, and is
sometimes known as the Old Cus-
tom House. This square was the
first public square of Montreal, and
for some time the town market-
place, being granted to the town by
the seigneurs of St. Sulpice, in 1676.
Many of the horrible public executions un-

Inland Revenue Office (Place Royale).

der the old French law took place here.
I'he picture on page 30 shows the appearance of the square in 1830, the building
in the background being the old Point a Callieres store, on the site of which the
Custom House now stands. Near-by is the Sailors’ Institute—a highly popular
institute amongst seafaring men—which has first-rate reading, writing and game
rooms, and provides concerts every Tuesday, tea and temperance meetings on
Saturdays, and religious services on Sundays.

Within a few yards of the square is the new Custom
House, a handsome triangular building, almost on
the water-edge. T'o Montrealers this ought to
be the most revered spot in the whole city, as
it was on this very piece of land that Cham-
plain established the trading post which
marked the first white man’s settlement on
the island. Maisonneuve also landed near
this point, an obelisk standing in the middle
of Foundling street marking the exact spot
(see page 7). St. Peter’s river had an out-
let into the St. Lawrence along Foundling
street, and the triangie of land formed thereby
was known for many years as Place Royale.
The present building was purchased in 1870, and an

Custom House,
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immense volume of business is transacted under its roof. The street running the
length of the harbour-front is known as Commissioners street, but, owing to the
present harbour improvements, it is not now in very good shape. A walk along
the top of the revetment-
wall gives a capital idea of
the extent of the new har-
bour works.

In the rear of Custom
House Square there is @
small court, off St. Paul
street, which leads to the

ar

warehouse of Frothingham
& Workman. The space
occupied by this court was
the site of the first manor-
house in Montreal, a tablet

I
s]‘
!;.

o 1

on the wall recording the

facts, as follows: ‘ Upon
this foundation stood the Windsor Street Station (Canadian Pacific Railway).

first manor-house of Montreal, built 1661, burnt 1852, rebuilt 1853. It was the
Seminary of St. Sulpice from 1661 to 1712. Residence of de Maisonneuve,
Governor of Montreal, and of Pierre Raimbault, Civil and Criminal Lieutenant-
General.”’

T'he buildings so far mentioned have been practically of a public character,
and now those belonging to private corporations or companies will be taken ; the
most important of which are the railway stations. The station of the Canadian
Pacific Railway is one of the most imposing-looking buildings in Montreal, and is
situated on the southwest corner of Dominion Square. Besides being the terminus
of a transcontinental journey of two. thousand nine
hundred and ninety miles, it also contains the
general offices of the company, a short history
of which may prove interesting. The con-
struction of a railroad. from the Atlantic to
the Pacific was first decided upon in 1867,
by the then newly confed-
erated Dominion of Canada.
The first eight years were
taken up with survey work
and consideration of con-
flicting opinions, construc-
tion proper not being start-
ed until 1875. Even then

Bonaventure Station (Grand Trunk Railway System).
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so little headway was made, that, in 1880, it was decided to surrender the work
to a private company, and the following year the Canadian Pacific Railw ay («)1?1
pany was organized, who contracted to complete the line within ten years in
consideration of twenty-five mil-
lion dollars in money, twenty-five
million acres of agricultural land,
and the free gift of such road as
was already built. In spite of the
financial and engineering difficul-
ties of the first few years, the work *
was successfully completed, and,
on the 7th November; 1885, the
last rail was laid in the main line :
and at the close of the year the
Company, not yet five years old,
was in possession of no less than
4315 milesof railroad. (This fig-
ute has now grown to 8646 miles.)
Although the Canadian Pa- Place Viger Hotel.
cific has the greatest mileage of any Canadian railw ay, the Grand Trunk System
is the pioneer line of the Dominion, and, in fact , one of the earliest pioneers of
railway enterprise on the whole American continent. ‘Their charter was granted
in 1851, and two years later the line from Montreal to Portland, Maine, a distance
of two hundred and ninety-seven miles, was opened. Since that time, by the
extension of the main line and branches and the consolidation of several other

railroads, the entire
system has grown
to such an extent
that now a total
mileage of four
thousand one hun-
B e . dred and eighty-two

‘nu“‘t‘im‘-‘:lﬁg ’ _ miles is under the

P AL ] one management.
. F‘%’H* J i S The enterprise
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which materialized
this solidification of
rival lines into one
harmonious system,
has extended a net-
work of steel over
every city and town

Windsor Hotel.

IR,
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of importance in the Province of Ontario and the State of Michigan in the west
and the Province of Quebec and States of Vermont, New Hampshire and Maine
in the east, and has united the great lakes with the Atlantic, tapping the enor-
mous trade of Lakes Erie, Huron and Michi-

gan at a number of points. The Montreal

station is situated at the foot of
Windsor street, the general offices
of the company occupying magnifi-
cent new premises on McGill street.

Other railways entering Mont-
real are the Intercolonial, the Can-
ada Atlantic, the St. Lawrence and
Adirondack, the New York Cen-
tral. the Delaware and Hudson, the
Central Vermont, the Rutland, and -
the Great Northern railways.

Two of the leading hotels of
Montreal are chosen for illustration.
The Windsor, on the corner of Dor-
chester street and Dominion Square,
Young Men's Christian Association Building. has a very commanding })OSitiOXL

facing the finest square in the city, and at the same time being in the centre of
the best part of the town and quite near the railway stations. It is, apparently,
popular with visitors to the city, and its four hundred rooms and magnificent
rotunda are invariably well filled. An immense concert-hall is situated in the
rear, where such artists as Madame Albani, Paderewski (not to speak of the
infant prodigies with the
foreign names) are to be
heard when they are visit-
ing this continent.

The other picture
shows the Place Viger
Hotel and Station of the
Canadian Pacific Railway,
this being one of the series
of magnificent hotels own-
ed and operated by that
company. The station oc-
cupies the site of the old
citadel, built in 1685,
which replaced the mill
erected by Maisonneuve

Art Gallery.
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in 1660. The hill on which it was built was levelled and presented to the city,
in 1821, by Earl Dalhousie, and the square thus formed was named after the
donor. 1In 1898, when the present station and hotel were opened, the square lost
its character as an open space, and is now used as freight-yards by the Canadian
Pacific Railway.

Amongst other first-class hotels are the St. Lawrence Hall, on St. James
street, near the Post Office : the Queen’s, opposite the Grand Trunk Station :
and the Turkish Bath, on McGill College avenue (an up-town hotel).

Coming now to buildings that have more of a social character, first place
must be given to the Young Men’'s Christian Association, on Dominion Square,
This is a very striking-looking building of red brick, faced with gray stone, and
is an institution that has accomplished an immeasurable amount of good in encour-
aging the physical, moral and social development of its members. The interior is
supplied with every requirement for carrying out this work : containing a first-
rate hall, reading-room, dainty parlour, library, lecture and class rooms, a splen-
did swimming-bath, and a gymnasium as near perfect as money can make it. A
limited number of cosily-furnished rooms can be rented by the members, and a
long list of applicants, waiting for a vacancy, is the surest sign of how valuable
they are regarded. Montreal was the first city in America to found a Young
Men’s Christian Association, and it has good reason to be proud of the result.

Another institution that has for its object the development of character,
although in a more limited degree, is the Art Gallery, on Phillips Square. T'his
belongs to the Art Association, founded, in 1860, by the late Bishop Fulford,
Unfortunately its appearance is spoiled by the shops that occupy the lower part,
as they distract the eye from the building, and give to it the aspect of a mere
block of stores. The association is indebted to the late Benaiah Gibb for the
site, the start of the collection, and sufficient money to erect the present gallery:,
Although containing no very valuable pictures as yet, there are several fine
examples of the Dutch school and an excellent nucleus for what will soon be a
collection worthy of the city. ILoan exhibitions take place from time to time,
when many art-treasures from Europe and the States are on view ; and art-classes
are held in the studios of the association, under the direction of competent mas-
ters, by which a complete course of study may be followed, at a very reasonable
fee. The membership-roll now stands at seven hundred and seventy-two, and the
number of visits to the gallery for the year 1902 was twenty-two thousand six
hundred and sixteen. 'There are several private collections in the city, owned by
different citizens, any one of which would alone do credit to a first-class art-gallery
of a large city.

The clubs of Montreal are many and varied, comprising social clubs, athletic
clubs, yacht clubs, hunt clubs, etc. The two chief social clubs are theSt. James’s
Club, on Dorchester street, and the Mount Royal Club, on Sherbrooke street—
snobbishly nicknamed the ‘* Millionaires’ Club.”’ “The former was established in




THE CHIEF BUILDINGS

72
1857, and has a membership of one hundred and fifty. The Mount Royal Club
was formed more recently, and does not encourage the admission of young mem-
bers. It occupies very handsome premises (at one time the residence of the late
Sir John Abbott), which, however, suffered very severely from fire in 1902. The
various athletic clubs will be referred to in the chapter on ** Sports and Pastimes,”’
with which they are so closely allied.

There are still a few more buildings of importance to mention before closing
the chapter with a brief description of the hospitals. The Board of T'rade building,
on St. Sacrament street, is but just completed (1903), being erected on the site of
the former structure, burned down in 19or. It contains two hundred and 'fifty
offices. and cost altogether about $600,000. The Fraser Institute, on the corner

St. James's Club.
of Dorchester and University
streets, is the only free public

library in the city, and was
established by the will of the late Hugh Fraser. Books may either be read on
ing a deposit of three dollars. 'The Mechanics’

1828, also contains a large library, not,

Mount Royal Club.

the premises or taken home on leav
Institute, on St. James street, founded in
however, free. The Natural History Society has a number of rare scientific
books and many valuable specimens, including a famous collection of Egyptian
antiquities and the most perfect collection of Canadian birds in the world. Bon-
secours Market, on the water-front, occupies the site of the palace of the French
Intendants, and part of it was at one time the City Hall. (The open-air market
on Jacques Cartier Square, which is one of the show-places of the city, is
described hereafter.) Then there are the insurance companies, with their tower-
ing office-buildings that dwarf everything beside them. Chief of these are the
New York Life, the Sun Life, the Guardian, the Royal, London and Lancashire,
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Liverpool, London and Globe, the Standard, the Canada Life. and the North
British and Mercantile. 'The Montreal Street Railway Company has very hand
some offices on Craig street, adjoining the new Bank of .\Inntrcui uxu-nsi(;n + and
the Montreal Stock Exchange has a noble building, of Grecian design, under way
on St. Francois Xavier street. Nor must the many fine retail stores be missed
such as Carsley’s, Birks’, Ogilvy’s, and, what is, perhaps, the handsomest n;'
them all, the Colonial House, facing Phillips Square, a magnificent red sandstone
building, the property of Henry Morgan & Co. Of theatres there are several
the Academy, on Victoria street, presenting plays by the leading American and
‘nglish companies ; the Theatre Francais, usually tenanted by Iirst-clnss innring
companies; whilst Proc- : .
tor’s Theatre is the /&

home of a stock-com- A
pany. The others cater
for the different tastes
of a mixed population.

T'he number of fine
hospitals in various
quarters of Montreal
bear testimony to the
benevolent character of
the citizens, and few
towns can show better
equipped institutions
for the relief of the sick
and suffering. First
and foremost must be
mentioned the Royal
Victoria Hospital, on
Pine avenue. This was
founded, in 1887, to commemorate the jubilee of the late Queen Victoria, and
was opened for the reception of the sick poor, of all races and creeds. on th;: .md
January, 1894. The founders were Lord Mount Stephen and Lord‘Strathcn.ln
who each contributed one million dollars for its erection. equipment and 011(1()\;‘:
ment. The hospital contains two hundred and twenty-five beds, and two thou-
sand eight hundred and fourteen indoor patients were treated in 19o2, besides
twenty-two thousand attendances in the outdoor department. ‘The cqui].nnc;xt o‘f
the operating-theatre and surgical departments are equal to any in the world, and
the hospital has an isolated pavilion for infectious cases, a medical elcct.r‘ic'll
department and its own power-plant. The building itself is one of the lnn(‘l-
somest in the city ; and its magnificent situation on the mountain-side, well a‘\\-av
from all smoke and noise, and surrounded by some twenty acres of grounds,

Colonial House, Phillips Square.
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greatly assists the medical staff in their task of restoring health to the inmates.
The Montreal General Hospital, which was the first Protestant hospital in Mont-
real, comes next in importance. It was the outcome of the work carried on by the
Ladies’ Benevolent Society—an institution founded in 1818 to relieve the suffering
amongst the crowd of emigrants who were then pouring into the country. The
first home was a small building of four apartments, furnished with condemned
barrack bedding, and known as the House of Recovery. After a time, funds
permitted removal to a larger house on Craig street, which had accommodation
for twenty-four patients; and then, in 1822, the present building on Dorchester
street was opened. The Hoétel Dieu Hospital at the time was the only one in the
city, and had but very limited accommodation, and the need that existed for the
new hospital was proved by the fact of eight hundred and eighteen patients being
treated during the first year of its existence. T'he hospital has received a number
of handsome legacies and bequests at various times, and has been considerably
enlarged. During the year 1902 two thousand eight hundred and seventy-eight
indoor patients were treated, while nearly thirty-two thousand consultations were
held in the outdoor department.

The Hotel Dieu was originally situated on St. Paul street, near Place Royale,
being founded by Jeanne Mance in 1644 (see page 9), with the Sisters of St.
Joseph in charge. In 1861 the hospital and nunnery were removed to their pre-
sent site on Pine avenue, where they occupy a long, substantial stone building,
surrounded by large grounds within a high wall. The land was given by Benoit
and Gabriel Basset. On one side of the central chapel is the nunnery, and on the
other the hospital, to which a new wing has recently been added. Such sisters as
have taken the full vows never leave the nunnery. The hospital now has beds
for two hundred and thirty patients, and treats about twenty-five hundred every
year, of whom ninety-eight per cent. are Roman Catholics.

The Western Hospital is quite a modern institution, being founded in 1874,
to meet the requirements of the rapidly growing districts of St. Henri, St.
Cunegonde, ete. It is situated on an open piece of ground that extends from
Dorchester street to St. Catherine street, just within the city limits. 'There is
urgent need for the enlargement of the present building, as the ever-growing
number of manufactories moving out to the western limits of the city makes a
well-equipped and modern hospital in their vicinity a vital necessity.

T'wo other hospitals may be mentioned—the Notre Dame Hospital, on Notre
Dame street, near Place Viger Station, and the Maternity Hospital, on St. Urbain
street. Besides the hospitals, there are a number of homes, asylums and orphan-
ages (conducted both by Protestants and Catholics), covering rescue work, the
care of those who are incapable, the protection of woman and children, ete.

The Roman Catholics are especially to the fore in providing for orphans, the
maim and aged of both sex, and have a number of immense buildings in different
parts of the city for this purpose.
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CHAPTER VII.

THE SQUARES AND PARKS

‘Qi()N'I‘RI‘Z:\L is but moderately well off in the way of public squares,

) although the magnificent Mountain Park, in the rear of the city,
makes up for any shortcomings elsewhere. Of the public squares
reserved as refreshing resting-places in the midst of

the city,
Dominion Square is by far the largest and most beautiful. and
around it can be seen some of the most important buildings, such as St. James
Cathedral, the Young Men's Christian Association, Windsor Hotel, Canadian
Pacific Railway Station, and St. George’s Church. The square is cut into two
sections by Dorchester street, facing which is the Macdonald statue
1895), erected to the memory of the late Sir John A. Macdonald, Premier of
Canada and one of the ‘‘ Fathers of Confederation.’”” The statue stands beneath
a huge canopy, which is surmounted by a figure of Canada encircled by the nine
Provinces of the Dominion; as a Macdonald
memorial, there is hardly enough “Macdonald®
aboutit. Thetwocannons, facing Dorchester
street, were captured from the Russians
during the Crimean war and presented
to Canada by the British Government.
Dominion Square was at one time the
Catholic Cemetery, and it is only of late
years that the city has gone to any ex-
pense in the beautifying of the grounds.
It has now, every summer, a most mag-
nificent display of flowers and shrubs,
and is a charming place in which to sit
for a brief period of rest or conversation.
Another pleasant little breathing-place
up-town is Phillips Square, around which are

(unveiled in

Dominion Square.
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situated the Art Gallery, Christ Church Cathedral, the Colonial
House, etc. Although covered with fine trees, there are no seats—

a drawback that should be easily remedied.
Passing through this square to Beaver
Hall Hill, there is seen at the foot a
shady garden, with fountains playing
in the midst. T'his is known as Victoria
Square, from the beautiful bronze
statue of her late Majesty Queen Vic-
toria which stands at the south end.
Surrounded on three sides by lofty
buildings and almost in the heart of the
city, its pleasant shade is particularly
appreciated. (The illustration gives a
winter view of the square, and shows
St. James Cathedral on the extreme
left and St. Andrew’s Church on the right. The building in the centre, with the
spire, is the old Y. M. C. A., now the offices of the Lachine Rapids Hydraulic
and Land Company.) This square was originally the old Haymarket, the name
being changed, in 1860, in honour of the Queen, during the Prince of Wales’
visit to the city. At one time it was the northwest limit of the city ; and the
sloping land extending back to Mount Royal, now occupied by streets and ave-
nues, was then dotted, here and there, with the country-houses of the more
wealthy traders. This square has been the scene of some of the worst fires in
Montreal, to which fact the total destruction of St. Patrick's Hall and the
warehouses of Greenshields & Sons and Thomas May & Co. bear testimony.

Continuing eastward, the next square to show its refreshing

Macdonald Statue

green amidst the sur-
rounding buildings is
the Place d’Armes.
Here, one is indeed on
historic ground, and
the tablets on the sur-
rounding walls mark
places famous in the
history of the town.
(Great praise is due
to the Numismatic
and Antiquarian So-
ciety of Montreal for
the excellent work
they have done in res-

Victoria Square.
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cuing the sites of old landmarks from oblivion, and marking the
scenes of historical events by neat marble tablets affixed to the
walls of the buildings in various parts of the city.)
On the Imperial Building a tablet reads: ** Near this
square, afterwards named Place d’ Armes, the found-
ers of Ville Marie first encountered the Iroquois,
whom they defeated, Chomedy de Maisonneuve
killing the chief with his own hands, 3oth March,
1644.”" From a tablet on the Bank of Montreal
we learn. that ‘‘the stone fortifications of Ville
Marie extended from Dalhousie Square through
this site to McGill street, thence south to Com-
missioners street, and along the latter to the
before-mentioned square. Began 1721 by Chausse-gros de Léry. Demolished
1817.”” Americans will find interest in a house on the south-east corner of the
square, for ‘‘here lived, in 1675, Daniel de Gresolon, Sieur Duluth, one of the
explorers of the upper Mississippi, after whom the city of Duluth was named :"
also in another house, a little further east, distinguished by a tablet reading : ** In
1694 here stood the house of La Mothe Cadillac, the founder of Detroit.”’ Place
d’ Armes was originally the cemetery in which the first pioneers were buried, later
on becoming the chief square of the town and the parade-ground, in turn, of the
French, American, and British troops. It was not until 1836 that the city acquired
the land from the Seminary, and many years elapsed before any attempt was made
to lay out a garden. The Seminary (illustrated on page 7) still preserves the
same appearance as when built, in 1710, except for the loss of a wing at the east-
ern end, which was demolished in
1851, three years after the erec-
tion of the new addition
next the church. This
new addition was built to
accommodate the teach-
ers of the Seminary, but,
being in too confined a
situation, another large
puilding was erected, in
1854, on the hill behind
the Montreal College.
In the vaults of the
Seminary are kept t.he
old registers of the city
from its commencement,
pesides a number of

Maisonneuve Monument.

Place d’Armes,
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priceless literary treasures relating to the
history of the city, and Canada generally.
The interior of the building has remained the
same for two hundred years ; and the low flag-
stone passages, the signs of immense strength
in the building (even the partition-walls being
two to three feet thick), the Louis Quatorze
clocks, the old chairs that came out from
France in the seventeenth century—all mark
the building as belonging to an age past and
gone. The severe austerity of the Sulpician’s
life is evidenced by the floors, bare walls, and
plain hard chairs and beds alone to be seen,
the only carpet or upholstered chair in the
entire building being in the Bishop’s apart-
ments—a bed-room and sitting-room reserved
for such bishop as may visit the Seminary.
RS DU S Malowis M The following interesting tablets contain a

great deal of important history in brief space: ‘‘The Seminary of St. Sulpice,
founded at Paris by Monsieur Jacques Olier, 1641 ; established at Ville-Marie
1657, Monsieur Gabriel de Queylus, superior ; Seigneurs of the Island of Mont-
real, 1663 ;"' and ‘‘ Frangois Dollier
de Casson, first historian of Montreal,
captain under Marshal de Turenne,
then priest of St. Sulpice during
thirty-five years. He died in 1701,
curé of the parish.”’ Besides I’ Abbé
Troie, the parish priest, there are
twenty-four priests living in the Sem-
inary, who serve in Notre Dame
Church, the Nazareth Church, Bon-
secours Church, the Grey Nunnery,
Congrégation de Notre Dame, etc.
The statue that stands in the centre
of the square proper is about the hand-
somest piece of sculpture on the con-
tinent, and represents Maisonneuve
in the cuirass and costume of the
seventeenth century, holding the
fleur-de-lys banner. On the granite
pedestal is inscribed ‘‘ Paul de Chom-
edy de Maisonneuve, fondateur de

The Court House Garden

.
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Montréal, 1642.”" Set in the base of the pedestal are four bas-reliefs, representing
(1) Maisonneuve killing the Iroquois chief ; (2) the founding of Ville-Marie :
3) the death of Lambert Closse—one of the soldiers of the ‘‘ Holy Family of
Jesus, Mary and Joseph'' (see
page 11), who fell while bravely
defending some colonists attacked
by the Iroquois, 6th February,
1662 ; (4) the death of Dollard
(see page 12). At each corner
is a life-size figure representing,
respectively, an Iroquois, a sol
.dier, a colonist with his dog, and
Jeanne Mance tying up the
wounded hand of an Indian
child. Two large “sky scraping”
structures have lately been erect
ed on the west side of the square ;
and, with the New York Life
building on the east, the Bank of
Montreal and the Imperial build
ing on the north, and the huge church of Notre Dame on the south, the old, low,
h]dck-wallcd Seminary, which for two hundred and fi fty years has been so indis
solubly linked with this square, will soon be lost amongst the towering build
ings that surround it.
Continuing east
along Notre Dame street,
a shady little square can
be noticed in front of the
Court House, and al-
though not so generally
used by the public, it is
none the less welcome to
the eye. These glimpses
of green turf and trees
in the heart of the busi-
ness part of the city are
so refreshing that it is a
wonder even more open
spaces are not thus util-
ized. At the further end
of the square is a large
bottle, standing some

Jacques Cartier Square on Market-day.

Garden of the Seminary of St, Sulpice.
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twenty feet high and used as a newspaper kiosk. 'The City Fathers, in their fond
care of the people's moral welfare, are deliberating as to the advisability of having

this removed, it being considered as out of
keeping with the reputation of the city.
The column, that may be noticed in
the background, was erected by
public subscription, in 1809, to
the memory of Nelson, and the
panels around the base represent
the battles of the Nile, Copen
hagen and Trafalgar. Between
the monument and the river lies
Jacques Cartier Square, in the
neighbourhood of which are some
of the oldest houses in Montreal.
St. Amable street (see page 14) is on
the right-hand side near the bottom of the
hill, and in close proximity, on St. Thérese,
St. Gabriel, St. Jean Baptiste, Vaudreuil and St. Vincent streets, old houses may
be found, still in good preservation, that were erected nearly two hundred and
fifty years ago. The square on market days is the scene of one of the quaintest
gatherings in Montreal, an open-air market being held on Tuesdays and Fridays.
The country farmers and /Aabitants drive in on the preceding day and sleep on, in,
or under their carts until sunrise, when the trading begins. Then commences the
jabbering, the gesticulating, the haggling over odd cents and a host of little inci-
dents typical of the provincial French-Canadian. In addition to food-stuff, there
can be bought all kinds of home-made articles, such as rag-carpets,

baskets and chairs, native-grown tobacco, etc. ; and a
. stroll through the bargaining crowd
is interesting in the extreme.

On the other side of the City
Hall is a large open space known
as the Champ de Mars, of which a

Lafontaine Park.

picture was shown on page 25. This
was the military parade-ground
during the days of the British
garrison, and is now used by the
volunteers, etc. The old city
walls ran along the middle of
the square, the foundation of
which still remain, although hid-
den from view below the ground.

St. Louis Square.
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Below the Champ de Mars, but further
east, is Viger Square, facing the Canadian
Pacific Railway Station. It was named after
Jacques Viger, the first mayor of Montreal.
and is very popular with the French residents
of the district. When a band plays in the
evening, the large crowds that attend to listen
to the music prove the appreciation with
which it is regarded. It is a great pity that
the musical talent of the various regiments
and societies in Montreal cannot be utilized
more in this direction.

The latest acquisition to the public spaces
of Montreal lies on the east of Amherst street,
just above Sherbrooke, and consists of about
eighty-four acres. It has been christened
Lafontaine Park, and only recently taken over
by the city, the space being formerly known | '
as Logan’s Farm, and the name being changed 7 Westmount Park,
in deference to the wish of the French majority on the City Council. It is, at
present, not quite completed, but promises to be the prettiest square in the city,
when the work now in progress be finished. One half consists of a deep hollow,
surrounded by sloping banks, and is to have a series of terraces artistically
arranged, with ornamental ponds below. The other half is on a higher level,

and is tastefully laid out
with trees and flower-
beds, and has an elegant
band-stand. A fine
riding-track extends the
entire length of the park.
The large building on
the east side of the park
is the Jacques Cartier
Normal School, erected
in 1872,

The daintiest little
square in the city—St.
Louis—is the next to be
viewed. ‘This lies on the
west side of St. Denis
street, a little above Sher-
brooke. Not very large,

Viger Square.
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and nothing imposing about it, yet it gives
one the impression of being just perfect. A
lake occupies part of the grounds, with a
large fountain playing in the centre, as well
as one in each corner. Many stately trees
give shade to the seats that are placed around,
and the handsome turretted houses surround-
ing the square add to, rather than detract
from, the beauty of the spot.

Several smaller squares and open spaces
are to be found in various parts of the city,
but none of them call for special mention.
The park at Westmount, however, deserves
more than a passing word, as it is exceed-
ingly pretty and preserves many natural
beauties. The opportunity offered, by a
small wood and one or two ponds, was taken

hold of and made the most of : and now,

Drive in Mt. Royal Park.

rustic walks and bridges, sequestered nooks
for seats, and a long, narrow pond (that has all the effect of a stream) com-
bine to make the Westmount Park a credit to its originators.

Two parks remain to be described—
two parks of such widely different char-
acter, and yet each so absolutely perfect,
that Montreal stands unrivalled in the
position of possessing the two loveliest
parks in the world.

Mount Royal, rising in the rear of
the city to a height of over nine hun-
dred feet, is dedicated to the people in
perpetuity, being acquired, in 1860, from
various private proprietors, as a result
of popular outcry at one of their number
felling the timber and thereby greatly
disfiguring the side. Four hundred and
sixty-two acres are laid out with drives,
rustic steps, seats, etc., and there are
footpaths leading off into every direc-
tion, following which one can wander
for miles amidst a luxuriant under-
growth of ferns and flowers. From the
summit such a glorious view is to be

Incline Railway to top of Mount Royal.
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()])l{lil'lcd that words but faintly suggest the rare grandeur of the se

(.)nc sulu-.f:lr away below—stretches the city, with il;' olittering (h,,:. \‘H.H;.A : g
its long line of shipping, its massive public i"\'titmi(:,\- its \:lh\ ‘“]"”“ Spires,
.trccs.; f\lul beyond, the gleaming waters of the St. l.:l\\'rx'-nu- 11..‘\“ (:” "v.\\rn'«l =
irresistibly, towards the great ocean that one’'s eyes almost ‘nn “ "’*?"l”“".l‘ : '»"”
.m descry. In the background, gaunt, rugged ],L.;,j\., rise u ,“.“m( ;']“T( “l),”-\l‘ \“.lw
in former ages belched forth fire and smoke, and \\'lli;‘)l llm\\' -nll]“ I‘-‘]“”\ g
:uul.hclplcss. still defiantly rear their heads towards the sky 'I\.\h“lm”i'k e
again are to be seen the Green Mountains of \'L'I‘lm)llt. :u.nl. tlu-] ;tl"””;(l’-?m‘k
New VYork State. To the west lies Nuns’ Island ; and a glim ,'4( a1
the foam-crested i “ipee 78 to, hethed of

waves of the La-
chine Rapids, be-
yond which stretch
fertile fields that
gradually dissolve
into the haze of the
horizon. ’To the
north, the marble
statuary of the
cemeteries may be
discerned in the
immediate fore-
ground, with the
Ottawa river fur-
ther back, showing
like a silvery thread
through the trees,
as it flows round
the island to join
the St. Lawrence ;
and in the far away distance lies the rugged Laurentian range, which mar
beginning of those unknown wilds that stretch in unhroizm? ;01" mllx g l']w
away north. Truly did Jacques Cartier name this pl;n& & \I(lmt";l‘( L.'t()”lhc far
The su'mm.it can be reached by several lovely Carri"‘gt‘-r:()'l(]q .\-0'\1‘} . .

the mountain-side, intersected, here and there, l')\' more dirt:t‘t‘f“”‘( ing round
the eastern side is the ‘‘ Incline Railway ' or ‘¢ :\Iountain 1-'10\"(:‘)L‘l‘);|t]m '( 2
from Fletcher’s Field), by which special cars carry passengers 'tn t; nr (Sm”m.’%
for a small fee. De Maisonneuve is reported to have m:;deAq ,-l]rL. I"(mk'“"l
top, in 1643, in fulfilment of a vow made in the winter on thL: ()}~l‘ktllll‘lgc =
flooding of the river, which swept up to the foot of the towr (;‘_%lm_‘ of a great
B Belicved, stayed by prayers. 1 palisades, and was.

High-level Reservoir, Mount Royal Park
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St. Helen’s Island (so named by Champlain after his wife) lies opposite the
city, and is reached by a ferry at frequent intervals from the wharf opposite
Bonsecours Church. As a place for an ideal afternoon’s

outing this park is unrivalled, as there can be found
amusements to suit all—from the young people who
love the merry-go-round, to the weary city man

who wishes quiet and solitude. At the lower
end of the island is an open-air swimming-bath,
built out in the St. Lawrence and belonging to
the Montreal Swimming Club. Interesting rel-
ics of byegone days remain in the form of an old
loopholed blockhouse, situated amidst the trees, and
f the ruins of Baron de Longueuil’s residence at the back
SHe-OI4 Riockhouse. of the present restaurant. The Longueuil family
acquired the island in 1688, but it was sold by them to the Government in 1818,
for military purposes, The greater part of the island was granted by the Govern-
ment to the city, in 1874, as a public park, but the north-east corner is still reserved
for military purposes, being surrounded on the land side by a high palisade.
On this island was played the last scene but one in the drama of the French rule
in Canada, as on the night previous to the surrender of the city to the British,
the Marquis de Lévis, commanding the French army, burned his flags in the pre-
sence of his troops, rather than allow them to fall into the hands of the enemy.

On S$t. Helen’s Island.
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CuAaPTER VIII
SPORTS AND PASTIMES

JIINTERESTING as Montreal may be in historical recollections. in
4| fine buildings, and in beautiful parks and surroundings, it is the
health-giving properties of the climate and the innumerable attrac
tions of outdoor life that give to the city its principal charm. One
instinctively associates the word ‘‘ Canada’’ with vigour, health and
sport ; maybe from actual knowledge of the people, or from the memory of some
delightful excursion into the Laurentian hills, or, perhaps, from the many vivid
pen-pictures of various writers. FEach season has its own peculiar charms,
although, from a purely city point of view, winter easily holds first place.
During the summer, people are divided between the lake districts, the Gulf resorts,
and the thousand and one holiday haunts in different parts of the country ; but in
winter, all efforts at amusement and recreation are necessarily concentrated in the
immediate vicinity of their homes.

Winter is, indeed, hailed with delight, everyone being weary of the preval-
ence of mud and the lowering sky, and oppressed by the sight of decaying
vegetation, that tells of summer dead and gone. ‘There is a longing for the
sound of the dear tinkle of the sleigh-
bells, and for the sight of the pure white
mantle of snow, that hides the dreary ground
until the young green shoots appear next
spring. Canadians (with the exception of
a few individuals, here and there, who,
owing to the ill-advised advertising of their
country in the past, are now hysterically
irritated at the mere mention in print of
the word ‘‘snow’’) fully realize the bless-
ing of the deep, long-continued snow, the
value of which, even if it did no more than
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keep down dust, would be priceless to health and comfort. But it also shields and
fertilizes the ground, distributes water gradually, provides broad bridges over
rivers and lakes, and allows the easiest and most pleasant of all possible travelling.
The first steady snowfall is keenly, almost anxiously, awaited ; until finally,
some morning you are awakened by the sense that an evenly diffused and pleasant
light is in the bedroom. With something
like a thrill, you recognize that a friend
has come back, and you spring up and
go to the window. The ground is white,
the houses over the way seem to snuggle
cosily down as they did not yesterday ;
they appear lower, because their roofs,
lintels, steps and sills are capped with
The Westmount Rink. adornments of the ground’s new colour.

Little fleeces are falling steadily, so shrouding the distance that the buildings, the
trees and the sky all seem blended into a new agreeable intimacy. A sort of
enchantment prevails, diminishing the immense size of the world, and making its
visible people more cheery. Passers-by step out briskly, their cheeks freshened ;
and the filaments of the girls’ hair hold little decorative particles of white, while
the enhanced brightness of their eyes surely denotes new gladness. The small
boys are pelting one another, and taking an occasional shy at cabbies and police-
men, who have not the heart to protest angrily against what they once liked to
do themselves, and what they wish the dignity of manhood would permit them to
do now. Over yonder, some little girls, red-sashed and red-stockinged, are out
with their sleds. For pure glee, they skip rather than slide ; and one can see in
their looks a happy assurance that winter is come once more. All the world is
merry with tinkling of bells

and laughter ; and so dear
is the prospect outdoors, that
you grudge the time given
to breakfast, the newspaper,
the day’s work; and, in
fact, everything that re-
strains you from the prime
Canadian duty of proceeding
to rejoice manifestly in the
SNow.

It is difficult to say
which is the most popular of
the many different forms of
amusements indulged in dur-

ing the winter months, as

A Drive Round the Mountain.

e
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each, in turn, appeals to a particular section of the people. The three most in
evidence are sleighing, skating and snowshoeing. Sleighing in the city proper
is, of course, a necessity to those who wish to move expeditiously without
taking the cars,—but a necessity that is at the same time a pleasure. It
is during a ‘“drive’’ round the mountain, however, that the full enjoy-
ment of speeding along over the crisp snow, to the
sound of the tinkling bells, is to be appre-
ciated ; or, better still, when a party is
formed, some moonlight night, to drive
out to Lachine or the ‘‘ Back River’’
and partake of a merry supper there
before returning to the city.

Skating is an amusement that can
be enjoyed by both old and young, as no
great activity is required, and the number of

: rinks, both covered and open, makes it a very

Finish of a Skating Race for the American % ¢
Championship on the M. A. A. Rink. easy matter to find some sheet of excellent
skating ice in every quarter. The most celebrated rinks are the ** Victoria '’
immediately behind the Windsor Hotel, one of the finest covered rinks in the
world, the Montagnard, and the Westmount Rink, belonging to the Montreal
Amateur Athletic Association. This association, generally spoken of as the
M. A. A. A, is by far the most important and influential of the many amateur
athletic associations in the city, and its members number over two thousand. It
was incorporated in 1881, and included all the leading clubs at that time, amongst
others being the Montreal Snowshoe Club (the old “‘ Tuque Bleue''), the Mont-
real Lacrosse Club, the Montreal Football Club, etc., and it has always taken a
strong lead in everything relating to sport. The list of members includes the
names of the best known men in Montreal, and the headquarters are situated in a
handsome building on Mansfield street. Their grounds at Westmount are very
extensive, being used in summer for tennis, lacrosse, cricket and football ; while
in winter the greater part is flooded and converted into a rink, which is invariably
crowded with a merry throng of skaters. Here take.s place the skating champion-
ship of America, records bein.g m?de 2‘lt every meeting, only to be broken, how-
ever, at the next. At the Victoria Rink are to be seen the famous fancy-dress
carnivals, which, with-

‘

out exception, make
the most picturesque
sight in America.
The huge hall is deco-
rated with streaming
banners and countless
Chinese lanterns, and

Trotting Races at Delorimier Park.
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ablaze with electric lights, while on the ice may be
seen every variety of quaint and gorgeous costumes—
from a devil to an abbé, and a savage redskin
to a stately monarch in all his regal splendour.
Snowshoeing is a most fas-
cinating pastime, and one that
affords more variety than
any other, by reason of the
fact that it is not confined
to any particular ground.
Off you go, wherever the
fancy takes you, tramping
over the deep snow as safely
as though on a macadam road,

A Tramp Round the Mountain (St. George Snowshoe Club).

the broad surface of the snow-
shoes taking you easily over places that are otherwise inaccessible. There are a
number of snowshoe clubs in the city, chief of which are the old T'uque Bleue,
the St. George, and Le Montagnard. The various clubs arrange ‘‘tramps’’
twice a week, as a rule, with now and again an amalgamated ‘‘ meet’’ or torch-
light procession. The ladies are as enthusiastic as the men, and in their pic-
turesque blanket costumes or jerseys, their red or blue tuques and their multi-
coloured sashes, make as bonny a picture of unaffected girlhood as can be seen
all the world over. A tramp over the mountain at night is something that will
live in the memory for many a year. First, a scramble up the mountain side,
with laughter and jokes at someone floundering in a deep patch of soft snow :
then, a cut across the road at the top before defiling through the dark, gloomy
wood, which, however, soon echoes with the merriment of the party. Next comes

Hockey Match at the Victoria Rink.
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the supper at Lumpkin’s, with songs and music, and then home again to the city,
which is now settling into the silence of midnight. Then there is the ‘‘bounce,"”’
when a new member is seized by ready hands and tossed right up in the air, to

be caught again safely as he descends; and a ‘‘club-night,” when the members
and their guests spend the evening at the club-houses, with songs, dances and
recitations, surrounded on all sides by trophies of every kind of sport.

Another amusement once more in vogue is tobogganing, which, however,
requires a certain amount of nerve. The small boy is in his element here. Any
thing from a twenty-dollar toboggan to a stave from a broken barrel (the latter

The Park Toboggan Slide.

from preference as being the more exciting) will serve him, and away he goes,
whizzing down the hill, perfectly happy. Regular slides are built in places, with
the snow well looked after, so that a perfect surface is always kept ; and the speed
attained when descending one of these is marvellous. Toboggans, large enough
to hold four or five people, go by like a flash, and, for those who enjoy a sensation,
nothing can be more exhilarating. The Park Slide, illustrated here, is the best
of all the slides, and is situated on the western slope of the mountain : and it is
quite a common thing to see men, well on in the sixties, spend the whole of an
afternoon in shooting down the slide and pulling their toboggans up the hill again,
repeating this performance ten or twelve times. It is no light test of a girl’s
pluck to fly down a hill, lying full length on a toboggan, face downward : and
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yet, not only one but scores can be seen doing this.
The pastimes mentioned, so far, may be said to
be practised by everyone, but there are a number
of games which require more or less skill, and
these are brought to a high state of excellence
in Montreal. Chief of these is hockey—the fastest
and most exciting game in the world. It is
quite impossible for any one who has not
seen hockey played to realize the ter-

rific pace, the lightning quickness of
movement, the presence of mind, the
accuracy of eye, and, above all, the
steady nerve that is required. The
Arena is usually the battle-ground for

the cup matches, and on these occa-
sions the game is witnessed by thousands.
One exception must be taken to hockey, and
that is the rough play indulged in; and this
remark applies also to lacrosse, and even football, as played in Montreal. In
England, athletics are a part of a public-school boy’s education, and the first
lesson taught is to ‘‘ play on the ball.”” In Montreal the principle appears to be
‘“go for the man,”’ a principle that destroys the spirit of true sport, and cannot
fail to eventually bring any game into disrepute.

Another sport requiring an extraordinary steady nerve is ice-yachting—a
sport that is necessarily limited to those of sufficient means to afford it. Races
take place on Lake St. Louis at times, and the exhilaration of rushing through
the keen air at railway speed, or even faster, and the spice of more than ordinary
danger, combine to make ice-yachting one of the most fascinating of sports to
those of a venturesome\ disposition. # Considering the important places that
the Scotchmen hold in
the community, it is
not surprising to find
that curling has firmly
established itself in
the city ; in fact, the
curlers were about
the first sportsmen to
found a club in Mont-
real, the Montreal
Curling Club being
established in 1807.
This club, as well as

Ice-yachting on Lake St. Louis,

Old-time Curling
on the
St. Lawrence.
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the Caledonian and the Thistle Curling
Clubs, now nobly upholds the great
Scotch game in Canada—playing it a
great deal too well, according to the
opinion of the Scottish curling team
who visited this country early in 1903.
Some years ago the game used to be
played in the open-air, on the frozen
St. Lawrence, but it is now almost
entirely confined to covered rinks in
the city and suburbs.

With the mention of horse-racing
(which comes in for a good deal of
attention during the winter, when some very speedy trotters turn out for the
races at Delorimier Park), the list of winter sports and pastimes is about com-
plete, and those belonging to the summer months may be touched upon, first
place being given to the national game of Canada, 7.e., lacrosse., 'This is a game
second only to hockey for speediness and excitement. Although it can l)c. seen
played in many places, a League game on the Shamrock Athletic Grounds is the
ideal game to watch. One must, indeed, be a phlegmatic individual if the blood
is not set tingling during the course of a lacrosse game. The swift runs of the
lithe players ; the rapid passes, by which the prospect of the game is changed in
an instant; the marvellous use of the ;
«tsticks,’”’ by which the ball is caught
or thrown while the player is run-
ning at full speed; the wonderful
accuracy with which the ball is shot
from the net of the ‘‘stick’’ at goal—
a1l combine to work the onlookers up
into such a state of excitement that
they keep almost silent; and it is
only when an extra fine piece of play
takes place, or a goal is obtained,
that the tension is relieved, and the
roar from the thousands of throats
tells how acutely they were following the game.

As regards athletics, there is not a very great
deal of outdoor training done, the various gymna-
sinms and outdoor recreations doing all that is neces-
sary. Onthe Montreal Amateur Athletic Association
Grounds, however, there is a fine cinder-track,
where, in alternate years, the Canadian amateur

A Game of Lacrosse,

Athletics at the M. A, A, A,
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championships are contested. Cricket does not appear to be much favoured, but
baseball is getting more patronized by the small boy every year. A professional
baseball team was organized
in 1897, and has splendid
grounds near the Arena. In
1898 Montreal held the cham-
pionshipof the Eastern League,
but since then the team has
fallen on evil days and now is
nomore. Football(bothRugby
and Association) is extremely
popular, but no very high de-
gree of skill has yet been

reached, nor is likely to be

until the teams play more

together and not so much man
against man. ILawn-tennis, Dixie Golf Club.

racquets, quoits, polo, bicycling, shooting, swimming, are all repre-

sented by their respective clubs, and a horse-race meeting is usually held once a
vear at Bel-Air. The ‘‘sport of kings’’ does not, however, reach a very high
level at this meeting, and the book-makers in attendance are certainly very far from
being actuarial experts. When three horses are running, a favourite rate of odds is
as follows : 3 to 2 on one horse, even money against the second horse, and 3 to 2,
or, perhaps, 2 to 1, against the third. If this mathematical absurdity in the way
of odds was offered to any other than a Montreal race-course crowd, the book-
makers would assuredly meet with an end more tragic than agreeable.

If horse-racing be not at its best in Montreal, fox-hunting most certainly is,
the city possessing the original hunt-club of America—the Montreal Hunt—
which was formed in 1820, and now owns
the finest club-house and kennels in
Canada. These are situated be-
hind the mountain, and the
runs which take place in dif-

ferent parts of the island are
many and glorious. Cub-
hunting gets a good share
of attention, and every year
the members of the hunt hold
steeplechases and other races.
The Canadian Hunt Club have
their headquarters at Slocum Lodge,

on the other side of the river, at

= Royal St. Lawrence
Yacht Club,
Dorval.




SPORTS AND PASTIMES 5
Q!

St. Lambert, and their annual steeplechases, which are among the chief sporti
events ?f the JEuT are greatly appreciated by the farmers around S s
“dhe S m,]d royal game of golf”’ is by no means neglected, two very
popular clubs being in existence. The Royal Montreal Golf Club h'hr an e tl
lent eighteen-hole course at Dixie (a few miles out of the city) \‘\"itl‘l )'tM(
charming club-house, and the Metropolitan Club has a fine n.in'c-]m]- ‘l, m(i\:
course on the mountain-side, near the Incline Railway. The Outre . n‘m."'l.
Club, organized in 1902, is referred to later. : ety
Boating and yachting have been left to the last, as they are so closely allied
with the subject of the next chapter ; but they are I"‘OMI;]\- th;- nu,;: ya u.«‘
of all summer pastimes. All S st popular
along the lake-front,
a few miles from
the city, are to be '
found summer-resi-
dences of the Mont-
realers, from the
magnificent man-
sion of the railroad
president to the
little cottage of one
of his junior clerks.
These extend from
Lachine right away
round the island, and
Lake St. Louis affords a meet of the Montreal
one of the most perfect ANRE Cnb:
sheets of water for sailing purposes in Amer-
ica. Here are sailed the races for the Seawan-
haka Cup, a trophy for twenty-footers, which was
won from the Seawanhaka-Corinthian Yacht Club of New
York by G. Herrick Duggan, some few years ago, and which various clubs of
United States have vainly endeavoured to win back. The Roval ;‘.t I”& . ‘lhc‘
Yacht Club is the premier boating club of Canada, and has -i;% gl it ia“ o
Dorval, which is the centre of the yachting world around Montxreal‘ (;111)_§1011w1 at_
afternoons in the summer there is nearly always a regatta at one ('>f the‘lalf:ur(- e
resorts ; and, as they are seldom more than a mile or two apart, it means ?1 3
centration of every description of yacht, row-boat or launch in ;111(1 '1;0 S dle con-
the other of the lake-side points. The regattas afford a great de;] ollfnf one or
amusement, and as several city firms have their own boating clubs, wl _l;n an.(l
part in the races, the interest is general. The war-canoe race s aiw 1.1.C1 t.akc
popular event and one that attracts much attention. Ry & very
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Lake St. Louis is not the only suburban resort at which @ Ty
boating can be indulged in, St. Rose, Back River, St. Y
Lambert, Vaudreuil, etc., all having their own particular
attractions, such as sailing, rowing, swimming, wild-
duck shooting, etc. Facilities for wild-fowl shooting are
great indeed, the shores of the Ottawa and the St. Law-
rence being the haunts of thousands of wild-duck and
many other birds, wherever the shores are low and well
fringed with reeds ; or, if it be considered preferable to
leave all traces of metropolitan life behind, a short
journey to the Laurentian Hills gives easy opportunity
to embark in a canoe, and, following some noble stream,

penetrate into the heart of a :
virgin country well away from :
civilization, where, with rod
and gun, the sportsman may
have all the untrammelled free-
dom of backwood life, which,
after the mad whirl of twen- beneath the
tieth century business life, is amount of snow

worth so much in the way of that covers them. It is
evident in the brilliant-

coloured sash that encir-
cles the waist of fur-
coated men, telling of
the pride feltin being an
active member of some
snowshoe-club ; and it
is evident in the lithe
form and healthy colour
of the Canadian girl,
whose thorough enjoy-
ment in every branch of sport does
so much to make them popular.
Shooting and fishing are deserving
of more than passing mention, and
so will have a chapter to themselves ;
but, even without taking credit for the
facilities with which these may be reached, it is
safe to say that no other city in the world has so
many charming summer recreations, nor so many
grand winter sports and pastimes, as Montreal.

and caps almost
unrecognizable

bodily and mental recuperatipn.

It is the love of unfettered
outdoor recreation that has
done so much to form the Ca-
nadian character. Even as
children, it is evident in the
gleeful abandon with which the |
wee dots plunge and roll ’/-
in the snow, their :
chubby faces merry A%«
with mischief, and e 3
their clothes, hair

wlid-duck Shooting on the
Ottawa River,
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CHAPTER IX.
FISHING AND SHOOTING

N the variety and abundance of fishing and shooting, obtainable at
a minimum of expense and trouble, Canada has no rival . and some
of the best game districts in the Dominion are either in the imme-
diate vicinity of, or at no great distance from, the metropolis.
Montreal is particularly suitable as a starting-point for sportsmen

from the States or elsewhere, as here the finishing-touches can be given to outfits.

and the field of adventure can be reached within an hour or two's journey,
There is necessarily considerable difference between the resources of one field
and those of another. A particular locality may be more promising for certain
kinds of game than the rest—one good for caribou, but scant of moose ; one well
streaked with trout-streams, but affording less excellent bass-fishing ; one unsur-
assed for wild-fowl, but not equal to others for grouse : while there are others

which hold many species of game, and which will repay the organization of a

camping-party. Other plac.es may be shot over during the day, permitting the

sportsman to returp to his
temporary home at night, for
some sportsmen are not con-
tent to ‘‘rough’’ it, however
richly they may be rewarded,
but requireall the accessories of
civilization that can be reason-
ably obtained. Others, how-
ever, regard the camp, the oc-
casional inconveniences, and
the complete change in m-ode
of life as additional attractlfms
to the search for and securing
of their game. And life under

**Away from Civilization,"
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canvas in the wilds, or a week or two spent

canoeing among the lakes and streams

of the Laurentians, is, after all, to the

true worshipper of nature, far more
preferable than putting up at a
crowded tourist resort and sallying
forth every morning for a lazy,
easy-going day with the game of
the immediate surroundings.

T'o give even a bare outline of
the many hundred attractive spots
in the vicinity of Montreal would
be an impossibility, and so, beyond
drawing attention to some few spe
Lake Pisagonke, cially worthy of mention elsewhere, the Lau-

Shawinigan Club-house in distance. rentian district will alone be referred to.

Along the north shore of the St. Lawrence between Montreal and Quebec,
some miles inland, the rugged Laurentian range of mountains runs parallel to the
course of the river, and in that range rise the countless streams that feed the
multitude of lakes and rivers of the region, in most of which there can be obtained
some of the best speckled-trout, bass, grey-trout, and other game fishing in the
world. ‘This land is rough and wild in many places, and to fish it properly not
infrequently means ‘‘ roughing it,”’ but not to such an extent as to mar any
reasonable man’s enjoyment. SRt e Sy 2¥e S
For the brain-fagged and tired [ ; ]
business-man, the enthusiastic
gunner, the patient follower
of Isaak Walton, or the man
who likes a boat or canoe, this
district is an ideal place for a
vacation, and contains just the
out-of-the-way sort of spots
that the great crowd of hur-
ried vacation-seekers miss.
Old forests, peopled with great
patriarchs of the wood, cover
the hills, and, unlike many of
the more exploited ones, con-
tain plenty of game—and the
game is something more than
an occasional chipmunk, that

cheekily sits on a stone and

““Off for Sport.” Lake Pizagonke.
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chatters defiance at
the hunter. The lakes
abound with fish, and,
here and there, a swift
running brook babbles
of the trout which lie
in quiet little pools
along its course.

That the attrac
tions of the Lauren
tian streams and lakes
have been for some
time highly appreci
ated is evidenced by
the number of fish
and-game clubs al

ready established in

Lac Cabane—St. Adolphe de Howard. different parts of the
district, which own or lease immense tracts of country, with club-houses located
at different points. The best of these clubs are, however. controlled by sportsmen
from the United States, and it is time that the Canadian sportsman awoke to the
fact, that within a hundred miles of Montreal is a magnificent territory, of which
his neighbour from across the line is securing, every year, the best parts. The
streams and lakes leased to clubs or individuals cannot be fished by the public,
though, in most cases, persons properly introduced may obtain permission to
exercise the same rights as the members.

One of the most charming of clubs is chosen for representation here, although
the atmosphere of quiet peace and the soothing sense of calm experienced during
a sojourn within its enchanting confines is beyond any attempt at description.

The ILauren-

tian Club has a
membership of
about three hun-
dred, mostly hail-
ing from the
States, with head-
quarters on Lac-
A-la-Péche, a most
peautiful lake
some eight miles
north of St. Flore
(Great Northern

Lake Vermont—St. Bernard Fish and Game Club.
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Railway of Canada). The main club-house, built of logs, is a veritable ‘‘log-cabin
de luxe.” and contains a noble club-room, several bed-rooms, and detached dining-
hall and outhouses. Although the average man could not wish for better sport
than is to be found in Lac-d-la-Péche itself, the club has established camps, at
intervals of a day's journey, as far north as ninety miles from headquarters,
making it possible thereby to travel

comfortably, away beyond the Mat-
tawin river, through a territory teem-
ing with fish and game, and where
the spirit of Nature pervades every
thought and movement. Close to
the main club-house are two
smaller lakes, both con-
siderably above the level
of Lac-a-la-Péche. These
are reached by a good
trail over a hill behind
the house, and are known
as'T'rout Lake and Parker
[.ake, the latter being

Laurentian

Fish and

named after the resident
managing director, W.
H. Parker, Esq., a gen-
tleman who is one of the
greatest authorities on

Game Cly
the cly
roomi, and
the view
from the

erandal

fishing and shooting in
Canada, and who knows every mile of
country between the Gatineau and the St.
Maurice.

This is, indeed, the type of place for an
ideal holiday. Leaving all the worries of
city life behind, next day one is paddling
across the lake with a guide, making for the
north by lake and stream, with an occasional
““carry’’ or ‘‘portage’’ to stretch the legs
and give glimpses of sylvan beauties in all
their natural wildness. ’Then, when night
falls, one of the camps provides food and a
dry and comfortable bed ; or a merry even-
ing can be spent at the main club-house,
when the members succeed each other with
song, speech or story. What a contrast to
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the fashionable summer resort, with its

scandals, its petty quarrels, its frivol
ous affectations, its conceits and
its attempt at semi respectability !

Nearer in towards Montreal.
and a little to the north of

and Trout Lakes
pﬂ(rllfxf\rxn-ntian Fish and Game Club).

Charrette’s Mill, are several
other clubs. The Shawinigan
Club, with home on Lake Piza-
gonke, is situated in as lovely a
spot as can be found in the Pro-
vince. Back further flows the
Mattawin river, which can be ‘ ' .
followed down till it reaches the St. Maurice, twenty-six miles above Grand
Piles. Along its shores, moose, caribou and deer are very numerous, and fine
duck-shooting is to be had in the autumn. Nearer the railroad are
the club-houses of the Winchester Club and the Club des Souris. Some miles
nearer still to Montreal is another well-known club, the St. Bernard. with head-
quarters and club-house on Lake Saccommie. ’[‘his lake lies twelve miles back
from St. Paulin, on the Great Northern Railway. General W. W. Henry, United

to be found

A Corner of Lac-i-la-Péche,



102 FISHING AND SHOOTING

States Consul at Quebec, is
president, and the club has a
membership of fifty, controls
fishing rights in twenty lakes,
and has a hunting lease cover-
ing one hundred square miles.
If big fish be an object,
Lake Maskinongé should be
visited, as the fish of that name
are large and plentiful in the
lake, some having been caught
weighing sixty-five pounds,
and they generally average
from fifteen to thirty pounds.
On the shores of the lake lies
“ Bonhomme " Mugwando, a typical Indian guide. the \'illilge of St. Gabriel de
Brandon, which contains two hotels, and within a radius of ten miles there are a
number of smaller lakes and trout-streams that afford excellent fishing. Beyvond,
lie the famous Mastigouche lakes, fifty in number, the majority of which are
leased to the Mastigouche Fishing Club. 'The club-house is situated on Lake
Siméon (reached from St. Gabriel de Brandon by a road following the Masti-
gouche river), and throughout the district there are numerous caribou, an
occasional bear, capital partridge and fairly good duck shooting.
From a host of places in near proximity to Montreal the following may be
specially mentioned : the Lac Oureau river. a few miles north of St. Julienne,
which has excellent trout fishing, with woodcock shooting in the fall over the

flat lands ; Rawdon
village, a little north
of Montcalm, around
which are streams and
lakes containing bass,
grey and,red trout in
great numbers; St.
Marguerite, a pretty
village on Lake Mas-
son (St. Margaret’s
or Belisle’s Mills Sta-
tion), where, from
the crest of a nearby
mountain, no fewer
than eighteen lakes
can be seen —all

-
|

o e

« A fine shot and a fine specimen.”
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splendid fishing waters: 16-Island Lake and New Glasgow, referred to under
special heading later ; and, lastly, the shores and waters of the Lidvre river (a
stream discharging into
the Ottawa river at
Buckingham), along
which are to be found
big game, small game,
and fish of every va
riety. Space forbids
mention of others, but
the above will serve as
a fair example of the
choice sporting terri
tory in the immediate
vicinity of Montreal.
As regards the

A Caribou-hunter's * Lean-to,” humim; of big game,

such as moose and caribou, three essentials are necessary—skill, experience and
good guides,—and, if bears be included, good nerves and unflinching determina-
tion. The moose is not now so frequently found within easy reach of settlements,
but large numbers still haunt the beaver-meadows and densely wooded stretches
of lowlands around the more remote lakes. Caribou are strange animals, and,
unlike moose or deer, have no settled habitat, so that, when disturbed by the
scent of man, they will run great distances, never to return. Deer are com-
paratively easy to secure, their runways lying, as a rule, around some brook or
small stream where it empties into a lake. The first successful shot, be it deer,
moose or caribou, will ever be remembered with a feeling of pride, and certainly
no one but a hun-
ter can fathom the
satisfaction and
delight of a supper
of venison served
in a camp in the
wilderness. The
air sharp, crisp,
and full of ozone ;
the camp-fire illu-
minating the sur-
rounding pines;
the pale moon
lighting the hea-
vens and casting a

**To the victors, the spoils.” “Toting ™ the deer to camp,
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silvery lustre on
the lake, but mak-
ing the depth of
the forest moredark
and gloomy in com-
parison ; the weird
unexplainable
sounds coming from
the woods ; the cry

of a loon far out on
| the lake—these are

i ‘ things that contri-

' 3 bute to the perfect

e S ' ' contentment of the

: hunter,as he sits on
a log and munches
a cut of juicy venison broiled over a fire, with an appetite born of a day’s
thorough enjoyment in the surrounding woods or on one of the many lakes.
All non.residents in the Province of Quebec require to have a license to
either hunt or fish, the hunting license costing $25 (residents of Ontario $15) for
the season, and the fishing license being $10 for one month, $15 for two months,
and $20 for three months. Further, there are strict game-laws as to close sea-
sons. and certain other regulations for the proper preservation of game, chief of
which are the prohibition of netting game fish or catching or killing them by
drugs, explosives, etc., or by any other means than hook-and-line ; the protection
of insectivorous and song birds, and the nests and eggs of all birds except birds
of prey ; the prohibi-
tion of night-shoot-
ing, or the netting or

A Fishing Party on Lake Saccommie,

snaring or killing of
game-birds by any
other means than
shooting. The Cus-
toms allow the import-

ation of tourists’ and
sportsmcn's outfits on
making a deposit of
the appraised value,
the deposit being re-
turned if the articles
areexported from Can-
ada within six months.

.
e
®

Maskitsy Fish and Game Club.
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CHAPTER X,
THE ENVIRONS OF MONTREAIL

ONTREAL is credited with being more extensive than it is in
reality, for the outlying parts, that are generally included when
speaking of ‘‘ Montreal,”” are, in many cases, entirely distinct cities

or towns. Taking the various suburbs, in order, from east to west
(with a brief mention of their chief ks of Saieoits wE il
city proper to be surrounded as follows,

On the extreme east is seen the town of Maisonneuve, incorporated in 1883,
and containing a number of large factories and the National Lacrosse and Base
ball Club, also a driving-park. In the north-east is Delorimier municipality,
which extends west to Papineau avenue and north to Céte Visitation road. Then
comes the village of Villeray, which confines the city boundaries to the point
where the town of St. Louis commences. St. Louis was formerly known as St.
fnis du Mile-end, and. incorporated .in 1895, including what is known as the
Montreal Annex. The town is growing very rapidly, having a population now
of eleven thousand. The Shamrock Amateur Athletic Association grounds are
in the town-limits. Next comes Outremont ( Beyond the Mount,”’) which dates
back to 1875. 'This
is almost entirely a re-
sidential suburb, and
contains many very g
pretty houses and an .
old relic in the shape
of the cabin of the
<« Accommotion,’’ the
first steamboat built
on the St. Lawrence
(see page 26), which
was brought here for

The New Outremont Golf Club,
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use as a summer-house. The Outremont Golf Club was organ-

ized in 1902, and their course includes over eighty acres of -.%

)

excellently diversified territory, over which nine holes have
been laid out. Further west are the villages of Notre-Dame-
des-Neiges and Notre-Dame de-Grice, lying at the back of the
mountain: and in close proximity are the two cemeteries—
the Mount Royal for Protestants, and the Cote-des-Neiges |
for Catholics. Both lying in a hollow on the slope of
the mountain, it is difficult to say which is the more
beautiful, although, from point of interest, the Catho-
lic cemetery takes first place by reason of the ‘‘ Way
of the Cross’’ and the  Patriots’’’ monument, the
latter being erected to the memory of the rebels who
fell in the rising of '37. *‘The Way of the Cross'’ is
a winding road, overshadowed by trees, and at regular
intervals are shrines representing scenes o1 the way
to Calvary. 'The road gradually creeps up until the
summit is reached, on which is erected a realistic
representation of the crucifixion. On certain church : e
festivals open-air sermons are preached here, attended e
by fifty thousand to eighty thousand people of the several congregations in the city.
The village contains a hospital for incurables and the celebrated Villa Maria
Convent—the mother-house of the nuns of the Congrégation de Notre-Dame. A
magnificent building erected by them on the south-western slope of the mountain,
overlooking Westmount, was burned down in 1893, and only a portion of the
.astern end now remains. Their present home is ‘“ Monklands,”” a house that
was at one time the residence of the governors-general of Canada, when Montreal
was the seat of
government. It
is now a semin-
ary for girls.
The Park and
Island Railway
tracks run round
the back of the
mountain and
through several
old-fashioned
villages, afford-
ing a most de-
lightful ride.

Mention must
The * Calvary " in the Cote-des-Neiges Cemetery.
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not be forgotten of
“ Lumkins’’—a cele-
brated hostelry for
snowshoe parties in
the winter and bi-
cyclists in the summer.
3 The next bound-
ary of Montreal is
Westmount, a town
given over altogether
to residences, with,
here and there, a few
stores, and a popula-
tion of about ten thou-
sand. Itis becoming
every year more popti-
lar, and deservedly so,
for its avenues and streets
are most charmingly laid out, “ Monklands."

with handsome and picturesque residences. The park has already been described
on page 83, also the Montreal Amateur Athletic Association grounds on page 93.
St. Cunegonde rejoices in the title of ** city,”” and lies to the west of Montreal,
like Westmount, but on a lower level. Its population—about eleven thousand—
are chiefly engaged in, or connected with factories, of which there are a great num
ber. Nearer to theriver is the city of St. Henri—the third largest city in the Pro
vince of Quebec—with a population of twenty-two thousand. ‘T'his was formed by
the amalgamation of the former villages of Tannery West and Cteau St. Augustin,
and is noted for its magnificent city-hall and a remarkably fine parish church.
This completes the confines of Montreal, excepting for the small town of St.
Paul, which lies south
of the Lachine Canal ;
and some of the more

—

distant suburbs can
now be taken.

On the south side
of the St. Lawrence,

directly opposite the
town, lies the town of
St. Lambert (popula-
tion fifteen hundred),
the residents of which

are mostly employed

villa Maria Convent, destroyed by fire in 1893.
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in the city. A crib-work, lately completed by the Government along the river-
bank to protect the town from floods, forms a splendid promenade of over one
thousand feet in length. There is excellent boating on the river, the St. Lambert
Boat Club being one of the best around Montreal. Slocum Lodge, the club and
kennels of the Canadian Hunt Club, is situated on the river-bank, and a very
tasty new club-house is being erected for the Victoria Golf and County Club,
which will have a full eighteen-hole course ready by the autumn.

A few miles further east is the flourishing county town of Longueuil, con-
taining some thirty-five hundred people, and in which a market is held daily.
Ferry-boats run constantly between here and the city, while in winter the ice-
road across the river is the chief highway for market produce coming into Mont-
real from the southern districts. In January, 1880, a railroad was built on the
ice, and trains, consisting of locomotive, tender and two cars carrying two hundred
passengers, ran between Montreal and Longueuil, using this unique track in safety.

West of St. Lambert, and a little below the Lachine Rapids, lies the ancient
parish of Laprairie, dating back to 1668. The village can be reached by boat
from Montreal, and is a very pleasant and healthy summer resort. It has the
honour of being the first place to have railroad service in British North America,
a railroad being built from here to St. Johns in 1836. This was at first worked
by horse-traction, afterwards by steam, but the rails were taken up a few years
later. There is excellent fishing in the vicinity.

Returning now to the Montreal side of the river, mention may be made of
Verdun, with its immense insane asylum for Protestants, which is situated on the
lower road to Lachine, and nearly opposite to Nun's Island or, properly speaking,
St. Paul Island. ‘T‘his island was conceded, in 1664, by de Lauzon (see page 7)
to Jacques LeBer and others, one-third of it passing into the possession of the
Sisters of the Congrégation de Notre-Dame in 1706. In 1764 the whole island
became their property, and the same year they built the nunnery which is
illustrated on page 17.

Beyond Verdun there comes to view the celebrated Lachine Rapids, now
almost as widely known as Niagara Falls. These are the most perilous of all the
St. Lawrence rapids, the river making a drop of forty-five feet, and the channel
being set with jagged rocks that would cause instantaneous destruction to any
craft diverging but a hair-breadth from the one tortuous passage which alone
makes navigation possible, and then only by a thoroughly experienced pilot.
Lachine rapids were navigated by a steamer for the first time on the 1gth August,
1841, and since that date many thousands of people have felt the thrill of what is
a most exciting experience. One or two steamers make the journey every day
whilst navigation is open, trains from Montreal connecting with the boats at
Lachine specially for the trip. Those people who look for a series of theatrical
escapes from a watery grave will be either disappointed or gratified (according to
temperament) by the actual journey down the rapids, as the dangers, although
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real and ever present, do not appear evident to the average passenger, On leaving
Lachine the increased speed is soon noticeable, and a drag on the boat intimates
the force of the waters some little time before the white breakers of the rapids
appear. Gathering speed with every foot of the journey, the vessel at last feels
the full tremendous power of the river, as, surrounded by angry waves on every
side, the noise of which almost drowns the voice, it rushes through what appears
to be a rock-strewn cauldron of boiling water, \\'ickcd-l(mking rocks appear to
bar further passage, only to be left to the right or the left as the boat obeys the
pilot’s guiding-hand, whilst whirlpools and seething eddies, here and there, tell of
the many deep fissures in the river-bed. The downward course is distinctly felt
as the boat descends, the sensation being almost as if the vessel were going down
a flight of steps (as in truth it is), only without any actual bumping or jolting,

Shooting the Lachine Rapids,

No one should rest content with but one experience, as the eye is too busy
noticing the surroundings on the first trip to allow full realization of the relent-
less forces surrounding the boat. The second or third trip will prove far more
exciting, as one is then better able to appreciate the iron nerve and steady hand
of the Indian pilot, which alone saves the vessel and its living freight from
instant destruction.

The town of Lachine lies a few miles above the rapids and nine miles from
Montreal, the first settlement dating back to 1666, in which year Sieur de
LaSalle acquired a tract of land from the Seminary and built thereon a stone
house, the ruins of which can still be seen on the lower Lachine road, although
slowly crumbling away. LaSalle left his seigniory to explore the far West,
believing the way to China lay by way of the St. Lawrence (hence the name



110 THE ENVIRONS OF MONTREAL

3 la Chine’). After founding the present city of
Kingston (then known as Fort Frontenac), navigating
Lake Ontario, building Fort Niagara, discovering the
Mississippi and tracing it into the Gulf of Mexico, he
was murdered by his own followers in the wilds of

Louisiana in 1687. On LaSalle abandoning the settle-
ment, it again came into the possession of the Semin-
ary, and gradually developed into a peaceful and
contented little village, all unconscious of the terrible
doom that was about to overtake it.
On the evening of the 4th of August,
1689, night fell on a happy, thriving
village. Next morning—black
ruins, smouldering homesteads, mu-
tilated and charred corpses; and, for
the survivors, the memory of the

01d Windmill on
Lower Lachine Road.

most hellish and indescribable cruel-
ties. T'he Iroquois, out of revenge
for breach of faith on the part of
the French on two or three occa-
sions, and smarting also under the
well-merited chastisement of the
Senecas by de Denonville, had sur-
" rounded the village, under cover of
R & a dark, stormy night, ruthlessly
massacred the inhabitants, and laid waste the land to the very gates of Montreal.
Near the LaSalle homestead is an old windmill, well over two hundred years
old, erected by a Scotchman named Fleming, who had to fight a long action with
the Sulpicians, they having
claimed the exclusive right of
grinding corn on the island of
Montreal. The Privy Council
finally decided that the air of
heaven being free, noone could
be restricted from using it.
The present town has a
population of about six thou-
sand, and is a popular residen-
tial suburb for many Montreal-
ers during the summer months.
Its regattas are among the best
on Lake St. Louis, and the

Some very ancient Caughnawagans.
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Lachine Boating Club is far-famed. Several large industries are located in or near
the town, and there is a big Roman Catholic church, and a fine convent in the
charge of the reverend sisters of St. Anne. St. Stephen’s Church, situated close
to the convent, is associated with much interesting history, although the building
itself is not very ancient. It was built about 1834, during the days when Lachin
was a military outpost, and was at first a military chapel, pure and simple ; but
when the present Archbishop Bond of Montreal took charge of the parish, after
his ordination, it became attached to the Church as a mission station, finally
becoming a part of the diocese when Bishop Oxenden was bishop

S T e

e L SRR I
St. Stephen’s Church, Lachine.

The Lachine Canal commences at the town. running direct to Montreal, with
five locks, which overcome a difference in levels of forty-five feet and allows boats
of fourteen feet draught easy passage. . Below the town, and near the foot of the
rapids, is the power-house of the Lachmev Rapids Hydraulic and Land Company,
who develope some twelve thousand electrical horse-power for use in Montreal, etc.

On the opposite side of the river is the Indian village of Caughnawaga, while
beyond Lachine are the numerous summer resorts on the lake-shore, of which
I)(;l’"ﬂl and Dixie have already been mentioned on page 94. ILakeside, Beacons-
field, Pointe Claire, etc., call for no special notice, but St. Anne de Bellevue is
worthy of more than a paragraph and will be described more fully later.




On the
Riviere-des-Prairies
at Cartierville,
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On the northern shore of the island of Montreal, and
nestling on the banks of the Riviére-des-Prairies, is
the little village of Cartierville (named after the dis-
coverer of Canada), which can be reached either by
driving, or by the electric cars of the Park and Island

Railway. Right at the back of the mountain, on
the * Mountain Belt Line,”” is a small station known
as Snowdon Junction, and it is at this point that the
line branches off for St. Laurent and Cartier-
ville. T'he first stop of importance is St.

Laurent, a small town of twelve hun-

dred inhabitants, with an immense
church, convent and college, and a
very pretty little lake and park near
the track. It also contains five hotels
and chicory and tobacco factories. To
1 non-Canadian, it appears astounding

that such small parishes can afford the huge churches that are so in evidence
in many of the country places in the Province of Quebec; but a visit to these
churches at the different services on Sunday morning will generally convince the
stranger that they are none too large for the congregations they have to accom-
modate : the church being the rallying-point for miles of surrounding country.

No one would imagine they were in a British country on glancing round

here, and seeing

church, the college,

ing a flagpost, the
tricolor floats in the
breeze—the symbol
of a nationality
that, although
merged in the ‘‘Ca-
nadian,” still re-
mains French.

On reaching
Cartierville station,
a pathway imme-
diately opposite
leads to the park,
anextremely pretty
enclosure on the
banks of the Ri-
viere -des - Prairies.

the French
the liotels, and from every house boast-

flag everywhere. From the

“ far from the
madding crowd.”’
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Cartierville Park.

Although only lately opened, it is already very popular with holiday folks. and
an excellent restaurant in the grounds supplies refreshments, both solid and
liquid. The park has a number of swings and seats, and offers numerous attrac
tions in the way of recreation, the walks along the river-banks being alone worth
the journey from the city. On the other side of the river is Bord-a-Plouffe,
through which a road leads to St. Eustache (some eight miles north), the scene
of the fight with the rebels of *37 in which Dr. Chenier was killed. The house
in which the Imperial officers were quartered, prior to their crossing the river,
can be seen at the principal corner of the village. A fter exploring the park, the
road should be taken leading to the village, when, on turning to the right, one
again comes to the river at a point where it is spanned by an old wooden bridge.
In the woods to the left are to be found, in the early summer, the most lovely
profusion of wild-flowers on the island, with wild strawberries and raspberries in
abundance ; whilst the lepidoptera enthusiast will find more varieties of butterflies
than he can name. The
Riviére-des-Prairies is known
locally as the ‘‘ Back River,”’
and has many beautiful and
picturesque spots along its
shores. Boating and fishing
are favourite recreations, and
a very pleasant break in a-
week’s hard work in the city
is to be obtained by a ride out
here for a couple of hours’
fishing—uwzde the old man in
the picture. Further up the
river is St. Geneviéve, another
equally pretty place, to which

Lane at Cartierville,
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it is hoped an electric car service will, before long, give easier access. A little
past St. Genevié¢ve commences a chain of magnificent country mansions, which
continue along the north shore of the island right round to St. Anne de Bellevue.
The roads round here are well
shaded with trees, and the
occasional glimpses of the
river, and the old-fashioned
wayside cottages, make a walk
or a drive a very enjoyable
experience ; or, if a cycling
trip be contemplated, a fairly
good run is afforded, the roads
being for the most part well
macadamized. The Park and
Island Railway has now been
incorporated with the Mont-
real Street Railway and the
connecting city service greatly

Peloquin’'s Hotel.
improved. Cars run every twenty minutes during the summer, with extra
accommodation in the evenings and on holidays and Sundays.

Some three or four miles below Cartierville, and on the banks of the same
river, is the village of Sault-aux-Récollets. The Park and Island Railway runs a
half-hourly service to and from the city, and the ride is even more picturesque
than the one to Cartierville. After passing the Shamrock Athletic grounds, in
the north-east suburb, the track runs through the weirdest collection of small
houses to be seen on the island. They are apparently built of old biscuit-tins and
bits of scrap-metal, some being covered with tarred felt studded with big nails,
whilst others are patched with
a dozen different sorts of tin.
The line runs for a little way
through flat bush-land, cov-
ered with small shrubs, and
then descends a long gradual
slope towards Ahuntsic, bet-
ter known as Peloquin’s. A
very lovely view is to be ob-
tained from the top of this
slope ; the fertile meadow-
lands, dotted, here and there,
with clusters of trees, with
the glitter of the river in the , -
backgrotmd. being extremely shrine on Rivie.re-des-Prairies Road.
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characteristic of the island of Montreal, and forming a scene of picturesque
cultivation such as is not often seen. At Ahuntsic, the track turns at right angles
-~ to continue to Sault-aux-Récollets, which is
about another half-mile further on. This is a
most delightful little village, and the most
typically French-Canadian on the island :

the diminutive houses, the old-fashioned
\ gardens, and the quaint open-air ovens,
all combining to produce the impres
sion of their belonging to some byegone
days. A very fine convent, surrounded
by extensive grounds, is situated on the
/ banks of the river, and belongs to the
Sisters of the Order of the Sacred Heart,
one of the leading educational institutions
for girls in Canada. Not only from Canada,
however, are its pupils recruited, but from all
over the States, as the healthy and picturesque
situation, together with the excellence of the
teaching, makes it the most popular of all the nunnery schools, The academy,
here, has one hundred and fifteen young lady pupils, and there is a separate free
day-school, which has three French and two English courses of study, with ninety
pu-pils: whilst in Montreal the order (which was established in Canada in 1842)
has two establishments (one a poor school), with two hundred and sixty-six
children in attendance. Their chief building is on St. Alexander street.
A very large church, built in 1851, stands near the car track, and bears a
strong resemblance to the celebrated St. Anne de Beaupré, near Quebec. The

A Glimpse of the Riviére-des-Prairies

A Typical
Street in

Sault-aux-
Récollets,

0



116 THE ENVIRONS OF MONTREAL

illustration shows one of the wayside shrines so numerous in the country parts of
Quebec Province. This particular shrine (which has a figure of the Virgin in
the turret on the roof) is placed on the road-side between Sault-aux-Récollets
~and Peloquin’s. Peloquin is a name very well known

“\\ to Montrealers, the hotel being one of the most

% popular outside of Montreal, and a favourite

resort for bicycle clubs, driving parties, the
Montreal Tandem Club, and the Montreal
Hunt Club. By crossing the bridge over the
river near the hotel, the river-side road can
be taken to St. Vincent de Paul, the great
penal establishment of the Province ; or, by
striking across the island (Ile Jésus, not Mont-
real Island), St. Rose can be reached, a very
charming place on Jesus river, where many Mont-
real citizens reside during the summer. Either of
: these two places are worthy of a visit, and are well
Saultaux-Récollets Church.  within a two-hour’s walk of Peloquin’s. About half-
way between here and Cartierville lies the pretty village of Bordeaux, situated
on a high plateau overlooking the river. By reason of its charming scenery and
well laid-out streets and avenues, this village has become a favourite summer
resort of Montreal business-men during the last few years, and the Canadian
Pacific Railway, giving a frequent service of trains into Place Viger Station at a
commutation fare of five cents, lends a further inducement to reside here during
the summer months. Kastward of Sault-aux-Récollets, towards Bout de I'Ile,
there are no other villages of importance, and it will be noticed how compara-
tively bare of villages the northern side of the island is.
The early settlements all took place on the i
St. Lawrence side ; the branches of the
Ottawa, flowing round the northern
shores, being too broken up with
rapids to be of any value as an ave-
nue of trade; and it is probable that
Cartierville, Sault-aux-Récollets
and Bordeaux only sprung up
from their being on, or near to,
the main roads leading to the
mainland, this proximity to a
trade-highway bringing certain
means of livelihood, apart from
what was to be made out of
the cultivation of the ground.

by i

The Riviére-des-Prairies at Sault-aux-Récollets.
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Longue Point Launatic Asylum

“To Bour-pE-L'ILE’ BY THE MONTREAL TERMINAL RAILWAY. — From
the inception of the Montreal Terminal Railway, in 1896, the management has
spared neither time nor money in developing the system for the welfare of the
public. How they have succeeded is proven by the thousands of people who
crowd the cars to visit that latest acquisition to the city’s breathing-spaces—Bout-
de-I'Ile Park. The park is, however, but one of a number of interesting places
along the line, and it will be, perhaps, best to describe them in the order they are
reached. 'The Terminal tracks, until quite lately, only ran as far as LaSalle ave-
nue, in Maisonneuve, but they now extend into the heart of the city proper, thus
een all parts of Montreal and the delightful

opening through communication betw
On leaving LaSalle avenue,

country extending for twelve miles east of the city.
a sharp turn in the track presents such a sudden change of scene as to be almost
theatrical. One moment the car is passing along an East-end street, amidst dust,
dirt and grime ; then, instantaneously as it were, it is amongst green fields, with
a fresh, invigorating breeze bringing the scent of wild-flowers to replace the
unsavoury odours just left behind. As the car glides along and Montreal is left
further and further behind, one begins to realize why Montreal Island is called
the ‘* Garden of Eastern Canada.”” 'The farm-lands fairly breathe ‘‘ productive-
ness,”’ whilst the appearance of the farm-buildings speak for the prosperity of
their owners. Three miles from Maisonneuve, Longue Pointe is reached (some-
times called Beaurivage Village), where there is situated an immense asylum for

the insane, under the care of the Sisters of the Order of 1’ Asile de la Providence.
A great fire broke out in the

asylum in 1890, by which
many inmates were burned
to death, but it has now
been rebuilt and greatly
\ enlarged. Half a mile
" south of the track lies the

* village, which dates back
to 1722, and here is situated

" ol another asylum, which takesin
Pointe-aux-Trembles Village.
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well-to-do patients who can afford to pay for the

treatment and care given them. The large build

ings passed on the way to the village are the farms
and out-buildings of the asylum. A nunnery is situated
nearer the river., Another few miles brings to view a
large cluster of houses sheltered under a great profusion
of maple, elm and ash trees. This is Pointe-aux
Trembles, a little village lying on the banks of the
St. Lawrence, which ought to be much better known
by Montreal people. It is almost like a toy village,
so diminutive are its houses, with their tiny gar
dens, and so narrow are its quaint little streets, all
trying to hide under and behind the spreading
boughs of the trees. It is far from being a modern
settlement, for the church was built in 1709 (as the
date on the front relates), and the old tower. stand
ing a little to the west, dates back to the founding
of the village in 1674. These old towers. of which
so few now remain, were the grist-mills of the seig-
neurs, to whom the tenants had to bring their corn to be ground, one-fourteenth
being left in payment for the service rendered. Some of them were loopholed for

Old Mill at
Pointe-aux-Trembles,

Yo

defensive purposes against

the Indians, and were the

scenes of many exciting
deeds in the early
days of the colony,

A magnificent

view is to be obtained from
the top of the lighthouse
near the tower, the expanse
and magnitude of the St.
Lawrence river being real-
ized most vividly when seen
from an altitude. A num-
ber of skiffs are to be had,
near the small pier, for

River Scenes at Pointe-aux-Trembles,
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boating on the river ; and a first-rate hotel is situated on the main road to Mont-
real, just outside the village. It is remarkable that more people do not make
their summer home at
such a charming little
place, as the air is de-
lightfully sweet and
fresh, the village both

romantic and pictur
esque, and ‘‘town”’
but thirty minutes dis-
tant. A short distance

east of the village are
Rifle Ranges at Pointe-au: SN the new rifle-ranges,
which have but lately been opened for the practice of good shooting—that primary
and on Saturdays and holidays the great

necessity of the wars of the future,
number of men who face the targets show the appreciation with which:they are
regarded. Another mile, and the line branches in two, the main track continuing

to Bout-de-I'Tle and the branch to Brisset, commonly known as ‘‘ The Chapel.”
Here is built *‘ la Chapelle de la Réparation,”” and in the grounds surrounding it

is the ** Grotto of our Lord's agony.”’ The grotto stands near the beginning of

the Via Doloris, or path along which the Stations of the Cross are ranged. It is

a large mass of cement and stone, fashioned into the form of a natural pile of
rocks, and, within, a life-size plaster figure of Christ kneels in the attitude of
prayer, while a white-robed angel descends in front of Him, carrying the cup in

his hands. Another shrine is placed in a grove nearby, built in a similar way,

but containing a figure of the Virgin. The shrine has only recently been estab-
lished by the Fathers of the Holy Sacrament, but the number of pilgrimages
thereto are already making it, to Montreal, g ¢ 3
what St. Anne-de-Beaupré is to Quebec. An . :
effort should be made to pay a visit on the
occasion of a special pilgrimage, as the reli- \
gious ceremony is impressive from its very
simplicity. The ceremony starts with a pre-
liminary sermon in the chapel, after whiclr
a litany is sung at the grotto, and a short
open-air sermon preached in French and
English. Then the priest begins another %
litany as he leads the way through the '
grotto, his voice growing fainter and
fainter as he recedes in the distance.
From here a tour is made of the
Stations of the Cross, the people
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halting before each station while the priest explains the story represented by the
group, and makes a plain application to everyday life. When his short discourse
is ended, all kneel on the bare ground and chant a brief litany, then rise and pro
ceed to the next station, openly
praying or singing as they go.
After the eleventh station the
procession halts at the foot
of the great Calvary, where
three crosses are reared

Riverside
Scenes at
Rout-de-1'lle
Park

against the sky. Then it
moves on again, the service
finally coming to an end
at the sepulchre, where the
Christ is represented lying
still in death. 'The air of
genuine devotion shown by
the large throngs of people
that take part in the pro-
cession (many of whom are folks whose bent figures and wrinkled faces tell of a
life nearly finished) gives a striking example of the hold the Roman Catholic
religious ceremonies have on the minds of the people.

Continuing by the main line to Bout-de-I'Ile, about half a mile from the
terminus a stop is made at the park, an enclosure of over thirty acres in extent,
bordered by the Riviére-des-Prairies. In this park, which is
absolutely free to the public, are shady grounds f
and open fields, swings, rustic
seats and tables for picnicing
parties, pavilions, and a well-
stocked restaurant,and, in fact,
everything that can make the
place attractive and bright.
Competent guardians are in
attendance and the courteous and 3
careful way in which they handle a
big crowd on holidays is wonderful.

Bout-de-1'Ile Hotel.
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Sr. ANNE DE BELLEVUE.—This picturesque village lies at the extreme
western end of the island of Montreal, and is, without exception, the prettiest
and quaintest bit of the whole island. Itis
one of Montreal’s most popular summer

resorts, and the shores of the river above
the village are dotted with the magnificent
country-houses of the more
wealthy Montreal business-men.
But St. Anne has very much
more than a reputation as a
pleasant summer suburb. Its
position, at the confluence of the
Ottawa and St. Lawrence rivers,
made it the scene of many stir-
ring events in the early days of
the French settlers. Here, the
voyageurs, when leaving for the
| unknown interior, said a long
goodbye to civilization ; here, the
Indian war-parties, travelling from
north and west by the two great
rivers, united their forces before
sweeping down on the white settlers
further east; here, about 1700,
trade was carried on with the
_ friendly Indians, frequently in-
: terrupted by fighting with the
hostile Iroquois. Now, however,
all is peace, the only tangible

General View of St. Anne de Bellevue,
Type of Cottages.

The Main Street,

The Boat for Montreal.

View from Fort Senneville.
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remains of byegone romance being the ruins of old Fort
Senneville and the LeBer windmill. The fortified chiiteau
known as Fort Senneville was built by Jacques LeBer
de Senneville in 1697. It originally consisted of a two
story house, protected by square flanking towers at each
corner, which commanded all approaches both by land and
water. Garrisons of soldiers were kept there in 1747 and
1748, in-consequence of fresh attacks by the Mohawk

tribe. 'The fort was finally dismantled, in 1775, by the

American troops when marching upon Montreal. The

ruins are now well preserved but almost lost to sight

beneath the vines and creepers. On an elevation, a little

further inland, is the old windmill, erected in 1688, by
the same man. It was loopholed, and bore several fierce
Indian attacks in safety, until 1691, when the Iroquois burned
it. after a gallant defence by LeBer's people, who defended a breach in the
wall against three hundred Iroquois, losing only two of their number whilst so
doing. A new top has lately been added, and the whole is in excellent preservation.
The village itself consists of one long main street, containing many picturesque
old houses. Other streets lead off in all directions, mostly crooked, and queer-
roofed, one-storied cottages are everywhere in evidence. Here is to be seen the
house in which Tom Moore, the great Irish poet, resided in 1803, and in which he

LeBer's Mill.

wrote the ‘‘ Canadian Boat Song.”” There are some capital hotels, and, as
regards boating, words can hardly tell of the many exquisite dream-spots to be
found amongst the islands of Lake St. Louis and the -

Lake of Two Mountains. The fishing is exceptionally
good, black-bass, perch and doré N ¥

being the most plentiful, whilst %
the maskinongé grounds, that
lie seven miles below St.
Anne, are amongst the best
in Canada. Guides and boats
can be had for two dollars a '
day and sailing-boats at a '
nominal charge. The Ottawa =
river boat stops here on its
way to Carillon (a very en-
joyable day’s trip), and again
on its return journey to
Montreal, the latter being a most
agreeable way to return to the city,’

¥ . 3] 1 1 7 3
“‘shooting Lachine RaPIdS en route. Ruins of Fort Senneville.
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JIT. AGATHE-DES-MONTS is reached by a short and pleasant ride from
Montreal on the Labelle branch of the Canadian Pacific Railway.
It is a steep climb from the city, the railway from St. Jérome run
ning up the valley of the Riviére-du-Nord (North River). and
following the twists and turns of that stream for the greater part of
the way. High hills rise up on every side, presenting what are. apparently,
impenetrable barriers, but which, on closer approach, give access to still higher
ground through the passes and defiles in the mountains. Below the track runs
the rapid-flowing river, and sylvan lakes are skirted, that mark the first links in
the chain upon chain of lakes that extend to the far north. Just beyond St.
Agathe, the summit of the range is reached—fourteen hundred feet above the
sea—and then there is a gradual descent on the other side of the mountains to
Labelle, the northern terminus

one hundred and one miles
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from the starting point. Near where
the Laurentians reachtheir greatest
altitude is the pleasant village of St.
Agathe-des-Monts, the great resort

of Montreal people during the summer.
Being but sixty-four miles from the
city, with special morning and evening
trains timed so as to allow a full day >
in Montreal, it attracts a large
number of business men to

: . ¢
reside here in the summer
2

months, who travel o
backwards and
forwards every

day to the
: Scenes around the Lake

city. 'The village is
a picturesque little
place, although its
antiquated appear-

>,
I

ance has been much
e 4 modernized during
W 5 the last few years by the building of
many handsome residences. It is situated
e on a sandy elevation at one end of the lake,
and is lighted by electricity, while there are several
good hotels, boarding-houses and stores; also two churches
(Catholic and Protestant). The principal hotel is charmingly
situated on an island near the shore, with which it is connected by a bridge.
Lac-des-Sables, on the sloping shores of which lies the village, is a lovely
sheet of water, and one very much more extensive than it appears, as the bends in

._

4

B o e . i

the shore divide the [%= A
lake into three ; %
parts, only one of
which can be seen
from any particular
point. The full-
page illustration
shows the appear-
ance of the lake
from **The Point,”’

a narrow peninsula
The Town and Lake.
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dividing the lake into two arms at the village

e s end. During the summer season
; the water is covered with
pleasure crafts of every

description—canoes, sail
boats, punts, launches, etc,
—and presents a scene
animated to a degree:
while plenty of speckled
trout in the lake afford
sport for the angler. A
very charming walk or

drive may be enjoyed by
taking the ‘“T'our-du-Lac"
road, which, as the name
implies, follows the water from end to end, and gives practically a panoramic
view of the entire lake. In no other country-place in the Province of Quebec can
there be found so many beautiful houses as are to be seen nestling on the shores
of Lac-des-Sables or perched on the heights surrounding the lake : those on the
lower level having delightful gardens extending to the water's-edge, with dainty
boat-houses snuggling at their foot. It is no wonder, therefore, that St. Agathe
should be a fashionable summer resort. The roads in the vicinity are good,
enabling visitors to drive through the country and reach nameless lakelets in
which few lines have ever been cast. From St. Agathe it is an attractive seven-
miles drive to St. Lucie, nestling in a valley, around which are clustered twenty
fishing lakes. The village boasts of a good hotel, at which visitors can be sup-
plied with boats, fishing-tackle, vehicles, etc. Iake Manitou is another lovely
spot but a short distance away, on the shores of which is
erected a magnificent hotel known as Manitou Hall,
This locality has all the scenic attractions of St. Agathe,
without, however, quite such a fashionable reputation,
and for that reason is preferred by many people.

The Lake from *

‘The Echoes.”

Lake
Manitou
and
Manitou
Hail,
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summer Residences at St. Agathe :

R. Wilson-Smith, Esq. A. Baumgarten, Esq.
Hon. R. Préfontaine. Hon. G. A. Nantel.
J. B. Sparrow, Esq. W. 8. Brown, Esq.
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SIXTEEN-ISLAND LAKE,
about sixty miles from
Montreal by the Great
Northern Railway of
Canada, is destined to be,
ere a few years elapse,
one of the most popular
places in the vicinity of
Montreal, as it has the
merit of lying in the
healthiest, loveliest and most delightful part of the noble Laurentian range, the
beauties of which have as yet been but faintly realized. Some five years ago a
railway was constructed from a point on the Canadian Pacific eleven miles north
of St. Jérome, to a little town called Arundel, thirty-three miles to the westward,
This road was known as the Montfort and Gatineau Colonization Railway, and
traversed a country very wild and beautiful, running through the southern range
of the Laurentian hills and having a mean altitude of twelve hundred feet above
sea-level. It is now a part of the Great Northern Railway of Canada, connect-
ing at St. Jérome with their main line, also with the branch under construction to
Charlemagne, opposite Bout-de-I'Ile Park. It is indeed a lake district—lakes to
the right, lakes to the left, lakes everywhere : and such charming lakes : dotted
with islands, the shores beautifully wooded, and making such exquisite pictures,
as they nestle in the heart of the hills, that man’s presence seems a rude intru-
sion. One moment the train skirts the shore of a lovely sheet of water, and a
few minutes later the same water is seen lying away below us as the train pur-
sues its way spirally over the hills. As for fish—well ! there is a limit to people’s
credulity, so for particulars read your own diary after a few day’s

work with a rod. At the risk, however, of not being believed, it

must be stated that there were A
landed from a small lake near
Arundel, in three days, ninety-
one, eighty-seven and seventy-
three trout, respectively, and
by one rod only. Itis difficult
to particularize any one spot
amongst so many, but there
has been chosen for illustra-
tion here the Sixteen-Island
Lake, about midway down
the line; a charming and ro-
mantic spot to which no pho-
tograph can do justice. The

A Typical Laurentian Stream.
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lake is five miles long by three miles wide, and contains sixteen islands, hence its
name. On all sides age mountains, some rising seven hundred feet above the level

. of the lake ; and six other lakes are in
close proximity, all of which are well
stocked with grey and red trout,
which can be caught any time
during fishing season with either
fly or bait. Six years ago there
was not one house on the lake.
; o Dr. Stackhouse, of Lachute, was
the first to purchase an island from the Quebec Govern-

Scenes around
Stackhouse
Island.

ment—an ideal spot he has named ‘‘ Idylwylde’’ —

which commands a fine view of the lake. He
has a very pretty cottage, with kitchen, etc.,

separate, boat-houses, and a good supply of

skiffs, fishing-boats, sail-yachts, and a gaso-
lene launch. ‘The doctor is always pleased to
see anybody, and takes pleasure in showing them
around his island. Now, quite a number of Montreal
people have erected cosy little summer-houses on the
islands or on some of the delightful spots along the shore,

but so indented is the
edge of the lake, that
one may be within a
few hundred yards of
two houses and yet not
see a trace of either.
Considering the very
poor railway service
there had been prior to
the taking over of the
road by the Great

Northern, it is remark- 198 “g‘;’i*cf.i?;f,’;":ﬂ1;’,‘,‘3&:{"“’“0“ 2
able how much this lake was appreciated by the
lucky few who had already found out its attrac-
tions : and this should speak well for its future,
now that an excellent service is in operation. There




THE NORTHERN VICINITY OF MONTREAL 131

is no long weary drive to take before the lakes are reached, as they are right
alongside the track, or, at the most, within three miles: and there are so many
of them that the man who prefers solitude need never see a sign of his neighbour.
Further down the line, is Arundel, a small town very picturesquely situated

on the Rouge river. Three miles north of here commences the chain of ** Bark
Lakes’’' (Lacs-aux-Ecorces), famous for the number and size of the trout
in their waters. 'The illustration opposite shows the bridge over the Rouge
River prior to its being swept away by a flood a little time ago.

The other picture shows the Calvary in the grounds

On the
Shores of
Sixteen
Island
Lake
- Y
S <
"‘-’
of the monastery. Four miles before

reaching Arundel, the train skirts a
lovely piece of water known as Round
Lake, a capital spot for a fisherman'’s camp,
as bass, doré and pike are very plentiful in
the lake, a twenty-nine pound pike being
brought to shore here last year. Near
Larose Station, is a most peculiar freak of
nature in the shape of ‘‘ The Lost River.'
a tributary stream of the Rouge River,
which abruptly disapppears under some
ledges of rock and pursues its course under
the ground for quite a considerable dis-
tance, suddenly re-appearing again without
any apparent cause. Another place worthy
of a visit, is Montfort, a little village
sitnated between two lakes (Lake St. Victoire.: and Lak? Notre-Dame), the one on
the higher level discharging into the llower in a ff"dl of over a lm.n(lrcd feet. A
large industrial school is situated here in Charge.ot Roma'n C:ftholxc monks.

The whole of this locality is worthy of special attention from such people as
may be looking for a place in which to build an ideal summ.er home: A more
delightful country would be hard to find, and at the same tlme'one is in touch
with Montreal by telephone and telegraph and under two hours distant by rail.
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NEw Grascow, forty-one miles from Montreal by Great Northern Railway
of Canada, is a little village situated on ecither side of the River I’ Achigan, a small
but wonderfully pretty stream. The village contains only a few hundred inhabit-
ants, mostly Scotch, its name being in this case really appropriate. It is a place
that only requires to be known to be appreciated, having many features that
appeal to the lover of the beautiful. ‘T'he River L’Achigan has its source some
twelve miles to the north, being the

outlet of the lake bearing the same
name. A little above the village it
breaks into a series of rapids, that
terminate in quite a big fall at the
village itself, just belowthe railway
track. 'This fall ‘

is extremely pic-
turesque, espe-
cially in the
spring,and at
mill is one of the
oldest buildings in

the footisa
mill. used for
grinding corn
for the farmers
around. The °

the village,although
first place must be
given to a remark-
able old mud cot-
tage standing on a
bluff just across the
stream. A quaint,
two-storied cottage
built of mud, with
e walls over two feet
. thick, is a some-

Scenes on the I’Achigan River.

what curious archi-

tectural relic in these days of steel frame erec-
tions. 'The village can boast of but one hotel,
but there are several good boarding-houses, all of
o > which are well patronized in the summer by such
people as have already discovered what a pleasant locality New Glasgow is.
A level stretch of the river below the village permits of boating down to St. Lin,
a distance of six miles, and maskinongé, pike, and black bass are to be found in
the water. Every bend of the river unfolds fresh beauties, the walk up to the
sawmill being particularly charming. For the benefit of people purposing to stay
here for a day or two, it should be stated that a few miles to the north are to be
seen two of the loveliest lakes in the district, both abounding in fish. One is Lake
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Comlxelly, six miles away ; the other Lake L'Achigan, five miles further on.
This lake has already gained a reputation for wild beauty, even amongst the
immense number of Laurentian lakes whose charms
defy adequate description. It strikes one as
being very curious to find a little English
settlement like this, with French villages

within three miles, where they cannot
understand a word of any tongue except
their own. The original Scotch settlers
have given the place an identity that
is decidedly refreshing in this Pro
vince ; and it is a positive relief to the
eye not to see the stereotyped church
roof and steeple usually to be found
in nearly all the French villages in this
district. ‘The illustrations opposite give
some glimpses of the L’ Achigan river at
and about the village itself : and it might
be mentioned, incidentally, that all six pic-
tures illustrating this picturesque little place were
Primitive Locomotion. taken in pouring rain, it being the author's misfor

tune to strike two extremely wet days for a trip here. The Great Northern
Railway of Canada crosses the river two or three hundred ¥
station, and a splendid view of the falls is to be had
from the car window. There are a few really
pretentious stores in the village, and some very
pretty summer residences mnestling in the

ards west of the

woods a little above the falls. One delight-
TR’

fully old- ok

fashioned

custom

in vogue here 3
is the use of A
oxen for haul-
ing loads, and
the sight of a
bullock in

harness, in

these days

of automobiles
and beef-trusts,
is truly unique.

Old Mill and
Mud Cottage,

New Glasgow,
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SHAWINIGAN FALLS, the ‘‘ Electric City’’ of Canada, was born three short
years ago, at the foot of the primeval mountain-range of the Laurentians. ‘The
upheaved granite, of which the Laurentians are composed, is the oldest formation
known to geologists, and upon these elemental rocks, hoary with age, a new
town has now sprung into existence, the industries of which are the outcome
of the latest scientific research and ingenuity, and are housed in buildings
containing the most advanced types of machinery yet devised, whose whirling
wheels can be heard, night and day, singing the prophecy of Canada’s future.
in the words of the poet Geethe :

‘1 hear the tread of pioneers
Of nations yet to be,
The first low wash of waves, where soon
Shall roll the human sea.”

The whole area of country now
occupied by the town, the factories,
and the engineering works, was, a
few years ago, covered with a virgin
growth of trees. Since that time an
army of working-men, numbering at

e
Rapids above the Falls,
times over two thousand, have transformed the forest into a prosperous town, the
prosperity being based essentially on the development and use of water-power.
This power is enormous, and is the largest developed in Canada to-day. The
engineers’ reports state that the volume of the falls is, approximately, 350,000
horse-power, but of this the original plans called for a development of 100,000
only, and work has been done on the canals and forebays for 75,000 of this 100,000
horse-power. The main canal, cut in the solid rock, has its lower end closed by
a concrete bulkhead, or dam, through which pass pipes from nine to twelve feet
in diameter, conveying water down a hill-side to the power-house on the lower
level, where the water exerts its pressure on the water-wheels, causing them to
rotate the generators and thereby gather out of space that mysterious, unknown
energy called *‘ electricity.”

Considerable electrical power has been contracted for by three large com-
panies, besides a number of smaller concerns. The Northern Aluminum Com-
pany produces aluminum in ingots, bars, etc., also manufacturing aluminum
cables and wire. The Shawinigan Carbide Company makes calcium carbide, used
in the manufacture of acetylene gas. The cotton-mill will convert the raw
material into all kinds of finished goods. A second hydraulic development is
also completed, and is used for the purpose of delivering power to the Belgo-
Canadian Pulp Company, who are producers of pulp on a large scale, turning
out about seven hundred tons a week. The charm of surprising contrasts is
everywhere in evidence at Shawinigan Falls. On the one hand—the wonderful
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electrical power development, the busy factories, the well-laid-out town, the
electric railway, the fine buildings, the telephone service—all evidence of the very
new : on the other—the gigantic waterfall, the grim, black, everlasting rocks, the
illimitable forest stretching from the borders of the town in an unbroken wilder-
ness to the far-away shores of the Arctic Sea—all undisturbed, even now—the
mute memorials of the world of long ago.

The St. Maurice river, which has its source four hundred miles to the north
of Shawinigan, broadens here into a bay, nearly a mile wide and five miles long,
and the town lies along the shore of this bay, which is dotted with beautifully-
wooded islands. A short distance below the town a large island divides the river

Bird's-eye View of Shawinigan Falls and its Industries.
into two streams, both of which narrow rapidly until the lower end of the island
is reached, when they unite, and the whole volume of the river’s water, accumu-
lated from eighteen thousand square miles of territory, is precipitated over the
rocky declivity in a magnificent fall or cascade one hundred and fifty feet high.

Viewed from either side, the falls present a magnificent spectacle—a lake of
immense proportions, moving forward and always falling, first in a steady, down-
curving flood, then broken into wildly tossing wave-crests, later bursting into
myriads of quickly shifting fountains, and at last taking the awful plunge to the
depth below, where even then it gathers itself for another mighty effort, and
rushes forward in a series of vast, snow-white, foam-crested, mist-veiled billows,
which dash themselves against the dark, grim barriers of Laurentian granite.
These adamantine walls turn aside the tremendous torrent at right angles to its
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former course, and send it smoking, frothing, wildly leaping, but
A conquered, an avalanche of snow-white foam, through the narrow
% o granite aisle of the deep gorge to the broad
- expanse of the lower bay. The

. . old.Indian legend com-
. pares the falls to a fair
flower — ““the White
Rose of the St. Maurice’’
—the later Indian name
‘“ Achau enekame, "’
from which the modern
¢ Shawinigan "’ is derived,
ymeaning ‘‘needle work,”
T owing to the fancied resem-
" blance between the motion
_and colour of this beautiful
Cataract and the glittering
i¥bead and quill-work of the

Indian people. Atnight, when

the eyes are less occupied and
the ears are more attentive than in the day, the appalling roar of the vast mass
of falling waters stuns the senses. The solid rock reels beneath the shock of such
mighty hydraulic hammers, while the flashing flakes of foam and spray float
upward, and seem to blot out the very stars in heaven. When the moon'’s silvery,
uncertain rays stream on the tossing waters, the ‘“White Rose of the St. Maurice'’
presents a vision so exquisite as to be almost ethereal, and admiration is lost in a
feeling akin to reverence.

To avoid the damage that would be occasioned to logs if they were allowed
to go over the falls, a large slanting trough, four hundred and fifty feet long, with
a total drop of one hundred
and forty feet, is used to con-
vey a stream of water from
the upper to the lower levels,
and down this stream the logs
go, singly, in regiments, in
hundreds of thousands, every
season. At the foot of the
slide there is built a pro-
menade platform, provided
with seats, and commanding
a view of the entire gorge,
where one can sit watching

“The wildly tossing wave crests.”

In the Gorge.
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the continuous stream of logs dashing down the steep incline (almost too quickly
for the eye to follow) and diving into the deep waters of the gorge.

T'wo falls of less size, but of hardly less beauty than Shawinigan Falls, may
be reached from the town, the one after a ten-minute’s walk, the other after half-
an-hour’s walk through leafy lanes or across grassy fields. The first—the
Cascades of the Shawinigan river—is a veritable scenic gem, a silver white ribbon
streaming downward over a rocky cliff, one hundred and seventy-nine feet high,
guarded on both sides by sentinel lines of stately pines and modest cedars. The
second—Drew’s Falls—is almost as beautiful, the down-coursing water pouring
over stony ledges forty feet high, drenching the high banks with foam, and
giving forth a roar that is echoed and re-echoed from the lonely granite cliffs
that wall in the stream. It would, indeed, be difficult to find any other place in
e S — the world where three such

i ) grand waterfalls may be
seen in such close prox-
imity to the conveniences
of a first-rate town and
hotels. Opportunities for
recreation are numerous : a
steamer makes regular and
excursion trips daily; canoe-
ing and boating is very good
on the quiet waters of the
upper bay; and there is
splendid bathing on the
long stretches of sandy
beach, the outlying sand-
bars making it perfectly
safe. Good fishing is obtainable in many of the near-by streams; and tennis
and croquet grounds, are within easy reach of the leading hotel and the town.

The Cascade Inn is one of the prettiest hotels in Canada, as the illustration
will prove, and in every way forms a striking contrast to the average hotel out-
side the large cities. It is situated on the highest hill in the town, at a distance
of but five hundred feet from the railway station, and is surrounded by an ample
piece of level ground. From its wide piazzas, there is a magnificent view of
hills, forest and river, the clear waters of the St. Maurice (the shores of the bay
being within a few minute’s walk) forming the immediate foreground ; whilst
further back, on every side, are the beautifully-wooded hills, with their restful
and yet exhilarating charm —so peculiarly characteristic of the Laurentian
district. 'T‘he interior of the hotel is very artistically decorated, and furnished
almost extravagantly ; and it is safe to say, that if Montrealers but realized the
attractions of the surroundings, not one of its fifty rooms would ever be vacant.

v m——
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THE SOUTHERN VICINITY OF MONTREAL

ELEIL AND ST. HILAIRE are twenty-two and twenty-five miles,
respectively, from Montreal, per Grand Trunk Railway, both nest
ling at the foot of the mountain of the same name, which can be
seen from the higher parts of Montreal on any clear day. This
mountain is one of several peaks rising up from the plains in the

south, the nearest being Mount St. Bruno, whilst the next, and by far the most

prominent of them all, is Belceil.

The two villages lie on opposite sides of the Richelieu River, and a stop may
be made either at Belceil station, on the north side of the river, or St Hilaire
on the south. The name of the mountain varies according to the side of the
river one is on : the Belceil people always calling it Beleil, whilst the St. Hilaire
folks insist that Mont
St. Hilaire is itscorrect
designation. Leaving
the train at Belceil
station, a very pleas-
antly situated hotel is
to be noticed a few
vards away, although
';he village itself
stretches away down
the river bank for a
considerable distance.
There are several
pretty summer resi-
dences along the river-
side road, and the
village is connected

Mount Belceil.
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View from the Summit of Belceil.

with St. Hilaire by two old-fashioned ferries. Crossing the river, there is passed
on the way to St. Hilaire station the magnificent chateau of Colin Campbell, Esq.,
seigneur of St. Hilaire, which is beautifully situated on the bank of the river,
with its frontage facing the huge mass of tree-girt rock that rises 1,400 feet
almost within a stone's throw.

Crossing the track, a drive of a mile or two brings to view the village of
St. Hilaire proper, which lies considerably above the river and somewhat towards
the back of the mountain. There is a hotel and a number of boarding-houses,
all of which are well patronized in the summer. The ascent of the mountain is a
most enjoyable experience, and one that can be had by
capable of a fairly stiff climb. A very
good pathway leads up to the summit,
and, with the exception of one or
two rather rough places, there
are no difficulties at all.
Starting from the hotel
in the village,the
road must be

anyone who is

Bellevue Hotel.

The Mountain Summit.
Bridge over the Richelieu.
Along the River Bank.
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taken that runs up hill to the left, and followed
until a mill shows on the right. Then bear to
the left, and a little further on is a gateway
leading to the lake and summit. This lake
is supposed to have been the old crater in the ¢
days when Beleeil was an active volcano.

A refreshment house is open on the shore
of the lake in summer, and boats are handy for
a row. Lying as it does, in the very hea;'t of
the mountain, the absolute silence of the
surroundings is remarkable and gives one
a most peculiar sense of being out of place
in such a tranquil spot. ILeaving the lake
on the right, preparation must
be made for a long steady pull

The Lake
in the
Heart
of the
Mountain.

up-hill. Care should be taken not ".
to wander from the path, as the bush is
pretty thick all around and it is a rather
awkward place in which to get lost.
Towards the top, the path becomes con-
siderably steeper and is somewhat rough in
places ; but all trouble is at an end when
an opening in the trees suddenly reveals a
large cluster of rocks. This is the summit,
and the climb is well repaid by the marvel-
lous view to be seen on every side. There
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lies the lake nestling in the heart of the mountain. There a spur of the mountain,
covered with trees, rises up from the plain below —a sheer precipice of over one
thousand feet. Looking to the
north, Mount Royal can be
seen rearing its head above
the smoke and haze that
tells of the toiling thousands
in Montreal. The noble
St. Lawrence is traced from
Lake St. Francis to Lake
St. Peter. The glitter of
Lake Champlain shows to the
south, with Rougemont and
Mount Johnson appearing as mere
mounds a mile or two away; whilst the
background is formed of the mountains of New Hampshire and Vermont in one
direction, and the Laurentian hills in the other. Directly below us, are villages
and farms—just specks of white—with the Richelieu river appearing as a thin
thread for miles and miles. Surely this were worth an hour’s climb! There is
but one defect in an otherwise perfect scene, and that is the hideous scar on the
rock on which we stand and which spells the name of a vain-glorious French
newspaper. Vain-glorious is used advisedly, for in several other places besides
here where some particularly magnificent view is
to be obtained, that same paper is evidently of
the opinion that its own name is
necessary to complete the
effect | People desirous of
making a stay in this local-
ity, will find accommoda-
tion in the village, either at
the hotel or the boarding-
houses. Several oth-
er enjoy-

able

Seigniory of Colin Campbell, Esq.

The Ferry
across the
Richelieu.
trips can be made around,

such as Rougemont, or St. Bruno
Mountain, whilst the river offers
many attractions in the way of boating.

Belceil
from the
Ferry-boat.
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ST. JOHNS is a county town of considerable
importance, lying on the banks of the Richelieu
River, twenty-seven miles south-east of Montreal
and twenty-one miles north of the
United States frontier. No less
than five railways run through
the town—the Grand Trunk,
the Canadian Pacific, the Rut-
land, the Central Vermont and
the Delaware and Hudson. ’The
population is over five thousand,
and a large number of industries
are located in the town, chief of
which are the Corticelli Silk Com-
pany and fouf or five potteries (the only ones of their kind in the cmmtr_\'. ).
St. Johns’ fight claim to notice dates back to 1748, in which year M. de la Gallis-

‘ sonniere, governor of Canada, caused a fort to be built

on the river bank. A chain of forts had existed for
many years along the banks of the Richelieu.

starting at Sorel and extending up as
far as Lake Champlain. The Cham-

bly fort is referred to a little later,

and half way between there and

St. Johns was another fort, built

near the island of St. Thérése, from which
it took its name. In 1747, this fort was
demolished and the material of which it
B was built was used in the construction
of the fort of St. Jean. There is little
more than the site now left—some grass-
covered mounds in a railed-in enclosure
near the barracks—for in 1776, when

A View of St. Johns in 1800,

the Americans
retired from
Canada,

they destroyed the fort,
which theyhad captured
the previous year aftera

Some Views

along the

forty-five days’ siege. g::k;(;flhc
: T 1 mbly

In 177O’when\/ audreuil Canal, near
was governor, the fort St. Johns.
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was conceded to LeMoyne
de Longueuil and added
considerably to the al-
ready extensive barony
of the Longueuil family.
At the beginning of
the last century, St.
Johns had a ship-building
yard in which vessels were constructed
for the war flotilla that cruised around Lake Champlain. It was also the arsenal;
but its use in both these respects came to an end with the destruction of the
flotilla by the Americans at Plattsburg in 1814. At that time ‘‘ The Fort”’
comprised about twenty houses, the outlying parts being known as the town of
Dorchester and containing some eighty buildings, the whole doing a large trade
in timber. It was the only place of much
consequence on the navigable waters
stretching from Lake Champlain down
to the rapids of St. Thérése, and when
the Chambly Canal was opened in 1843,
giving a clear waterway past both the
St. Thérése and Chambly rapids, its

The 0ld  gjtuation at the head of the canal
Fort at

St. Johns, from Iberville.

‘\r’:;u st. johns, gave it still further importance. In
Club, 1848, it was made a municipality,

q

)
g g ——

The Main Street.

e ————————

finally becoming an incorporated : : wE

e . > . e |
town in 1868. It is now a well laid |

out town, with some first-rate hotels
and stores, large barracks and mili-
tary school, English church
(1813), Catholic church, a

The Barracks.

A ————-
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old
French
House at
Iberville.

Iberville
Church
and :
Bridge.

Glen at Iberville,
convent under the Sisters of the
Congrégation de Notre-Dame, and a
hospital tended by the Grey Nuns,
On the other side of the river,
lies the village of Iberville, an
extremely picturesque little place

shaded with huge trees. The church
ins of
g;gmm. has one of the most remarkable
Iberville.

steeples to be seen in the country,
causing one to wonder whether the

architect was designing a church steeple
or a Chinese pagoda. Following the road down the river, a charming little

wooded glen is passed on the right, and in the fields about half a mile further is
the ruin of an old mill partially destroyed by fire some years ago.

(

The quaintly
designed wooden bridge that spans the
Richelieu between St. Johns and Iber-
ville, was builtin 1825 by the Honorable

guert_Jones, and still remains private
RSSRroperty, a toll being exacted

Fort at St. Valentin,

from every passenger
crossing. The river-
side walks in both : .
directions are pretty and interesting.

Ruins of Old Mill, near St. Théreése,
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CHAMBLY is reached by the Central Vermont Railway, from Bonaventure
Station, being twenty-one miles distant from Montreal. The original settlement
dates back to 1665, it being named after a French officer of that name who

became military seigneur of the district around Fort St. Louis

(as it was then called) on the disbandment
The Shores of of the troops after Tracy’s
the Richelieu ' 1iti yainst the
o 30 expedition against the

Mohawks. Fort St. Louis
was one of a chain of forts
built in order to station a
French force to hold the
> river passage of the Riche-
lieu, as the Mohawks and Oneida Indians
had persistently made savage attacks on the
colony of New France by way of ILake Champlain
and that river, murdering and mutilating, then dis-
appearing like ghosts back to their own settlements.
Two other forts were erected about the same time,
one at Sorel at the mouth of the river, and the other
at St. Thérése, a few miles above Chambly. Many
a war expedition passed through this place during
the incessant wars with the Indians in the seven-
teenth century, and it was a post of considerable
strategical value. The Americans cap-

tured the village in 1775,

and held it for a time.
Later on, it became the
great trade route to Lake
Champlain and the

Chambly Basin,

The Electricity
Transmission
Line to Montreal,

=
Richelieu
River 2 :
and
Power-
House.

New England States, and
in 1831 a canal was cons- 21
tructed to avoid the rapids, running from
the Basin to St. Johns and making the river navigable for its entire length.

A delightful route to Chambly is to take the Richelieu and Ontario Naviga-
tion Company’s boat of the same name from Montreal, down the St. Lawrence to
Sorel, passing Longue-Pointe, Bout-de-1'Ile on the one hand, and Longueuil,
Boucherville and Verchéres on the other, thence up the Richelieu, past farm and

The Highway Bridge.
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manor houses, remains of ancient battlements, and the quaint little villages
with their immense churches, mostly placed so that the churches are opposite

each other all

along the river
banks,

Three dis
tinct villages
now surround
the site of the
original settle
ment by Cham.
bly : Richelieu
on the east side
Chambly Fort, of the r ive r.
Chambly Canton on the west side, and Chambly Basin on the shore below
the rapids. The rapids now no longer exist, as a huge dam is built across
the river, with a wing dam leading the water to a power house built out at right
angles to the course of the stream, in which there is developed some twenty-
three thousand electrical horse-power for transmission to Montreal.

Although the electrical power station is the great modern feature of
Chambly, the visitor will be, probably, more
interested in the ruins of the celebrated old '
fort situated at the foot of the rapids on the &
opposite side of the river to the' power
house. The fort was first erected in 1711
and burnt 1776; but the following year it
was rebuilt and the massive walls an.d
gateway still remain in perfect conf:h-
tion. The interior contains the remains °
of the little chapel and is well worthy &
of a visit. The gateway is particularly
worthy of notice, being covered with
names (carved in the stone) of men who *
have been celebrated in Canadian history. &

The villages of Chambly Canton and 3
Chambly Basin have a number of attract-
jve spots, and there are many ancient '
houses still standing to recall the olden
days of strife and savagery. The barges
continually passing up and down the °
canal, make pretty pictures as they move
slowly through the water, and, with their

The Fort
Gateway,
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huge queer-shaped sails,
are in striking contrast to
the sprightly little yachts
that go skimming over the
broad expanse of the river
below the rapids. All
sorts of boats can be had
for hire, and there is splen-
did bathing from the beach
at the Basin. A fine
bridge connects Chambly
with Richelieu, the latter
place being a long strag-
gling village extending

down past the power sta-
Summer Residence of W. R, Wonham, Esq., at Richelieu. tion. It contains some
very pretty summer cottages and a fine church for such a small place. The
illustration shows the summer residence of W. R. Wonham, 4sq., of Montreal,
an ideal country home with an exquisite view of the river from across a well-
tended garden. A charming walk up the river bank, brings one to the rapids of
St. Thérese, where the Montreal Light, Heat and Power Company are developing
an additional six thousand electrical horse power for transmission to Montreal.

Vet. what a sense of incongruity there is. On one side of the river —
the power house, containing the lat-
est outcome of twentieth century
science in the shape of the huge gen-

erators ; on the opposite side of the
river—the old fort, with its memories
of warfare and heroism, and the ro-
mance of the early colonization when
Frenchman fought Indian for the
possession of the fair country we see
everywhere around us. It makes
one almost wish that places with |
such historical recollections as Cham-
bly, might be for ever preserved from
the relentless march of progress, so
as to serve future generations as
realistic and permanent pictures of
the early history of the country
which is now every year rapidly
losing its old historic landmarks.

River-side Road at Richelieu.
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VAUDREUIL is a straggling village twenty-four miles from Montreal. lying
on the banks of the Ottawa River a mile or two above where it joins the
St. Lawrence. The Grand

Trunk R ailway gives a
The Old Hudson Bay Post.
One of the Charming Islands.
view from the Railway Bridge. 5 .
The 01d Mill.
A Corner of the River,

splendid service of trains
between here and the city,
or the Canadian Pacific
Railway may be taken from
the Windsor Street Depot
The Ottawa River, just before
joining the St. Lawrence, is divided into
two streams by a fair-sized island, known
as Isle Perrot, the eastern shores of which
face St. Anne de Bellevue. Vaudreuil is sit
uated on the west shore of the western branch.
and is in view of some of the loveliest river scen
ery in Canada. The village proper lies about
M. Oonc and a half miles away from the railway,
' but there has sprung up a residential quarter
within a few minutes’ walk of the station that
plainly proves the love for a country home on
" the part of Montreal's citizens. The river is not very
deep, but is of considerable width and dotted with the
most charming islands, whilst its shores are beautifully
wooded. Just outside the station will be noticed one
of the quaint old windmills, so characteristic of the
French settlers, but now so rarely to be foun

early
1 stand-
ing. It dates back to 1787. But a few steps away,
down towards the river, stands a perfect specimen of
an early Hudson Bay trading post. This picturesque old
building is now divided up into summer apartments, but
over two of the doorways, stones have the inscription
“A Dieu la gloive’’ and the dates 1798 and
1805. The original heavy iron shutters
for the windows still remain and bear silent
testimony to the stirring times when the
traders knew not when to expect an attack
by the Indians, and when incessant watch-
fulness was their only safeguard. The
village proper has a delightfully sleepy,
lazy, old-world appearance. A fine stone
house in extensive grounds, at one time
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the old seigneurial chateau, lies a

SOUTHERN VICINITY

OF MONTREAL

little back from the main street. Along

the river, nearer the station, are to be seen the lovely summer residences of

leading Montreal business men.
for illustration the summer houses of Alderman Sadler
and Henry Hamilton, Esq., both fine houses with

avoid the

rapids of the
St. Lawrence
lying between
here and Lake St.
Francis, a distance of
eleven miles, in which
the river drops some
eighty-two feet, in a
series of four rapids.

By crossing the bridge over
the canal and following the road to the left, a mag-
nificent view of the Cascade Rapids is to be had,
the waters of the river being dashed about like an
angry sea. Near the point of land where the two
rivers meet, is the ruin of an old mill, one
of the earliest buildings in the district ;
and the narrow rock cut, used for divert-

ing the water to the mill
wheel, is still to be seen.
Vaudreuil has the
train service to and from
this city, of any summer
resort near Montreal, and
is deservedly growing
more and more popular
every year. There are
plenty of hotels and
boarding houses tosupply

best

There have been chosen

beautiful grounds. ‘The bathing huts erected right
out in the river, are a first-
rate institution, and the
river in summer is gay
with bathers, canoes and
boats of every descrip-
tion. Nor must men-
tion of Pine Island be
omitted, a popular pic-
nic ground.

ing the river down

Follow-

towards its junc-
tion with the St.
Lawrence, the be-
ginning of the Sou-
langes Canal comes
to view. This mag-
nificent engineering
0ld Manor House. work was con-
structed

Types of
Summer

Residences
at Vaudreuil,
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the requirements of visitors, and the Ottawa River has so
many exquisite nooks and corners along its shores that
an entire summer could be well spent in exploring them
Before closing this description, mention must be made of
the splendid duck shooting in the fall. The shores

of the Ottawa, thick with reeds in many places,
are the haunts of wild duck in enormous num

bers, and the busy man who appreciates

half a day’'s shooting can get it here
¥, With a minimum of expense, both as to
P Mill. time and money, the half dozen ** snap
' shots’’ on page 96 showing very realist
ically the enjoyment afforded by this
sport. Doré and maskinongé are to be
found in the river, and fishing generally
is both good and varied,

Vaudreuil is the last summer resort to
be mentioned in this book, although two
pages will be found overleaf on the bus
tling little town of Valleyfield. There is

Cascade Rapids.

Rivulet near Vaudreuil.

necessarily a limit to Sy
everything, and the . ‘ o cm e
few places illustrated , ; _—
in the present and Ve
preceding chapters ' e ap
have been chosen ,1=:.~..‘=,:
more or less at ran- v o
dom from a number -
of places that might
equally well have
peen included. The:se
chosen, however, will
well serve the pur- s
e of demonstrating Montreal’s
advantages as regard§ beafxty of
environments, and will, without
doubt, be of interest to t'he many
Montreal people and their frxenc.ls
who make their homes there in
the summer months,. or pay peri-
odical visits from time to time.
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a VALLEYFIELD lies on the south side of the
View on Canal, g8 St. Lawrence river, some forty-four miles
Valleyfield E - . ¢
J&I from Montreal, and is reached via the Grand
iy

Trunk as far as Coteau, thence by the
Canada Atlantic Railway, the
trains making close connection.

The town was brought very
much to the fore a year
or two ago, owing to the
cotton strike and the sub-
sequent calling out of the
military. A visit now,
however, will only show
prosperity, progress and
contentment, and a glance
round such a bustling lit-
tle city will prove of in-
Market Place. terest. The town is built
on the south-east corner of Lake St.
Francis, just above the point where
the St. Lawrence river narrows before
dropping some eighty-two feet in a
series of four rapids (eleven miles in
length) into Lake St. Louis. From
the corner of this bay, a small stream

Cottages at Valleyfield. had an outlet joining the main river
some miles lower down. ‘T‘his natural formation drew attention to the possi-
bilities of developing a large water power by means of the different levels of
the St. Lawrence, and the Montreal Cotton Company came along to use it. One

General View of Valleyfield.
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4

of the finest cotton mills on the continent is now in
operation and employs over 4,500 hands. The chief
mill is built of rough grey stone with massive, castellated
towers that remind one of some old Scotch baronial
castle. It isof immense proportions and a striking

Valleyfield's
Three

Churches

example of what art-
istic architecture can
do for even a cotton
mill. The town con
tains over 13,000 peo
ple (more than half of
whom are French), and is decidedly a rising place. The Beauharnois canal
(cut to avoid the rapids) runs from here to the village of the same name
eleven miles down, but most of the boats now use the Soulanges canal cut on
the north side of the St. Lawrence. A very pleasant drive or walk brings one to
the first rapids, known as Coteau Rapids, which are very swift, and were the
scene in 1759 of
the loss of a de-
tachment of
men during
General Am-
herst’s advance
on Montreal.
Below these are
the Cedar Rap-
ids, the Split
Rock Rapids
and the Cascade
Rapids, in order
mentioned. A |
splendid bridge ¢
(Oﬂe and a half 4
miles long) con-
nects Valleyfield
with Coteau Land-
ing, and, taking everything, Valley-
field is certainly a first-rate town.

)

N o M —_——
sreduing o’

AN

Cotton Mills.
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Amidst the
Laurentians |

BY THE SAME AUTHOR

A FULL ACCOUNT OF MANY
OF THE MAGNIFICENT DESCRIBING
WATER-FALLS OF THE PRO- MANY
VINCE AND HOW THEY ARE LOVELY

CONVERTED TO MAN'S USE PARTS ; .
OF THE Sample of Illustrations

PROVINCE OF QUEBEC ™= iier

Including

Many New
Fish and Game

Resorts
Around the
St. Maurice

District

120 PAGESeccce
170 PICTURESe«
3 COLOURED eee
PLATES AND MAP

|
0\

emsge
7] “‘

1]
In Cloth, 50c.

rrom N. M. HINSHELWOOD
69 St. Famille St., Montreal

sample of Illustrations
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Good Work for Good People

Belgo-Canadian Pulp Co., Brussels, Belg.

Klack & Clawson, Hamilton, Ohio, U S.A,

Bullock Electric I\j:mufacturmg Com-
pany, Cincinnati, U.S.A. e

Canadian Manufacturers’ Association,
Toronto oy Sy

Canadian Society of Civil Engineers,
Montreal. 2

Dayton Globe Iron Works, Dayton, Ohio,
U.S.A.

Great Northern Ry. of Canada, Quebec.

Montreal Light, Heat and Power Co.,
Montreal :

Montreal Street Railway, Montreal.

pittsburg Reduction Company, Pittsburg,
Pa, US.A. SR

T. Pringle & Son, Hydraulic Engineers,
Montreal

Shawinigan Water and Power Company,
Montreal

Waterous Engine Works, Brantford, Ont.

Westinghouse Electric and Manufactur-
ing Co , Pittsburgh, Pa.

AND MANY

Sample of what may be made of machinery in
OTHERS HAVE a shut-in and badly lighted interior
CALLED UPON .
N. M. Hinshelwood ' THREE FACTORS ARE NECESSARY IN ORDER
TO OBTAIN PERFECT PHOTOGRAPHS .
FOR
P%%LOGRAP"'C . FINE APPARATUS
w seneeeee
During the past two 2. ll\PER]l‘.\LE
years; and in nearly IR S
every case the work 3- “THE KNACK ™
has been of a distinctl Y ———

technical and difficult
nature, where parti-

cularly good results As regard the first, N. M. Hinshelwood has

[l sl RTICULAR the highest grade of both American and

«+sMACHINERY IN PA English Cameras, and eight lenses covering
No Portraiture Work Undertaken A

angles of view from 45 to 170 degree; as

. 4 regards the second, the little view below

was taken by him as a school boy in 1890 ;

and as regards the third, the pictures in this
book will provide the necessary reference,

DO YOU WANT
ANYTHING DONE ?

N. M.  HINSHELWOOD,
69 ST. FAMILLE ST.,

MONTREAL
Telephone, East 338

A Devonshire Village




MADE IN CANADA

Photographs, text and arrangement by N. M. HINSHELWOOD,
69 St. Famille street, Montreal.

Plates for the cover by THE STANDARD PHOTO-ENGRAVING
CoMPANY, 30 St. Helen street, Montreal ; also about two
hundred of the half-tone engravings.

The half-tone engravings on pages 60, 117, 128, and several
others, by DENNISON, photo-engraver, 112 St. Frangois-
Xavier street, Montreal.

Printed by DusparaTs & Co., 16 Coté street, Montreal.
Paper made by RITCHIE & RAMSAY, Toronto.

Manuscript written on an EMPIRE TYPEWRITER, manufactured
by The Williams Manufacturing Company, Montreal.

To such people as suppose that good work cannot emanate
from Canada, the above is instructive.

WP‘
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A PROSPEROUS AND PROGRESSIVE INSTITUTION.

A sketch of Montreal would be incomplete without a passing reference to
the Sun Life Assurance Company of Canada. This Company, whose head-office
buildings are on Notre Dame street, in this city, is purely a Montreal institution,
and one in which the citizens are justly proud. In 1865 the Company was incor-
porated, but did not begin active operations until 1872, and now has agencies in
many parts of the civilized world, doing
a magnificent business. Its growth has
been steady, adding to its strength year
by year until to-day it is, as the Toronto
Globe has recently said, ‘‘one of the
strongest life assurance corporations on
the American continent.”” Although the
Company was popular from the start,
it was perhaps brought more into public
notice by its unconditional form of policy
introduced several years ago ; and in this
connection it is pleasing to state that the
Company lost comparatively nothing by
ite liberality, but did much in making
life assurance popular by clearing its con-
tracts of numerous restrictions. After the
Sun Life of Canada ‘‘blazed the trail’

: Head-office Buildings,
other Canadian companies followed. Sun Life Assurance Company of Canada,

Montreal.

A glance at the record of the Com-
pany for the past ten years shows the marvellous progress that has been made.
In this comparatively short time the income has increased nearly two and-a-half
millions of dollars, the net assets over ten millions, and the life assurances in force
over forty-three millions. The life assurances in force, according to the report
of 1902, were over sixty-seven millions.

Mr. Robertson Macaulay is the president of the Sun Life of Canada and
Mr. T. B. Macaulay, F.I.A., its secretary and actuary. Both have a world-wide
reputation as expert life assurance men.
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Grand Trunk Railway System

“INTERNATIONAL LIMITED"

One of the Fastest Long Distance Trains in the World. Running through the
Largest and most Prosperous Towns and Cities of Canada and the
States of Michigan, Indiana and Illinois.

Solid wide “Vestibule Train with Elegant First Class
Coaches, Pullman Sleeping Cars, Montreal to ( hicago ;
and Grand Trunk Standard Cafe-Parlor Car serving
meals and refreshments a la carte, Montreal to “Detroit,
Niagara Falls and Buffalo « « e« o o« o

e « « The « e o[ The Grand Trunk “International Limited"

is the Popular and RUNS EVERY Day
bt y v . (Bons ) .00 5
Hi ghl ANdS | GrstoubicTack [ xR

Route to the West | PREScorr = [ [ [ | 1119

* BROCKVILLE 113
° * THOUSAND ISLANDS JCT. 12 15 pom
“ KINGSTON . . . , 12 52
Of Ontarlo Road Bed equal to the : ‘.‘;':??':‘}\":.‘i\.r Ll i
Best “ COBOURG . . . . . 244
Excelled by None “ PORTHOPE . ... .. 3 4
O oy RecioN |+ | == [ TONS. 11100 48
RESORT REGI When you travel see that [\r- :T““ \‘*‘;':-‘}?*"l‘f: S R 4
IN' AMERICA « « your Tickets read: via... | « BurFALO = " ° & 2
Ar. WOODSTOUR . s N pom,
hed o AOBDON oy e e s
- Grand  |[¥ iowex™ .
L3 “

WINDSOR (Eastern Time) 10 05

T “ DETROIT (Central Time) 9 30

I‘Ul'lk “ DURAND 1155

Gra ﬂd Tru nk “ LANSING

Railway System Rallway “ CHICAGO . . © . - 7.3

Lake Ontario in view for more than 100

Free descriptive publications, beautifully System miles of the Journey. Fast time. Polite

sy, employees. Grand Scenery and unex.
illustrated, sent on application e « « « celied equipment @« « @« @ « @« o

. E. DAVIS, G. T. BELL,
9‘”.‘},55‘ “:,;l(r‘(;nc:,sx'l;|nagcr, Passenger Traffic Manager, General Passenger and Ticket Agent,
e NTRRAL s MONTREAL. MONTREAL.
GEO. W. VAUX, s o 1 ELLIOTT,
- n >assenger and Ticket Agent, Asst. Gen. Passenger and Ticket Agent,
Asst. Gen. "'\Eﬁ'fcm;o. MONTREAL.
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“Tue SHAWINIGAN FALLS ROUTE”

FISH RIVER

resi SUMMER HOMES G
AND 2 AND
FOWL $ 5.00 MOUNTAIN
WILL PURCHASE A DELIGHTFUL SITE IN THE LAURENTIAN LAKE DISTRICT
LESS THAN 2 HOURS FROM MONTREAL, 1,500 FEET ABOVE THE SEA

THE ONLY LINE REACHING SHAWINIGAN FALLS, 150 FEET HIGH
““MORE PICTURESQUE THAN NIAGARA. "

TIMBER LIMITS ano WATER POWERS
——a FOR SALE en——
SPRUCE, PINE ano HARDWOODS

100,000 H.P. (ELECTRICAL ano WATER)
AT SHAWINIGAN FALLS

IDEAL SITES FOR PULP MILLS

UNEXCELLED EXPORT FACILITIES AT QUEBEC

APPLY TO
J. G. SCOTT, GUY TOMBS,

GENERAL MANAGER GEN. FRT. & PAss. Acent

QUEBEC
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Canada Atlanti
s PARK ROUTE . .
Rallway “:T‘T:‘wzf’;:":" The Canada Atlantic Rail-
way is the most direct route
between all Eastern points j=—
d
The Popular Route Between Maskoka
Parry Sound
OTTAWA AND MONTREAL |  Georgion Bay
and the
Great Lakes
MODERN EQUIPMENT AND and is the only line running
ELEGANT PARLOR CARS through The Algonquin
ON ALL TRAINS . . . . . National Park, a great game
preserve, fisherman's para-
20 dise, and natural sanitarium
WRITE FOR DESCRIPTIVE BOOKLET
"“"RECREATION IN LAKELAND." h
C. J. SMITH, W. P. HINTON, J. E. WALSH,
Gen’'l Traffic Manager. Gen'l Passenger Agent. Asst. Gen'l Passenger Agent-

THE OTTAWA RIVER NAVIGATION COMPANY

Leave Montreal S.oo
a.m. train to Lachine,
Leave Ottawa 7.30a.m.

Royal Mail Line
Steamers

Daily, Sunday
excepted, between

MONTREAL
AND OTTAWA

Most beautiful
and picturesque
river scenery in
Canada .

STEAMERS SHOOT

THE
LACHINE
RAPIDS
The Ottawa River is the old highway to the‘;‘,reat .\};esl of the R. W. SHEPHERD,
early Explorers, Fur Traders, etc. Indian Villages, 2 § o
Churches, Monasteries, and ruins of old Wind- t\lanagmg Director
mills and Forts of the French regime. Ottawa River Nav. Co., - Montreal

Send for SNAP-SHOTS GUIDE, address, Head Office, 165 COMIMON ST.
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Richelien and Outarin ?h"
- - the
Natrigation Company
AMERICA’S INCOMPARABLE SCENIC AND PLEASURE ROUTE ®

SUMMER HOTELS
L

THE MANOIR RICHELIEU

MURRAY BAY, QUE.

THE TADOUSACesccece

TADOUSAC, QUE:

Owned and operate(_l by the
company, and charmingly sit-
uated on the Banks of the St.
Lawrence . A

QUEBEC (America's Gibraltar),

[River (the scenery of this remarkable river is unequalled for wild gra

FOR FURTHER PARTICULARS, APPLY TO

H. FOSTER CHAFFEE, W.P.A,,
2 King St. E , Toronto, Can.

Or to THOS. HENRY, Traffic Manager, Montreal, Can.

i 1. LR X
fE Sy n FRRTTTHTTT U B

Rochester, Kingston,
Clayton ¢

Intermediate Ports

MAGNIFICENT, PALATIAL
STEEL STEAMERS
LEAVE TORONTO FOR

Embracing a delightful sail across Lake Ontario.
a trip through the fascinating scenery of the
Thousand Islands (the Venice of America), and the
exciting descent of all the marvellous rapids to

MONTREAL (the Metropolis of Canada)

Where connection is made for cool and refresh.
ing night ride to the famous old walled city of
Thence on to Murray Bay, Tadousac and

Points on the World’s renowned Saguenay

ndeur and variety).

JOS. F. DOLAN, C.P.A.,

128 St. James St., Montreal, Can.

L. H. MYRAND,

Dalhousie Street, Quebec
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BANK OF MONTREAL

(ESTABLISHED 1817)
INCORPORATED BY ACT OF PARLIAMENT

CAPITAL (AL raiD.ur), - - - - $12,000,000
RESERVED FUND, - - - - - 8,400,000
UNDIVIDED PROFITS, - - - - 35,698

HEAD OFFICE, - - MONTREAL

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

RT, HON, LORD STRATHCONA AND MOUNT ROYAIL, G.C.M.G., HON. G. A, DRUMMOND,
President. Vice-President.
A.T. PATERSON, Esq. E. B. GREENSHIELDS, Esq. SIR WILLIAM C, MACDONALD
R. B, ANGUS, Esq. A. F.GAULT, Esq. JAMES ROSS, EsqQ. R. G. REID, Esq,

E 8. CLousToN, General Manager.

A. MACNIDER, Chief Inspector and Super m{rud(nll)/ Branches.
W. 8. Crousron, /nspector of Branch Returns, . TAYLOR, Assistant Inspector,
JAMES AIRD, Stcrrlur_t

BRANCHES:

IN CANADA:
MONTRBAL ;o s o vhus cilsmise o4 H. V. MErEDITH, Manager.
Prov. of Ontario Prov. of Ontario Prov. of Quebec Province of Manitoba
Montreat and Northwest Terr,
Almonte Lindsay Mon \"‘?Cﬂ“ Hod Br Winnipeg, Man.
Belleville London “ Seiénc(nrs‘ St. Br Calgary, Alberta
Brantford Ottawa “ Point St. Charles Lethbridge, Alta.
Brockville Paris Quebec Raymond, Alta.
Chatham Perth Regina, Assiniboia
Collingwood Peterboro Lower Provinces Prov. of British Col,
Cornwall Picton Chatham, N.B. Greenwood
Deseronto Sarnia Fredericton, * Nelson
] 8 f Moncton, = New Den\"cr‘

'('.(:::(‘:i::l‘l““m “tm\‘":):‘,l‘ St. John, g N. Westminister
- S Amherst, N S. Rossland
Guelph Toronto Glace Bay, " Vancouver
Hamilton = Yonge St Br. Halifax, . Vvernon
Kingston Wallaceburg Sydney, e Victoria

IN NEWFOUNDLAND :
St. Joun's, N¥Lp, Bk. of Montreal. Bircuy CovE, Bay of Islands, Bk. of Montreal.

IN GREAT BRITAIN :
LoNpoN, Bank of Montreal, 22 Abchurch Lane, E.C., Alexander Lang, Manager.

IN THE UNITED STATES :
NEw YOrk, R. V. Hebden and J. M. Greata, Agenls, 59 Wall St.
CHicAGo, Bank of Montreal, J. W. de C. O'Grady, Manager

BANKERS IN GREAT BRITAIN :

LoNDON, The Bank of England. |
ot Toad L1VERPOOL, The Bank of Liverpool, Ltd.
The Union Bank of London ScorrLAND, The British Linen Company

" The London & Westminister Bk.
““  The Nat. Provincial Bank of Eng. l Bank, and Branches.

BANKERS IN THE UNITED STATES:

NEW YORK, The National City Bank. BosTON, J. B. Moors & Co.
s The Bk. of New \ork N.B.A. | BUFFALO, The Marine Bk., Buffalo.
s Nat, Bk. of Com. in New York. | SAN Francisco, The First National Bk.

BosTON The Merchants National Bank. s The Anglo-Californian Bk.
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THE MOLSONS BANK

INCORPORATED BY ACT OF PARLIAMENT, 18585

HEAD OFFICE, MONTREAL

CAPITAIL AUTHORISED, k X 5
CAPITAL, PAID-UP, - : : <
RESERVE FUND, - - : 5 3

108§

- $5,000,000,00
- - 2,500,000.00
- 2,250,000.00

Board of Directors

e

WM. MOLSON MACPHERSON

President
S. H. EWING
Vice-President
W. M. RAMSAY
SAMUEL FINLEY
J. P. CLEGHORN
H. MARKLAND MOLSON
Lieut.-Col. F. C. HENSHAW

JAMES ELLIOT

General Manager

A. D. Durnford
Chief Inspectorand Supt. of Branches

W. H. Draper

Inspector

H. Lockwood, W. W. L. Chipman

Asst, Inspectors

BRANCHES IN CANADA :

ALBERTA ONTARIO—Cont. ONTARIO—Cont. QUEBEC
r CHESTERVILLE OTTAWA ACTON
CALGARY COLUMBIA CLINTON OWEN SOUND ARTHABASKAVILLE
BRITISH EXETER PORT ARIHUR CHICOUTIMI
REVELSTOKE HAMILTON RIDGETOWN FRASERVILLE
VANCOUVER HENSALL SIMCOE KNOWLTON
MANITOBA HIGHGATE SMITHS FALLS MONTREAL-~
A IROQUOIS ST. THOMAS St. James St
WINNIPEG KINGSVILLE TORONTO Market & Harbour Ry
ONTARIO ILONDON TORONTO JUNCTION

St. Catherine St By
QUEREC
SOREL
VICTORIAVILLE

AGENTS IN ALL PARTS OF THE WORLD
Collections made in all parts of the Dominion and returns promptly remitted a
E

3 1 1 L t lowest rates of
xchange. Commercial Letters'of Credit and Travellers’ Circular Letters issued,
available in all parts of the World.

INSTON MEAFORD TRENTON
“{-}}x?}?go MORRISBURG WA TERLOO
BROCKVILLE NORWICH WOODSTOCK
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THE CANADIAN BANK OF COMMERGE

Head Office,

PAID-UP CAPITAL, . . . $8,000,000

- Toronto.

—_—

REST, ......... $2500000

Directors :

Hon. Geo. A. Cox, President.
Jas. CrATHERN, Eso,

A. Kingman, Eso.

B, E. WALKER, General Manager.

W. B. Hamivron, Eso.
Joun Hoskin, Esq., K.C., LL.D.

Hon, L. Mewvin Jones.

Rosert KiLcour, Esg., Vice President,

Marriuew Leocar, Eso,

J. W. Fraveiie, Eso.,

BRANCHES
IN CANADA :

Atlin, B.C. Edmonton, Alta.
Ayr, Ont, Elgin, Man.

Barrie, Ont. Fernie, B.C.
Belleville, Ont. Fort Frances, Ont.
Berlin, Ont. Galt, Ont.
Blenheim, Ont. Gilbert Plains, Man.
Brantford, Ont. Goderich, Ont.

) . Alta, Grandview, Man.
(c::rgn:z Man. Greenwood, B.C.
Cayuga, Ont Guelph, Ont.

Chatham, Ont.
Collingwood, Ont,

Hamilton, Ont,
Innisfail, Alta.

Cranbrook, B.C. Kamioops, B.C.
Dauphin, Man. Ladysmith, B.C.
Dawson, Yukon Ter. London, Ont.
Dresden. Ont. Medicine Hat, Assa.
Dundas, Ont. Montreal, Que.

Dunnville, Ont. Moosomin, Assa.

Nanaimo, B.C
Neepawa, Man,
Nelson, B.C

New Westminster, B.C.

Orangeville, Ont.
Ottawa, Ont,

Paris, Ont

Parkhill, Ont.
Peterboro’, Ont.
Ponoka, Alta

Portage la Prairie, Man
Port Perry, Ont.

St. Catharines, Ont
Sandon, B C.

Samia, Ont

Sault Ste. Marie, Ont
Seaforth, Ont,
Simcoe, Ont.

IN GREAT BRITAIN :

London, 60 Lombard Street. E.C. S. Cameron Alexander,

IN THE UNITED STATES :

New York. San Francisco, Cal.

Portland, Ore.

BANKERS IN GREAT BRITAIN :

The Bank of England.

The Bank of Scotland,

The Union of London and Smiths' Bank, Limited,

—
MONTREAL BRANCH

F. H. MATHEWSON, Manager.

W. C. J. KING, Assistant Manager,

Seattle, Wash.

Freoeric Nicwors, Eso,

ALEXANDER LAIRD, Asst. General Manager,

A. H. Ireland, Chief Inspector and Superintendent of Branches,

Stratford, Ont
Strathroy, Ont

Swan River, Man
Sydney, N.S.

Toronto, Ont. (8 offices)
Toronto Junction, Ont
Treherne, Man
Vancouver, B.C
Victoria, B.C
Walkerton, Ont
Walkerville, Ont
Waterioo, Ont

White Horse, Yukon Ter
Wiarton, Ont

Windsor, Ont.
Winnipeg, Man
Woodstock, Ont

Manager,

Skagway, Alasks

Lioyds Bank, Limited.

A GENERAL BANKING BUSINESS TRANSACTED
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INCORPORATED

The Bank of Toronto

HEAD OFFICE, TORONTO, CANADA

DUNCAN COULSON - - - GENERAL MANAGER
JOSEPH HENDERSON, - ASSISTANT GENERAL MANAGER

EE—- e

CAPITAL, - - - - $2,500,000.00
RESERVE FUND, - - 2,600,000.00
TOTAL ASSETS OVER - - 24,000,000.00

P ———————

(Cor. St. James and McGill $ts.)
MONTR[AL BRANCH THOS.O‘F. HC?\:I‘.es ‘"_ C-l MANAGER

City Branches—Board of Trade Building
Cor. Guy and St. Catherine Streets
St. Etienne Street, Point St. Charles

i
CORRESPONDENTS
London, England, The London City & Midland Bank, Ltd.
New York, National Bank of Commerce.
Boston, National Bank of Commerce.
Chicago, First National Bank.

el APy

THE BANK OFFERS undoubted security to depositors, and
the best facilities for the transaction of GENERAL

BANKING BUSINESS.
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2 HE

FOUR-TRACK

NEWS

AN ILLUSTRATED MAGAZINE
OF TRAVEL AND EDUCATION

MORE THAN 100 PAGES MONTHLY

Its scope and character is indicated by the following
titles of articles that have appeared in recent issues :

Picturesque Venezuela—Illustrated . . .
Haunts of Eben Holden—Illustrated . .

A Journey Among the Stars—Illustrated . . . .

In the Great North Woods—Poem , ., ., .
Beautiful Porto Rico—Illustrated. . . . .

In Rip Van Winkle’s Land—Poem . .
Nature’s Chronometer—Illustrated . e
Van Arsdale, The Platitudinarian—Illustrated.
The Three Oregons—Illustrated . ., . . .

Ancient Prophecies Fulfilled—Illustrated . . . . .

The Stories the Totems Tell—Illustrated, .

A Little Country Cousin—Illustrated . . . . .
The Mazamas—Illustrated . . . . . , . . .
When Mother Goes Away—Poem . . . .

A Little Bit of Holland—Illustrated . . . .
The Romance of Reality—Illustrated. . .
Samoa and Tutuila—Illustrated. .

Niagara in Winter—Illustrated . . . . . . . .
Little Histories—Illustrated
Old Fort Putnam . .

The Confederate White House . ;

The Alamo . .

. . Frederick A. Ober
. . Del, B, Salmon
. Frank W. Mack
. . Eben E. Rexford
. Hezekiah Butterworth
. Minna Irving
. H. M. Albaugh
. Charles Battell Loomis
. Alfred Holman
. George H. Daniels
. Luther H. Holden
. Kathleen L. Greig
. Will G. Steel
. Joe Cone
. Charles B. Wells
. Jane W, Guthrie

e SR, . Michael White
Under Mexican Skies—Illustrated , . . . . . .

Marin B. Fenwick

. Orrin E. Dunlap

. William J. Lampton

Herbert Brooks

. John K, Le Baron

SINGLE COPIES 5 CENTS,
OR 50 CENTS A YEAR

Can be had of newsdealers, or by addressing

GEORGE H. DANIELS, Publisher,
Grand Central Station, New York




ALLIANCE FIRE ASSURANCE COMPANY'S

"IMPERIAL BUILDING,"

PLACE D'ARMES, MONTREAL

HEAD OFFICE, LONDON, ENGLAND.
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1 Wires and Cables lfu

]

OF EVERY DESCRIPTION

FOR

Telephone
Telegraph

AND

Electric
« Power- | «
« | Purposes- | .

* 4 A& A& 4 A w s #
% - % % . %.-. 4 % @& & 4 %

'THE WIRE AND CABLE CO.

MONTREAL
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Royal
Jusurance
Company

MONTREAL

FIRE LIFE

ESTABLISHED 1845

INVESTED FUNDS

$60,000,000

LIFE DEPARTMENT POLICIES WITH MODERN

PRIVILEGES

Loans, CAsH SURRENDER and PAID-UP INSURANCE
VALUES available for amounts written in the Policy,
after payment of Two Years' Premiums.

NON-FORFEITABLE BENEFITS, available after pay-
ment of Two Vears’ Premiums, whereby the Policy
Reserve is applied towards the payment of overdue
premiums. Sl 4

Prorrrs, Divided at Five Year Intervals or Deferred
and Accumulated for longer periods.

NoTe.—This Company has always paid the same rate of
Profits to its Policy Holders.

GEORGE SIMPSON, Manager for Canada. WM. MACKAY, Asst. Manager for Canada.
J. H. LABELLE, 2nd Asst. Manager for Canada. NOEL H. TORROP, Life Superintendent

WRITE FOR RATES
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JOSEPH FORTIER

MERCANTILE STATIONERY,
OFFICE REQUISITES AND
LEATHER GOODS, IN STOCK
AND MADE TO ORDER

254 St. James St.

MONTREAL

and Blank Book Maker

39 Manufacturing Stationer [ggg

oToToToToToToToTeTeToToToT)

Gold and other Metal Embossing
on Leather, Wood, Silk, Cloth,
Ribbon, Card, Etc. : : : : : :

ADVERTISING
MERCANTILE
SHOW CARDS,
EMBOSSED

IN GOLD OR
SILVER METAL
LEAF,

IN ALL DESIGNS

Railway, Telegraph and Steam-
boat Companies, Insurance
Corporations and Mercantile
Houses Supplied : : : : : : ¢

PRINTING, RULING
BINDING
AND
RELIEF

PRINTING

555

Joseph Fortier

254 ST. JAMES STREET
. MONTREAL . . . .




COMMERCIAIL MONTREAL

ILLUSTRATIONS

IN THIS BOOK
WERE ENGRAVED
BY

THE ‘
STANDARD
PHOTO
ENGRAVING

CO LIMITED
4 30 ST. HELEEN ST.

ILLUSTRATORS
ENGRAVERS
ELECTROTYPERS

BUILDING . .
SUPPLIES .

PORTLAND. .
CEMENT . .

—
DRAIN PIPES

TELEPHONES ! FIRE BRICKS

BELL, MAIN 258 MER. 50

L T A s A B R S S | . i

ALEX. BREMNER

IMPORTER ‘,

PN

50 BLEURY ST. MONTREAL., QUE. %

-

="




MONTREAL
& VICINITY o
oY

NM HinsueLwoon

PRICE

30°¢

FOR SALE HERE,

PETE MURPHY

(Organizer and Hon. President of the Newsboys' Union

Was born in Quebec in 1854, and began an active career as a Montreal new shoy
at the age of six years. When sixteen years old he served as a plumber for
five years, but returned to ‘‘ Literature’ again, in which pursuit he is still
engaged, on the same old stand alongside the Post Office. He has been a
great athlete, and holds many medals for races both on snowshoes and on the
flat, besides having been a prominent member of the Shamrock Lacrosse Club.,

GOD SAVE IRELAND!
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. . Linnsay

SOLE -, 0o, viane
REPRESENTATIVES . .

Limited

DEALERS IN

PIANOS

WA

WE BUY, SELL. ' RENT:
REPAIR, TUNE, STORE,
MOVE OR EXCHANGE

PIANOS
ORGANS

AND ALWAYS AT THE

LOWEST PRICES CON-

SISTENT WITH
FIRST-CLASS WORK AND

SATISFACTORY QUALITY

PAID-UP CAPITAL

$400,000.00

FOR THE
FOLLOWING
WELL-KNOWN
MAKERS

Heintzman & Co.
TORONTO

Karn & Co. 1. . .

WOODSTOCK

Wormwith & Co.

KINGSTON

Chickering & Sons

@@ Howard. . . . .

CINCINNATI

Doherty & Co. .

CLINTON

. MW. Lindsay
Limiten

1622 ST. CATHERINE ST.

QUEBEC BRANCH :
204 ST. JOHN STREET

OTTAWA BRANCH :
141 SPARKS STREET

=

HEAD OFFICE :

2366 St. Catherine St.

MONTREAL
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SADLER AND D(E;ALERS'IN
HAWORTH Mill

Supplies
TANNERS AND

'79 MANUFACTURERS @@@@@@@

a8 OF
., OAK LEATH[R szLLmFGo:GENTs

BELTING THE ORIGINAL

““ GANDY
MONTREAL AND
51l William STITCHED
Street I_AC[ I_[AT“ER COTTON
; DUCK
WATERPROOFED
TORONTO—90 Jordon Street BELT
WINNIPEG, MAN.—237 Main St. VANCOUVER, B.C.—Molson Bank Chambers
A. P. MACDONALD, AGENT FRANK DARLING, AGENT

The Empire Typewriter

’ % twe MR |

TN P EWRT =R

Simple in Construction.
Unexcelled for Manifolding.
Positive Permanent Alignment.
Pronounced by Experts as the
Acme of Perfection.

ONLY
$60.00

Superior to all others.

FOR PARTICULARS, CONDITIONS OF TRIAL, ETc., ADDRESS

THE WILLIAMS M'F'G CO., LIMITED

P.O. BOX 2424, MONTREAL
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RCIAI, MONTREAL

NEXT TO BELL TELEPHON

Up-Town Branch, .

1756 Notre Dame Street, .

R.F.SMITH

Special

Prices on

English and
German

High Grade Lenses,
Etc.

Montreal

E BUILDING

. 148 Peel Street

NEAR WINDSOR HOTEL

Montreal
Photographic
Supply

odaks

DEVELOPING
AND

PRINTING
LANTERN
SLIDES

CEEREEEE

“I'he New Board of Trade Building.

(Courtesy of F. Hyde & Co., who supplied

the cement, etc.)
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_#r*m.: s
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Daving Bricks
Znamelled . .
Bricks. . . ..
Fire Bricks . .
~ire Clay . . .
(ianister

Wheelbarrows
Plaster .. ..
Whiting. . . .
Mortar Color .

CONTRACTORS'

FOUNDERS'’
SUPPLIES

PORTLAND
CEMENTS..

H|
\\H\\

HIGHEST GRADE CANADIAN,
GERMAN, ENGLISH AND BELGIAN

DRAIN PIPES

And Connections of all Kinds

F. HYDE & CO.

31 WELLINGTON STREET, MONTREAL




